

# TCD TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE, DEVELOPMENT AND THE INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

**MARCH 2023** 

# The International Monetary Fund, **Climate Change** and Development A PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT





INTERGOVERNMENTAL GROUP OF TWENTY FOUR









北京大学国家发展研究院 National School of Development



BU Global Development Policy Center

Mongolia. Photo by Usukbayar Gankhuyag via Unsplash.

Cover: Santiago, Chile. Photo by Christopher Quezada via Unsplash.



# Table of Contents

	Acknowledgements	4
	Abbreviations	5
	About the Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund	7
	Meet the Members of The Task Force	8
	Executive Summary	11
1	Introduction	15
2	Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance	27
3	Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges	41
4	The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects	51
5	Assessing IMF Lending Programs for Climate and Development	65
	References	85
	Annex	101

## Acknowledgements

The Task Force extends its thanks to **Shamshad Akhtar, Sanjeev Gupta, Manuela Moschella and Thomas Stubbs** as external reviewers for their thoughtful comments and contribution in improving the quality of the report.

The Task Force on Climate, Development and the IMF and this publication were made possible by the support of the **BULB Foundation**, **Growald Climate Fund**, **Quadrature Climate Fund**, **European Climate Foundation Pool-Fund On International Energy**, **European Climate Foundation International Climate Policy Hub and Rockefeller Brothers Fund**.

Thank you to **Aasheerwad Dwivedi, Régis Gourdel, Honey Karun and Lara Merling** for their excellent contributions to the report.

The Task Force thanks **Njuguna Ndung'u** and **Toby Melissa C. Monsod** for their invaluable contributions to the Task Force as previous members and paper authors.

We also thank all the authors of previous Task Force technical papers for their foundational research, including John Asafu-Adjaye, Noel Pérez Benítez, Carlos Pérez Verdía Canales, Franco Maldonado Carlin, Zhai Fan, Maria Socorro Gochoco-Bautista, Michael Hanni, Miryam Saade Hazin, Mary Anne Majadillas, and Justin M. Muyot.

We extend our thanks to Luma Ramos, Franco Maldonado Carlin, Timon Forster, Aruzhan Nurlankul and Angelica Huerta Ojeda for their technical expertise and research support.

We also extend our thanks to Kevin P. Gallagher, Maureen Heydt, Samantha Igo, Mridhu Khanna, William N. Kring, Lara Merling, Victoria Puyat and Rishikesh Ram Bhandary of the Boston University Global Development Policy Center for their coordination, management and production of this report.

### **Suggested Citation**

Task Force on Climate, Development and the IMF. (2023). (R. R. Bhandary & M. Uy, Eds.) *The International Monetary Fund, Climate Change and Development: A Preliminary Assessment*.

# Abbreviations

BAU	Business as usual
CBAM	Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism
ССРА	Climate Change Policy Assessment
CCRT	Catastrophe Containment and Relief Trust
CGE	Computable general equilibrium
СМАР	Climate Marco-Economic Assessment Program
COP26	26 <sup>th</sup> United Nations Climate Change Conference
COP27	27 <sup>th</sup> United Nations Climate Change Conference
CPAT	Carbon Pricing Assessment Tool
C-PIMA	Climate Public Investment Management Assessment
CSR	Comprehensive Surveillance Review
DIGNAD	Debt Investment Growth and Natural Resources (model)
DRS	Disaster resilience strategy
DSA	Debt sustainability analysis
DSGE	Dynamic stochastic general equilibrium (model)
EBA	External Balance Assessment
ECF	Extended Credit Facility
EDME	Emerging market and developing economy
EFF	Extended Fund Facility
EM-DAT	Emergency Events Database
ESG	Environmental, social and governance
FSAP	Finance Sector Assessment Program
GDP	Gross domestic product
GHG	Greenhouse gas
GIMF	Global Integrated Monetary and Fiscal (model)

GMMET	Global Macroeconomic Model for the Energy Transition
GRA	General Resource Account
G20	Group of 20
G7	Group of Seven
HH	Household
ICPF	International carbon price floor
IDA	International Development Association
IMF	International Monetary Fund
IMF-DSF	International Monetary Fund Debt Sustainability Framework
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
LAC	Latin America and the Caribbean
LIC DSF	Debt Sustainability Framework for Low-Income Countries
LND	Large Natural Disaster Window
MDB	Multilateral development bank
NDC	Nationally determined contribution
NGFS	Network for Greening the Financial System
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PEFA	Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability
PFM	Public financial management
PIMA	Public Investment Management Assessment
PRGT	Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust
RAM	Risk Assessment Matrix
RCF	Rapid Credit Facility
RFI	Rapid Finance Instrument
RSF	Resilience and Sustainability Facility
RST	Resilience and Sustainability Trust
SBA	Stand-by Arrangement
SDGs	UN 2030 Sustainable Development Goals
SDR	Special Drawing Right
SPLAT	Social Protection and Labor Assessment Tool
V20	Vulnerable 20 Group of Finance Ministers
WEO	World Economic Outlook

=

# About the Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund

The Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund is a consortium of experts from around the world utilizing rigorous, empirical research to advance a development-centered approach to climate change at the IMF. The Task Force believes it is imperative that the global community support climate resilience and transitions to a low-carbon economy in a just manner. As the only multilateral, rules-based institution charged with promoting the stability of the international financial and monetary system, the IMF has a vital role to play in supporting a globally coordinated response.

### MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS

- Intergovernmental Group of Twenty-Four (G24)
- Vulnerable Group of Twenty (V20) Ministers of Finance
- African Economic Research Consortium
- Boston University Global Development Policy Center
- Centre for Social and Economic Progress
- Financial Futures Center
- Macro & Green Finance Lab, National School of Development, Peking University
- United Nations Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean



# Meet the Members of The Task Force



**SARA JANE AHMED** serves as a Global Lead and Finance Advisor to the Vulnerable Group of Twenty (V20) Ministers of Finance of the Climate Vulnerable Forum (CVF).



**THÉOPHILE AZOMAHOU** is Professor of Economics and Director of Training at the African Research Economic Consortium.



LAVEESH BHANDARI is a Senior Fellow at Centre for Social and Economic Progress.



**RISHIKESH RAM BHANDARY** is Assistant Director of the Global Economic Governance Initiative at the Boston University Global Development Policy Center.



**AMAR BHATTACHARYA** is a Senior Fellow in the Center for Sustainable Development at the Brookings Institution and a Visiting Professor in Practice at the Grantham Research Institute at the London School of Economics.



**KEVIN P. GALLAGHER** is a Professor of Global Development Policy at the Boston University Pardee School of Global Studies and Director of the Boston University Global Development Policy Center.



**XIAOBEL HE** is Deputy Director of the Macro and Green Finance Lab at the National School of Development, Peking University.



**MA JUN** is Director of the Macro and Green Finance Lab at the National School of Development, Peking University, and the Founder and President of Institute of Finance and Sustainability in Beijing. He is the President of Institute of Finance and Sustainability and Co-Chair of the G20 Sustainable Finance Working Group, and he served as the Chief Economist at the People's Bank of China's Research Bureau.



**RAKESH MOHAN** is President and Distinguished Fellow at Centre for Social and Economic Progress. He served as Executive Director on the Board of the International Monetary Fund. He was Deputy Governor of the Reserve Bank of India between 2002-2009.



**IRENE MONASTEROLO** is a Professor of Climate Finance, EDHEC Business School and EDHEC-Risk Institute, Nice (FR), and visiting research fellow at Boston University.



**ABEBE SHIMELES** is Director of Research at Africa Economic Research Consortium. He worked as the Division Manager of the Macroeconomic Policy, Forecasting and Research Department at African Development Bank.



**DANIEL TITELMAN** is the Director of the Economic Development Division at the United Nations Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean.



**MARILOU UY** is a Non-Resident Senior Fellow at Boston University Global Development Policy Center and served as Director of the Secretariat of the Intergovernmental Group of Twenty-Four on International Monetary Affairs and Development (G-24).

Cape Town, South Africa. Photo by Milani Mbombo via Unsplash.



## **Executive Summary**

Climate change and climate change policies have significant "macro-critical" impacts nationally and across countries. The International Monetary Fund (IMF) has an important role to play in preventing and mitigating those impacts so member states, and in particular developing countries, can mobilize investment for structural transformation towards low-carbon, socially inclusive and resilient growth trajectories. In the past few years, the IMF has made important strides toward filling this role but is falling short of the leadership necessary to accelerate a global and just transition. This report by the Task Force on Climate, Development and the IMF identifies the strengths and shortcomings of the IMF's new approach to climate change from a development perspective and offers concrete proposals for how it can correct course. There is no time to waste as the macroeconomic implications of climate change are causing acute stress amid multiple crises in the world economy.

The United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change has said it is "now or never" to make the investments necessary to limit warming to 1.5 C — without which the world faces catastrophic human, ecological and economic costs. The Independent High-Level Expert Group on Climate Finance estimates that trillions of dollars per year are needed to support emerging market and developing economies deliver on climate change goals and achieve the UN 2030 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). This stepwise mobilization of resources is required for countries to chart growth paths that speed up the low-carbon transition, support adaptation and resilience, address loss and damage, build resilience to climate shocks, and protect and restore natural capital while ensuring a just transition within and across borders. Domestic resources, however, will simply not be sufficient, and international cooperation will be essential to addressing the asymmetry in financial capacity and resources between advanced and developing countries.

The global community is in the middle of one of the warmest decades on historical record, with recent extreme weather events jeopardizing livelihoods and economic prospects in Pakistan, Nigeria, South Africa, small island developing states and numerous other climate-vulnerable countries and populations. Loss and damage from these occurrences have cost the most climate vulnerable economies upwards of 20 percent of gross domestic product (GDP) in this century, yet climate finance and climate ambition continue to be lacking. At the same time, the global economy is under enormous stress due to the "polycrisis" of the COVID-19 pandemic, war, climate shocks, social unrest and its compounded repercussions in the lack of fiscal space, debt distress, higher capital costs, high energy and food prices and slower than expected economic growth. In a very short period, the IMF has admirably come to see climate change and climate change policy as macro-critical, drafted and approved a Climate Change Strategy, began incorporating climate change into bilateral and multilateral surveillance, and established a new lending facility partly dedicated to climate change in the Resilience and Sustainability Facility (RSF). Despite these important steps forward, this preliminary assessment finds that the IMF needs to show more leadership in three key areas:

- Multilateral surveillance activities are adopting a "one-size-fits-all" approach of carbon pricing as a panacea for climate action. Moreover, the IMF expects this carbon pricing-led approach to generate enough revenue to meet a substantial portion of the investment needs, therefore discounting the imperative for massive international and domestic resource mobilization and the need to focus on climate change and climate policy spill-overs across international borders. While regarded as the optimal option in theory, such an approach is too optimistic about the speed and orderliness of the transition and investment responses that carbon pricing will inspire. It also does not adequately reflect the reality of diverse national circumstances, partly a reflection of the narrow set of economic modeling approaches the IMF has deployed to analyze climate change.
- Bilateral surveillance activities underestimate the macroeconomic implications of financing climate transitions in a financially stable manner. Bilateral surveillance continues to press for carbon pricing as the core form of climate policy and as the main revenue source for resource mobilization rather than helping to orient macro-fiscal frameworks towards resource mobilization, investment, structural change and climate resilience.
- The IMF lending toolkit lacks appropriate scale and overemphasizes short-term fiscal consolidation over long-run resource mobilization. While the RSF has the potential to fill a major gap in the global climate finance architecture, it lacks the scale and design features necessary to trigger and sustain development-centered climate transformations. Moreover, the traditional IMF toolkit is developing a one-size-fits-all approach of "green fiscal consolidation" that is inconsistent with sustainable growth. The toolkit is not yet designed to help mitigate the balance of payments impacts of short-term climate shocks, loss and damage, and resilience in a manner that accelerates the intermediate and longer-term development paths necessary.

In October 2021, just following the release of the IMF's official Climate Change Strategy, the Task Force on Climate, Development and the IMF was launched as a consortium of research institutes and experts from around world using rigorous, empirical research to advance a development-centered approach to climate change at the IMF. In its initial strategy report, the Task Force emphasized the role of the IMF in facilitating the investment mobilization needed for new green growth trajectories in a fiscally sound and financially stable manner by integrating climate change across the IMF's three core functions: multilateral surveillance and global leadership, bilateral surveillance and capacity development, and a climate-aligned IMF lending toolkit. The Task Force thus advanced five principles to guide the IMF's efforts: adopt the global role in addressing the macroeconomic implications of climate risk, climate action and asymmetries across countries related to impacts, capacities, needs and ambition; align short-term stability concerns with longer-term sustainable and resilient growth pathways; tailor policy advice to member country contexts and needs; empower national and stakeholder ownership of policy; and reconcile shared climate goals with equity and appropriate burden sharing.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

### **Executive Summary**

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Based on these principles, this new report provides a preliminary assessment of the IMF's initial implementation of its Climate Change Strategy. The end of this executive summary provides a detailed set of policy recommendations that the IMF could implement to correct course on each of its three key activities. Broadly speaking, the IMF will need to do the following:

- Broaden multilateral surveillance activities to strengthen focus on an investment-led approach to a resilient and just transition, cross-border spillovers, loss and damage and the necessary global cooperation on resource mobilization.
- Strengthen bilateral surveillance by deploying better analytical tools to analyze climate risks and their macro-critical impacts as well as the resource mobilization needs of member states, and support capacity building in developing countries to strengthen climate policy analysis and the development of domestic markets for sustainable finance.
- Scale and reform the IMF lending toolkit in line with the Paris Agreement on climate change, including the RSF, to align short-term and longer-run financing horizons without jeopardizing debt sustainability and growth prospects.

### POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

### **Multilateral Surveillance**

- Provide enhanced guidance on how to assess the impact of carbon pricing and non-pricing-based policies and measures that developing countries use to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.
- Expand analytical work on medium- and long-term cross-boundary spillovers arising from climate policies to better understand their impacts given diverse national circumstances.
- Devote more attention to climate-related debt issues and the need to support adaptation, loss and damage and state-contingent instruments to improve debt sustainability.
- Embrace the full implications of a just transition and intensify efforts to catalyze multilateral cooperation to deliver the climate finance needed for mitigation, adaptation, and loss and damage.

### Macro-Financial Aspects

- Build on state-of-the-art existing tools and research approaches to assess climate risks for sovereign fiscal and financial stability.
- Ensure the comparability of climate scenarios for sovereign physical climate risk assessment with supervisory scenarios, such as the Network for Greening the Financial System.
- Better identify and analyze the full spectrum of climate-related risks (acute and chronic physical risks, transition risks and spillovers, and compounding risks) and their transmission channels to the agents and sectors of the economy and finance as well as identify how these risks are amplified.
- Analyze how current limitations, in terms of scenarios, metrics and macroeconomic models affect the outcomes of IMF risk assessment and policy recommendations (including trade-offs on inequality, environmental sustainability and financial stability).

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

### **Executive Summary**

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

 Assess the impact of green financial sector interventions (such as green monetary and prudential policies, public finance and co-finance) and their complementarities with green fiscal policies.

### Fiscal Aspects of Surveillance

- The transition to net-zero will substantially impact fiscal revenues for many countries and will require heavy upfront investments to implement policies to support the low-carbon transition. Macro-fiscal frameworks need to reflect the investments required for adaptation and mitigation as well as the revenue and expenditure impacts of the climate transition. These should recognize countries' diverse characteristics and circumstances.
- Retool debt sustainability analyses to incorporate revenues and expenditures associated with transitioning to a low-carbon, climate-resilient economy alongside climate shocks and spillovers.
- Incorporate investments associated with loss and damage into debt sustainability analyses, fiscal frameworks and programming. Estimates of adaptation and mitigation needs should be mapped out by country.

### IMF Lending Toolkit

- Incorporate the increasing incidence of macro-critical climate shocks and transition spillovers into assessments of the adequacy of IMF resources and increase IMF resources accordingly through quotas and new issuances of Special Drawing Rights.
- Incorporate climate change and natural disaster clauses into all IMF lending instruments and debt restructurings.
- Scale up the Catastrophe Containment and Relief Trust and the RSF, make the RSF more affordable and enshrine member-state driven climate strategies.
- Consider using RSF funding as collateral and credit enhancement for restructured and new bonds to support development and climate change.
- Substitute green fiscal consolidation measures for investment-led growth stimulus programs with green multipliers.

Acknowledgements

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

### **Executive Summary**

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

# **CHAPTER 1** Introduction

### THE MOTIVATION

Climate change requires a transformation of the global economy toward low-carbon, climate-resilient pathways. However, this transformation poses macro-critical challenges for countries around the world. Countries need to accelerate the shift to low-carbon investments, build resilience to intensifying climate impacts and navigate the cross-border impacts of a low-carbon transition. Coordinated and ambitious climate policies are essential to meet global goals. As the International Monetary Fund (IMF) is the global body charged with promoting macroeconomic and financial stability, the macro-criticality of climate change requires the IMF to align short-term macroeconomic stability concerns with long-term sustainable and resilient growth pathways.

The IMF has taken important steps forward to incorporate climate change into its work. In July 2021, the IMF released its Climate Change Strategy (IMF 2021e). In the strategy document, the IMF highlights how "climate change is bound to affect macroeconomic and financial stability" and notes that the "ensuing policy challenges fall firmly within the realm of the IMF's expertise." The IMF states that its role is to "assist with the coordinating the macroeconomic and financial policy response [related to climate change]" (IMF 2021e). The IMF also enhanced its lending toolkit by establishing the Resilience and Sustainability Trust (RST), which has the mandate to focus on longer-term transformations needed for countries to pursue and maintain macroeconomic stability.

Established in 2021, the Task Force on Climate, Development and the IMF is a consortium of experts from around the world using rigorous, empirical research to advance a development-centered approach to climate change at the IMF. The member institutes and partners of the Task Force are the Africa Economic Research Consortium, the Boston University Global Development Policy Center, the Centre for Social and Economic Progress, the United Nations Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean, the Financial Futures Center, the Intergovernmental Group of 24 on International Monetary Affairs and Development (G-24), and the Vulnerable 20 (V20) Group of Finance Ministers.

The Task Force believes that the IMF plays a vital role in supporting a globally coordinated response to climate change. As a rules-based global body charged with maintaining macroeconomic stability, the climate imperative requires the IMF's close engagement. The goal of this report is to offer an objective and independent preliminary assessment of the IMF's efforts to mainstream climate change using a development lens, with the objective of providing actionable policy recommendations to the IMF and its stakeholders.

### THE URGENCY OF TACKLING CLIMATE CHANGE

The urgency of the climate crisis requires swift, concerted global action. As the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has warned, it is "now or never" to significantly bend the greenhouse gas emissions curve (IPCC 2022b). To limit warming to 1.5 C, this decade will require a major transformation across countries to a low-carbon and resilient pathway (IPCC 2022). The IPCC's report on impacts, adaptation and vulnerability underscores how climate change is already causing "substantial" damages and irreversible losses (IPCC 2022b). A V20 report estimates that V20 economies suffered losses amounting to approximately \$525 billion over the last two decades (Baarsch, Awal and Schaeffer 2022). Figure 1.1 shows economic losses attributable to climate change in V20 economies in terms of gross domestic product (GDP). In addition, new research shows how warming beyond 1.5 C would place the world at a higher risk of breaching tipping points that will lead to major, irreversible changes such as the melting of ice sheets and permafrost thaw (Armstrong McKay et al. 2022).

Existing national pledges to reduce carbon emissions are insufficient to limit warming to 1.5 C (Black et al. 2022; IPCC 2022a). While this ambition gap has narrowed over time, countries must intensify their efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and switch to a low-carbon growth path. Doing so will also require the meaningful participation of all significant emitters. Broadening the base of participation for deep emissions cuts also means that developing





Source: Baarsch, Awal and Schaeffer 2022.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

### **1** Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

economies need international support to transition away from carbon-intensive growth paths (IMF 2021d). Moreover, any delay on reducing greenhouse gas emissions will require deep and rapid cuts later in the future. A disorderly transition would lead to higher social and economic costs than an orderly transition would. As Figure 1.3 shows, increased warming disproportion-ately impacts developing countries, and delays in reducing greenhouse gas emissions will lead to more intensified impacts in the future.

The ambition gap also carries over to climate finance. Songwe et al. (2022) estimate the finance gap to be around \$2.4 trillion annually by 2030 to achieve climate change goals. Advanced economies have fallen short on their pledge to mobilize climate finance totaling \$100 billion a year by 2020. More generally, there is a shortfall in the financing available to implement the UN 2030 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Countries need to mobilize finance in the context of ongoing macroeconomic headwinds for several reasons. First, tightening monetary policy in advanced economies has increased the cost of capital for emerging market and developing economies (EDMEs). As Figure 1.4 shows, between 2021 and 2022, EMDE sovereign spreads have considerably increased. Second, increase in cost of capital poses an additional barrier for scaling up investments in renewable energy given its capital-intensive nature (Egli, Steffen, and Schmidt 2018; Schmidt et al. 2019). Moreover, with EMDE currencies depreciating against the U.S. dollar, the EMDEs face higher borrowing costs.

Apart from the high cost of capital, many EMDEs are also experiencing greater fiscal constraints. Tighter fiscal spaces lead to difficult policy tradeoffs, including on investments to accelerate climate actions. The IMF estimate that two-thirds of low-income countries are at a high risk of being, or are actively, in debt distress (IMF 2022a). The United Nations Development Programme has identified 54 countries that need immediate debt relief (Jensen 2022).



FIGURE 1.2 Historical and Projected Global Emissions (Gigatons a year)

Source: IMF (2022) using IPCC estimates.

**Note:** The overhang of projected emissions in 2030 over the amount of compatible with 2C of warming consists of the ambition gap (the amount by which pledged emissions exceed the 2C-compatible amount) and the implementation gap (emissions pledged to be avoided but forecast to arise under current policies).

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

### **1** Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fisca Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

**FIGURE 1.3** Effect of a 1C Increase in Temperature on Real per Capita Output at the Country Level, with Countries Rescaled in Proportion to Their Population



Source: IMF 2017.



About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

### **1** Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Annex

### FIGURE 1.4 EMDE Sovereign Spreads (Basis Points)

**Source:** IMF *World Economic Outlook* 2022, https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2022/10/11/world -economic-outlook-october-2022.

**Note:** For each region, box denotes upper quartile, median and lower quartile of the members, and whiskers show maximum and minimum values within the boundary of 1.5 times interquartile range from upper and lower quartiles. Y-axis is cut off at 2,500 basis points. EMDE = emerging market and developing economy; LAC = Latin America and the Caribbean; ME&CA = Middle East and Central Asia; SSA = Sub-Saharan Africa.

In addition, as illustrated by an IMF working paper, many low-income countries already have negative sovereign borrowing space (Chamon et al. 2022; Figure 1.5). When compared against climate investment needs, the paper finds that only seven of them had the fiscal space necessary to make the climate investments needed. Their high levels of indebtedness have eroded their ability to invest in climate action.

The emergence of a "polycrisis" precisely during a period that requires accelerated investments toward development and climate change goals demands more robust international cooperation. Deepening and accelerating emissions cuts around the world require advanced economies to support low-carbon investments in low- and middle-income countries. Climate-vulnerable countries also need international support to build resilience and pay for losses





Source: Chamon et al. 2022

and damages considering intensifying climate impacts. More broadly, a course correction is needed to address the divergent economic recovery trajectories across countries that threaten the achievement of the SDGs.

### THE IMF'S CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

The IMF has recognized the macro-critical nature of climate change, with its Climate Change Strategy describing climate change as "one of the most macro-critical policy challenges" (IMF 2021e). The organization's 2012 Integrated Surveillance Decision provides the grounds for integrating climate change into its surveillance functions. In bilateral surveillance, the IMF can focus on policies that have a bearing on the "present or prospective balance of payments stability." For multilateral surveillance, it may focus on the spillover effects of a member's policies that impact the operation of the international monetary system (IMF 2021b).

The Comprehensive Surveillance Review (CSR), concluded in May 2021, is a key building block of the IMF's approach to climate change (IMF 2021b) and builds on the Integrated Surveillance Decision. The review includes a background paper specifically on integrating climate change into Article IV consultations (IMF 2021a) and recognizes climate change as a "potentially existential threat with significant macroeconomic and financial implications" (IMF 2021a, p. 15).

The CSR affirms the IMF's understanding that Integrated Surveillance Decision does indeed provide a mandate to the Fund to cover climate change in surveillance activities when climate change policy challenges are macro-critical (IMF 2021a). The CSR notes that adapting to climate impacts may require actions to "preserve present or prospective [balance of payments] and domestic stability" and that the transition to a low carbon economy may impact "present or prospective" balance of payments and domestic stability.

To operationalize the Integrated Surveillance Decision's guidance on the coverage of climate change in the IMF's surveillance activities, the review distinguishes between three aspects of

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

### **1** Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

climate change that the IMF Climate Change Strategy carries forward: mitigation, adaptation and transition management. The IMF considers adaptation and transition management to be domestic in scope, while mitigation is global in scope given the global public good nature of climate mitigation. Transition management includes the policy challenges arising out of implementing the country's own policies as well as the impact of the global transition toward clean energy.

The IMF's Climate Change Strategy identifies the core elements underpinning the strategy and charts out how the strategy will be made operational. Through direct country engagement, it also outlines how Article IV reports, Financial Sector Assessment Programs (FSAPs), IMF-supported programs and capacity development will include climate change. Moreover, the strategy identifies the Fund's approach to integrating climate change into multilateral surveillance activities, its analytics and policy guidance. Below, we discuss the IMF's Climate Change Strategy in the context of multilateral surveillance, bilateral surveillance and the lending toolkit.

TABLE 1.1 Direct Country Engagement and the IMF's Climate Change Strategy

Climate change mitigation in Article IVs	For the 20 largest emitters, every three years; In-depth coverage 6-7 per year (mitigation coverage falls under multilateral surveillance).
Transition management in Article IVs	All countries in a 5-6 year cycle; in-depth coverage 8-9 countries per year; standardized coverage 25 countries per year.
Adaptation and resilience building	For 60 countries most vulnerable to climate change, every three years; about half of consultations supported by the CMAP (10 per year); without a CMAP (10 per year).
Financial Sector Assessment Programs (FSAPs)	All FSAPs, depending on the assessment of the materiality of risks.

Source: Authors' compilation from IMF (2021a).

Note: CMAP = Climate Macroeconomic Assessment Program; FSAP = Financial Sector Assessment Program.

### Multilateral Surveillance and Global Policy Coordination

In its strategy document, the IMF charts out how it will increasingly integrate climate change into its flagship reports. These outputs include the *World Economic Outlook (WEO)*, the *Global Financial Stability Report*, the *Fiscal Monitor*, *Regional Economic Outlook* reports, policy papers and staff climate notes.

The CSR noted that the IMF would "strongly encourage" the coverage of mitigation in the 20 largest emitters of greenhouse gases, for which Article IV consultations will be carried out at least every three years. These consultations will include mitigation policies and an assessment of their adequacy. As the composition of the largest 20 emitters will evolve over time, the IMF will update it every three years. For countries that are not the largest emitters, the organization will focus on "transition management" to help countries shift to low-carbon pathways.

The IMF will also produce guidance notes to support the treatment of climate change-related topics in bilateral country documents, and it aims to improve its coverage of climate change-related topics in its guidance documents, especially by expanding its work on adaptation and resilience. To support its surveillance work, the IMF is working on climate components of global macroeconomic models, debt sustainability analyses and toolkits such as the World Bank-IMF Climate Policy Action Tool.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force or Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

### **1** Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

### **Bilateral Surveillance and Capacity Development**

The IMF will include climate change in its Article IV consultations where climate change has macro-critical implications, and it expects to include climate-related aspects in 60 Article IV consultations per year. The organization aims to cover the most climate vulnerable and the largest emitter counties every three years; in 2019, it identified 60 countries that are particularly vulnerable to climate change (IMF 2019). The IMF's analysis will be underpinned by the Climate Macroeconomic Assessment Program (CMAP), which will allow for an assessment of country-specific dimensions such as climate policies, vulnerabilities and investment needs. It expects to conduct half of the assessments through standardized assessments and half through CMAPs tailored to each country.

When assessing climate mitigation policies among the 20 largest emitters, the IMF will focus on the effectiveness of policies, alternative policy packages (including and beyond carbon pricing) and benchmarking against peers. The domestic implications of those mitigation policies are matters pertaining to transition management (more below). The IMF defines transition management to include policy actions required to achieve domestic climate targets as well as the implications of the global transition to a low-carbon model. It expects to conduct 33 to 34 transition management-focused Article IVs every year, with three to nine being in depth. Unlike adaptation and mitigation, it doesn't define a set of countries but aims to cover the entire membership in a five- to six-year cycle. Given the difficulty of separating out climate mitigation and domestic transition management policies in practice, the IMF plans to address them together.

The IMF has been developing the CMAP as one its core analytical tools related to climate change. The CMAP is expected to help identify how economic growth, climate investments and financing needs, and climate policy implementation fit together. It also delves into country-specific physical and transition risks, identifies policies relevant to climate change, and estimates the financing implications of building resilience.<sup>1</sup> The IMF intends to complete ten CMAPs per year, and these CMAPs would directly inform the Article IV consultations. In 2022, the IMF released its first CMAP, which focuses on Samoa (Kinoshita et al. 2022).

FINANCIAL SECTOR ASSESSMENT PROGRAMS The IMF considers climate risks to be relevant for all FSAPs. A climate component of the program would include stress testing on both physical and transition risks as well as generating recommendations related to financial regulation and supervision. The IMF Climate Change Strategy outlines a three-step assessment process. The IMF will first run a climate finance diagnostic to determine coverage and then will design climate scenarios. As a final step, it will focus on risks that are material over a three- to fiveyear horizon. The IMF's short-term focus of three to five years is distinct from the longer time horizons often used by central banks and supervisors.

CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT For capacity development, the IMF expects to incorporate climate change across its work on fiscal issues, financial sector policies, modeling support and trainings, with its work on fiscal matters being the most advanced. In addition to its analytical work on carbon pricing, the IMF has developed the Climate Public Investment Management Assessment (C-PIMA) as a specific tool based on the PIMA framework. C-PIMA has five elements: climate-aware planning, coordination between entities, project appraisal and

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

### **1** Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The CMAP builds on Climate Change Policy Assessments jointly conducted with the World Bank.

selection, budgeting and portfolio management, and risk management. Finally, the IMF anticipates carrying out external trainings to support in-country units that are already focused on climate change.

### Lending Toolkit

IMF-SUPPORTED PROGRAMS (REGULAR IMF LENDING) The IMF's Climate Change Strategy expects to include climate-relevant measures into IMF program design when such measures directly impact balance of payment stability. Examples of measures that have already been included in IMF programs include fossil fuel subsidy reform, carbon pricing and resilience build-ing. The strategy also highlights the Rapid Financing Instrument and the Rapid Credit Facility as two instruments that can be deployed to help countries facing macroeconomic imbalances induced by large disasters. Moreover, the strategy mentions the Catastrophe Containment and Relief Trust as an additional option for the poorest and most vulnerable countries hit by natural disasters. While the IMF recognizes the need to develop further details about how climate change-related reform measures could be helpful to address macroeconomic stability challenges, the strategy does not articulate a framework for integrating climate change into program design.

RESILIENCE AND SUSTAINABILITY FACILITY In August 2021, the IMF issued \$650 billion in Special Drawing Rights (SDRs) to help countries tide through the COVID-19 pandemic (IMF 2021c). Since SDR allocations are determined by members' quota shares, advanced economies received around two-thirds of the total issuance. The Group of 20 (G20) agreed to rechannel SDRs through the IMF's Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust (PRGT) and asked the IMF to establish an RST as another instrument for SDR rechanneling (G20 2021). The IMF board agreed to establish the Resilience and Sustainability Facility, supported by the RST, in April 2022. The RSF's mandate is to help countries build economic resilience to shocks, such as climate change and pandemics, by offering longer-term and affordable financing (IMF 2022b). The RSF is the first lending instrument of the IMF that is dedicated to helping countries avoid prospective balance of payment crises by building resilience to climate change.<sup>2</sup>

### ADVANCING A DEVELOPMENT-CENTERED APPROACH

In its initial strategy report, the Task Force emphasized the importance of investment mobilization for countries to pursue low-carbon, climate-resilient growth paths in a fiscally and financially sound manner. It also identified how the three major functions of the IMF — multilateral surveillance and global leadership, bilateral surveillance and capacity development, and the climate-aligned finance toolkit — need to incorporate climate change. The integration of climate change into the IMF's work should be guided by the following five principles:

- Adopt the global role in addressing the macroeconomic implications of climate risk, climate action and asymmetries.
- Align short-term stability concerns with longer-term sustainable and resilient growth pathways.
- Tailor policy advice to member country circumstances.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force or Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

### **1** Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Resilience and Sustainability Facility refers to the instrument. RST loans are accessed through the instrument.

- Empower national and stakeholder ownership of policy.
- Reconcile shared climate goals with equity and appropriate burden sharing.

Countries require an urgent, stepwise mobilization of resources to invest in building resilience and accelerating the transition to a just and green economy. Investments will have to be geared toward accelerating a just, low-carbon energy transition, building resilience and adaptation to climate impacts, addressing loss and damage and responding to climate shocks, and protecting and restoring natural capital. Since the global temperature rise has already approached 1.2 C, any future development pathway needs to be climate resilient. Climate impacts can undermine development gains (World Bank Group 2022).

Enabling these investments will require a new macroeconomic framework. By calibrating the IMF's instruments to support this framework the IMF can play an important role in facilitating the pursuit of low-carbon, climate-resilient growth in a manner that fosters short-run macroeconomic stability while enabling policy frameworks and resource mobilization to achieve longer-run development goals.

THE INVESTMENT PUSH The shift to a climate-resilient, low-carbon model of development must be growth enhancing and improve the well-being of populations while respecting planetary boundaries (UNECA 2023; World Bank Group 2023). Climate-resilient, green growth opens opportunities for countries to achieve the structural transformation that they need to diversify their economies, enhance productivity and create jobs. The IMF estimates that investing in green sectors, as opposed to traditional sectors, can yield higher growth multipliers even without considering the benefits to reduced needs for adaptation due to avoided warming (Batini et al. 2021, 2022). For many low-income countries, investment in infrastructure is critical before the private sector can step in to play a catalytic role (Stern, Stiglitz and Taylor 2022).

The shift to a low-carbon economy, however, will have major fiscal impacts, especially for countries long reliant on fossil fuel generated revenue. Revenue from carbon-intensive sectors will fall precisely when governments need to accelerate climate investments. What is more, carbon pricing and fossil fuel subsidy removal will not be enough to meet the investment needs for a green transition. As previous Task Force technical papers have shown, the revenue generated via carbon pricing will not be sufficient against investment needs (Titelman et al. 2022; Dwivedi and Bhandari 2022). Furthermore, the pursuit of net-zero pathways is expected to lead to high levels of public debt.

There is growing recognition that carbon pricing alone will not generate sufficient incentives for the green transition alongside a more nuanced understanding of the conditions under which carbon pricing may be effective or feasible (Prasad et al. 2022). There needs to be an accompanying investment push to ensure that governments can steer their economies to a low-carbon, resilient pathways. In 2021, the IMF outlined an initial vision on how carbon pricing and a green investment push will need to go hand in hand (IMF 2021d), saying that this will require a suite of complementary policies alongside carbon pricing.

International cooperation will also be essential for an investment push. The IMF has recognized that a net-zero pathway will require increasing climate finance to ensure that the global transition is just and equitable. A globally coordinated carbon price floor may help to shift incentives, address competitiveness concerns and generate resources to pay for green investments. However, the green transition in low- and middle-income countries will require greater support

### Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

### **1** Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

from the international community. Climate vulnerable countries will need more financing to build resilience to climate impacts in the face of limited fiscal and capacity constraints.

TRANSITION AND TRANSITION SPILLOVER RISKS Not only are major investments needed to enable the transition to happen, but the shift to a low-carbon economy will also have to be orderly and minimize economic and social disruptions (Battiston et al. 2017). The risk posed by the shift away from carbon-intensive activity, or transition risk, has ramifications for the owners and managers of carbon-intensive assets and financial stability more generally. Transition risk transmission channels can be microeconomic or macroeconomic in nature (BIS 2021). According to a Bank of England estimate, if governments formulated policies in line with the Paris Climate Agreement on climate change, two-thirds of known fossil fuel reserves would be "unburnable." This poses major risks to energy companies, banks, insurance companies and other actors. For hydrocarbon exporters and countries reliant on fossil fuel revenue, the shift to a low-carbon pathway will have significant macroeconomic effects. Figure 1.6 identifies the transmission channels by climate risk. (Chapter 3 explores climate risk mechanisms in further detail).

Moreover, the global move away from carbon-intensive economic activity will have cross-border implications for EMDEs; these are 'transition spillover risks.' National decarbonization efforts are moving along distinct paces and levels of ambition. Domestic climate policy can generate salient spillover effects in other economies. For example, China's climate policies to achieve net-zero emissions will have cascading impacts on coal exporters that have relied on China as a market (Maldonado and Gallagher 2022). Others are instituting policies to ensure that climate policy doesn't erode domestic competitiveness and protects environmental integrity. For example, the EU has moved toward adopting a Carbon Border Adjustment Measure (CBAM), and the Group of Seven (G7) has actively considered forming a carbon club. These efforts to limit competitiveness impacts on domestic industry, however, directly impact trading partners that have carbon-intensive export profiles. At the broadest level of implementation of the EU CBAM, research by Task Force members shows that developed country welfare could fall by an annual \$106 billion, while developed country welfare gain would amount to annual \$141 billion (He, Fan and Ma 2022).

FIGURE 1.6 Risks and Transmission Channels

### DIRECT IMPACTS **INDIRECT IMPACTS PHYSICAL RISK** BUSINESS Property damage and business Temperature disruption from severe weather Precipitation Capital stock destruction Stranded assets and new capital Agricultural Productivity expenditure due to transition Shifts in prices from supply shock Sea Levels Changing demand and costs Legal liability TRANSITION RISK HOUSEHOLD Loss of income Policy & Regulation · Property damage and restrictions Technology Development Shifts in prices from structural changes Increasing costs and affecting valuations **Consumer Preferences** Carbon stranded assets MACRO Capital depreciation SPILLOVER Productivity changes TRANSITION RISK Labor market frictions Socioeconomic changes Impacts on international trade, Lower fossil fuel import sovereign debt, government revenues, Foreign Carbon Tax Shock on balance of payment fiscal revenue, sovereign bond spread

### Source: Ramos et al. (2022).

Note: See Chapter 2 Annex Figure A1 for an elaborated version of the transition risk transmission channels.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

### **1** Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

PHYSICAL CLIMATE RISKS Physical climate risks include the risks of climate impacts. Analogous to transition risks, physical climate risks can be micro- or macroeconomic. Physical climate hazards include rapid-onset events like hurricanes as well slow onset ones like ocean acidification and salt-water intrusion. Exposure to climate impacts can vary substantially. For states in the Caribbean and the Pacific, the economic impact of natural disasters regularly run an average annual damage of 2-3 percent of GDP. Major natural disasters can have devastating effects; for example, Dominica suffered losses amounting to 226 percent of its GDP in 2017 due to a tropical storm (IMF 2019). When climate impacts beyond disasters are included, the climate-related losses can be extremely significant.

The costs of climate impacts are uneven. Low-income countries see not only a higher death count but also higher losses, in terms of GDP, due to natural disasters (IMF 2019). These adaptation investments need to be made in the context of tight fiscal constraints. Figure 1.7 shows adaptation need requirements against fiscal space.

	At least some fiscal space or moderate/low risk of debt distress	At-risk fiscal space or high risk of debt distress
Above-median strengthening costs	Azerbaijan, Bangladesh, Botswana, China, Colombia, Dominican Republic, Indonesia, Japan, Korea, Mexico, Neth- erlands, Peru, Philippines, Thailand, Vietnam, Uganda	Mauritius, Angola, Costa Rica, Fiji, India, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Malaysia, Pakistan
Below-median strengthening costs	Algeria, Australia, Canada, Chile, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, France, Ireland, Israel, Kazakhstan, Latvia, Lith- uania, Morocco, New Zealand, Poland, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, Slovak Republic, Sweden, Switzerland, Russia, Turkey, United Kingdom, Germany, United States, Brazil, Jordan, Nigeria	Argentina, Egypt, Hungary, Italy, Oman, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Uruguay

### FIGURE 1.7 Adaptation Costs and Fiscal Space

Source: Aligishiev et al. 2022 with authors' updates.

Furthermore, climate-vulnerable countries also face a higher cost of capital, which constrains investments and thereby leaves countries more vulnerable to climate impacts because resilience-building activities do not occur as needed (Volz et al. 2020). The climate justice aspect for climate-vulnerable countries is particularly noteworthy — emissions from these countries account for a very small portion of total emissions. Not only do they face the brunt of climate change, but taking action to reduce the severity of impacts is also challenging due to the cost of capital.

Physical risks also have cross-border aspects (Benzie and Harris 2021). For example, when a prolonged period of drought impacts the coffee production of a major coffee-exporting state, it affects both the country's own economic health and supplies shocks through the value chain. Physical climate risks have mostly been understood in domestic or local terms, but the interconnected nature of supply chains, the globalized nature of investments and the displacement of people suggest a need for a cross-border lens as well.

### Acknowledgements

### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

### **1** Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fisca Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Climate-vulnerable countries have the dual challenge of building resilience to climate impacts while also diversifying their economies away to reduce transition risk. Compound risks — physical and transitional — can be highly material, especially for small islands. To gain an accurate understanding of climate risks, the drivers and transmission channels of both types of risks will have to be considered.

### ORGANIZING FRAMEWORK

This preliminary assessment of the IMF's efforts to mainstream climate change includes chapters that span across the major functions of the IMF. Chapter 2 discusses the multilateral surveillance and global policy coordination. Chapters 3 and 4 focus on the IMF's surveillance functions with dedicated attention toward macro-financial aspects in the former and fiscal aspects in the latter. Chapter 5 delves into the IMF's lending toolkit.

Each chapter is an analysis that centers around the questions listed below, and each one identifies major policy recommendations. A synthesis of the policy recommendations from all the chapters can also be found in the executive summary.

- What are the IMF's ongoing efforts to mainstream climate change?
- What does the state-of-the art literature highlight?
- What are the strengths and limitations of what the IMF has done so far and how could the IMF better integrate climate change to advance shared development and climate change goals?

Taken together, these chapters provide a detailed look into how the IMF has made efforts to integrate climate change into its work. They shine the spotlight on how and where the IMF could better foster climate action and facilitate an orderly and just transition to a low-carbon, resilient economy while ensuring that development remains central to its efforts.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force or Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

### **1** Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland

- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

### **CHAPTER 2**

## Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance

### INTRODUCTION

Following its 2021 Climate Change Strategy, the IMF has increased the pace of mainstreaming climate change in its surveillance instruments. Its flagship publications regularly include analytical chapters on macro-critical spillover risks of climate change, while its research papers increasingly tackle climate-related issues. These publications consistently cover climate change policy issues that require multilateral cooperation to effectively contribute to global climate goals. The IMF's Article IV consultations with high-emitting countries inform multilateral surveillance, recognizing that collective action on mitigation policies will be needed to meet global targets. Moreover, regular reports to the G20 discuss the progress toward climate goals made in the implementation of nationally determined contributions (NDCs) and the need to lift the ambition of NDCs to levels needed to meet global emissions targets.

The IMF has emphasized the urgent need to strengthen global cooperation in accelerating climate mitigation and adaptation efforts and promoting a just transition globally. It has also urged the implementation of coordinated carbon pricing among countries as the main instrument for climate mitigation, along with complementary public expenditure reforms, support for technology research and enhanced social protection for managing the transition. In addition, the organization has called for multilateral cooperation to provide financing for developing countries to ensure a progressive climate transition. With policy coordination, there is a feasible progressive road to achieve net-zero emissions, but delays will only raise the cost of the climate transition. Global cooperation has fallen short, however, of the actions needed to both meet global climate targets and extend the adequate levels and quality of climate-related finance for developing countries.

There is scope for the IMF to strengthen the development orientation of its surveillance. For example, it could advance the understanding of the magnitude of cross-border macroeconomic spillovers of climate policies for developing countries. It could also advance policy and financing solutions that promote equitable burden sharing that would enable developing countries to manage the climate transition in various ways and at the same time boost inclusive growth. In this context, the Task Force provides the following recommendations for further work by the Fund in the following four areas critical to multilateral surveillance:

 Price and non-price measures: Provide better guidance on how to assess the greenhouse gas impacts of the complex sets of price and non-price regulations that developing countries use to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance

- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Annex

- **Cross-boundary spillovers:** Undertake more work on medium- and long-term cross-boundary spillovers from climate policies to better understand the extent of their impacts, particularly on developing countries with diverse circumstances.
- Climate change and debt: Devote more attention to climate-related debt issues to foster global cooperation to support adaptation investments, finance loss and damage, and devise state-contingent instruments that support debt sustainability.
- **Climate finance:** Embrace the full implications of a just transition and intensify efforts to catalyze multilateral cooperation to deliver the climate finance needed to support countries' efforts to mitigate, adapt, and cope with loss and damage due to climate change.

This chapter discusses these recommendations and draws on the Task Force's analytical work to strengthen the development focus of the IMF's multilateral surveillance.

### MULTILATERAL SURVEILLANCE SINCE THE 2021 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Climate change permeates the IMF's surveillance. The Fund has increasingly integrated analytical work on climate change in its global reports since 2008, when it published the first climate-focused analytical chapter in its WEO report. In its 2021 Climate Change Strategy, the Fund sets forth a road map to increase coverage of climate issues within multilateral surveillance and reshape its instruments to better understand the nature and extent of climate risks and global spillovers of climate actions (or inaction) as well as to convey its advice to the global community to strengthen collective action in critical areas. Surveillance reports to the G20 reflect the intensified coverage of climate change. The scope of multilateral surveillance includes issues around climate change mitigation since it has a public good character and its effectiveness "hinges on international policy coordination" (IMF 2021c).

The IMF has been developing analytical methodologies to understand the macro-critical spillover effects of climate actions and their aggregate impact on global growth and stability. It is recognized that aggregating country-level analyses of the impacts and spillovers of climate change for global surveillance is a particularly daunting analytical task (Orozco 2021). The IMF's Climate Change Strategy identifies flagship reports and policy papers as "especially important for topics with a multilateral component that require policy coordination, as for these topics, country-level documents allow only partial coverage" (IMF 2021a). Methodologies are being developed to track the progress of climate mitigation actions at both global and country levels, and analytical work is being expanded through the creation of Staff Climate Notes. The development of reliable and comparable data has already led to the creation of the Climate Change Indicator Dashboard.

Climate change mitigation extends beyond bilateral surveillance since its global public good nature requires collective action to meet global goals. The 2012 Integrated Surveillance Decision made Article IV consultations a vehicle for both bilateral and multilateral surveillance, therefore providing two perspectives. Regular Article IV consultations will be undertaken with the 20 largest greenhouse gas emitters, which account for 80 percent of global emissions. These consultations constitute a pragmatic approach for involving countries most relevant to global climate mitigation and assessing the spillover impacts of associated policies and

contributions to global goals.<sup>3</sup> Since 2021, 18 of these countries have had Article IV consultations that, to the extent possible, had stepped up coverage of climate change risks and policies. Climate mitigation policies are well covered in the Article IVs of advanced countries and tend to vary among developing countries. The latter may be related in part to the depth of national climate strategies and dialogue with national authorities. Going forward, more developing countries — e.g., Nigeria, Pakistan and Egypt — will rank among the top emitters based on their projected emissions between now and 2040 and are likely to face significant macroeconomic and development risks.

The IMF's strategy document sets a yearly target on covering multilateral components of climate change in one to two chapters in flagship reports, one to three policy papers and three to seven research papers (IMF 2021c). Exceeding this target, flagship and regional surveillance reports have deepened their coverage of climate-related challenges, as shown in Table 2.1 (IMF 2021c).

TABLE 2.1 Coverage of Climate Change in IMF Flagship Reports Before and After the 2021 Strategy

Output	Before Climate Strategy	Since Climate Strategy
World Economic Outlook	2008 spring, 2016 fall, 2020 fall	2021 fall, 2022 spring, 2022 fall
Fiscal Monitor	2019 fall	2022 spring, 2022 fall
Global Financial Stability Report	2019 fall, 2020 spring, 2020 fall	2021 fall, 2022 spring, 2022 fall
Regional Economic Outlook	2019 spring	2021 fall, 2022 spring, 2022 fall

Source: Compiled by authors.

The flagship reports alongside research and policy papers from IMF staff have helped disseminate evolving policy positions on scaling up global ambition on climate, increasing cross-country cooperation, developing comprehensive transition strategies, strengthening the climate information architecture and showcasing newly developed analytical tools. Table 2.2 presents an overview of this coverage.

The IMF has since provided a stark picture of the shortfall in climate actions — the "ambition gap" — that seriously threatens the achievement of global goals. To contain the temperature rise to between 1.5 C and 2 C by 2050, greenhouse gas emissions will need to be cut by 25 to 50 percent below pre-2019 level by 2030 (Black et al. 2022). Staff analysis shows, however, that climate actions so far will deliver only an 11 percent reduction. The IMF has stressed the urgency for accelerated climate actions — particularly by G20 countries, covering 80 percent of global emissions — to bridge the massive gap between the required policy actions and global climate change goals. Further delays will put the 1.5 C goal beyond reach. The path forward should include accelerated climate actions by advanced countries, increased ambition by developing countries and enhanced climate finance to ensure that mitigation and adaptation burdens are progressively distributed.

The WEO discussed ideal climate policy packages in October 2020, October 2021 and October 2022. Figure 2.1 illustrates the three policy packages proposed in the most recent WEO The IMF's 2021 Background Note to Integrate Climate Change in Surveillance concludes that "climate change mitastoptionshameachinger: a concernation in the most recent WEO Earbortionshameachinger: a concernation of the proposed in the concernation of the concernation Earbortion the difficulty of developing metrics to assess spillovers.

### Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

### 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance

- Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

### TABLE 2.2 Coverage of Key Themes and Policy Proposals Since the 2021 Strategy

Theme	Overview of IMF Analysis and Findings	Literature	
Scaling up mitigation	To achieve Paris Climate Agreement targets, mitigation ambition must increase.	IMF (2021b,d, 2022b);	
efforts	Comprehensive carbon pricing is most effective and the least costly strategy to reduce emissions (but politically chal- lenging to implement); regulations and other non-price policies and approaches should be used if pricing is not feasible.	Parry, Black and Zhunussova (2022); Black et al. (2021);	
	A policy mix to advance a just transition redirects revenue from carbon taxes toward green investments, social transfers and other goals. Research to develop lower-cost green technologies should be supported.	Schwerhoff (2022b)	
	In terms of alternatives to carbon pricing, in sectors where technological substitution is possible, regulation and feebates are viable alternatives.		
Cross-country coordina- tion and equitable burden	International policy coordination is needed to achieve mitigation targets, with emission reductions required in advanced economies and large emerging market and developing economies.	Parry, Black and Roaf (2021); IMF and OECD (2022); Chateau, Jaumotte and Schwerhoff (2022a); IMF (2021e); Black et al. (2021, 2022a,b); Keen, Parry and Roaf (2021, 2022b)	
sharing	To avoid leakage and loss of competitiveness for countries increasing their ambition, an international carbon price floor, with differentiated targets to improve burden sharing, is proposed.		
	An international carbon price floor preempts the unilateral implementation of border carbon adjustments, which raises equity concerns without increasing mitigation.		
	Efforts are underway to develop a methodology to enable coordination and comparisons between price and non-price mitigation policies given the limited take-up and implementation of carbon pricing globally.		
	Multilateral support for developing countries via technology transfers and climate finance initiatives is needed for a just, global transition.		
Global transition risks	Coordinated carbon taxes would likely impact external sector balances as they disproportionately impact fossil fuel-de- pendent regions.	IMF (2022f), IMF and OECD (2022)	
	Climate policies generate international spillovers through trade and competitiveness, fossil fuel markets and technologi- cal advances, with a better understanding of the transmission channels needed.		
Adaptation, resilience and support for low-in-	Large investment needs for adaptation in some developing countries, not responsible for climate change, call for international support.	IMF (2021d); Aligishiev, Bellon and Massetti (2022);	
come countries	Sustainable finance, innovative instruments and private investment are suggested as sources of climate finance, with developing countries encouraged to implement carbon prices and other reforms to mobilize investments.	Sakai et al. (2022); Prasad et al. (2022); IMF (2022c)	
Climate information architecture	Unmitigated climate change, as well as transition policies, pose risks to the global economy and financial stability. There is a need for information and tools to assess climate risks and to encourage investment in adaptation and mitigation. The IMF Climate Data Dashboard is contributing to this effort.	Fereira et al. (2021), IMF (2021f)	
Analytical tools	The Climate Policy Assessment Tool is a spreadsheet-based model commonly used to estimate the impact of mitigation instruments on a country-by-country basis.	Black et al. (2022); Chateau, Jaumotte and Schwerhoff	
	IMF-ENV is a dynamic computable general equilibrium (CGE) model suitable to analyze shifts across the global economy.	(2022b)	

### FIGURE 2.1 Proposed Policy Mix for Climate Mitigation



Source: IMF (2022b).

households (HH). Depending on how the revenue is recycled, the impact on GDP differs. The IMF analysis looks at the impact for the U.S., the Euro Area, China and the rest of the world.

IMF research finds that there are feasible options to reach net zero that are progressive and carry manageable costs. With a coordinated implementation of the proposed policy mix — international carbon price floor (ICPF), green public investment programs and international transfers — the IMF estimates the net cost of moving to clean technology by 2030 would be around 0.5 percent of global GDP, which pales in comparison to the devastating cost of inaction (Black et al. 2022). That said, GDP costs will be larger for fossil fuel exporters and middle-income economies that use carbon intensively. Targeted transfers from advanced countries to middle- and low-income countries and sharing low-cost green technology will help ensure that the transition is equitable and extends beyond those that can afford mitigation policies. For climate-vulnerable countries, the IMF has stepped up its call for international assistance to support adaptation investments to build resilient economies.

# TASK FORCE ANALYSIS ON KEY AREAS OF THE IMF'S MULTILATERAL SURVEILLANCE

Many developing countries are intensifying their climate ambitions, with some pledging net-zero goals within the next few decades in their NDCs. The approaches to, and costs of,

2 Climate and

Development in Multilateral Surveillance transformation will differ across countries according to their individual economic structures, fiscal resources and political economy concerns. But an imperative for developing countries is to promote climate transitions that also boost their economies' prospects for inclusive growth. Achieving both goals will require a substantial investment push as a key essential element of the policy mix and the means to scale up investments while maintaining macroeconomic stability. Development-centered surveillance will need to consider these comprehensive development goals among countries with differing circumstances when formulating policy advice for global cooperation. Drawing on papers from the Task Force and external literature, this section discusses how development issues can be better integrated in four critical areas covered by the IMF's multilateral surveillance.

### Recognizing the Contribution of Diverse Climate Mitigation Policies

An important centerpiece of the IMF's advice is an internationally coordinated carbon price floor, set at different levels according to each country's stage of development, as the ideal policy for mitigation. The IMF has strongly held the view that carbon pricing is the first-best instrument for climate change mitigation and that it "promotes a broader range of behavioral responses for reducing  $CO_2$  emissions than non-pricing instruments" (IMF 2021c). International cooperation on carbon pricing will ensure that countries could accelerate the climate transition and be able to preserve their competitiveness (Chateau, Jaumotte and Schwerhoff 2022a).

This policy view lacks widespread buy-in, however, among advanced and developing countries. Both sets of countries already implement a combination of price and non-price regulations to reduce carbon emissions. To date, the World Bank's carbon price tracker reports that 33 advanced and developing countries have imposed national carbon taxes and 25 have put in place emissions trading systems (see Table 2.3). Carbon pricing initiatives, however, tend to have limited coverage and low prices (Parry, Black and Zhunussova 2022). Some developing countries have shown a preference for carbon market trading over carbon taxation. The IMF, however, expresses a preference for carbon taxation because it raises revenues, leads to more certainty in future price of emissions and is easier to administer.

**TABLE 2.3** Total Number of Carbon Pricing Mechanisms Implemented at the National Level by Kind of Pricing Instrument

	Advanced Economies	Emerging Market Economies	Low-Income Developing Countries	Total
Carbon tax	22	11	1	33*
Emissions trading system	8	15	2	25
Undecided	0	1	0	1

**Source:** World Bank Carbon Pricing Dashboard. "ETS and Carbon Taxes." Last updated April 1, 2022; IMF Fiscal Monitor Country Classification. "*Fiscal Assumption, Country Fiscal Coverage and Economy Groups.*" Last updated October 2022.

**Note:** \*Includes countries with national carbon taxes; this includes Liechtenstein, which is not among the IMF Fiscal Monitor's country classification.

Article IV consultations with high emitting developing countries suggest a preference for nonprice regulations in key sectors that reduce emissions efficiently in a politically acceptable way (see also Ahluwalia and Patel 2022). Among the main reasons for this preferred approach is the need to manage the social backlash from adverse distributional effects of increasing

### Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance

3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

energy prices. In view of these concerns on carbon pricing, greater flexibility in advising on the mix of climate mitigation instruments could be a pragmatic way forward to engage policymakers more effectively and foster greater cooperation.

Recently, the IMF has softened its stance on carbon pricing and has begun to rethink the role of non-pricing instruments. In March 2022, IMF Managing Director Kristalina Georgieva said, "We recommend a steadily rising carbon price — including by equivalent non-pricing measures...to ensure a just transition across and within countries" (IMF 2022a). IMF staff are moving in the direction of considering "equivalency" of carbon pricing and non-pricing instruments. For example, in the Article IVs with China (2021) and India (2022), the IMF recognized the two countries' efforts to curb carbon emissions using market-based sectoral policies, subsidies and taxes. On the methodological front, an IMF working paper (Black et al. 2022) attempts to measure the "economy-wide price equivalent" for major countries, defined as the carbon prices that would yield the same emissions reduction as non-pricing policies. Examples of non-pricing policies include emission standards, technology mandates and fuel efficiency regulators. An independent IMF/Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) report for the G7 (2022) lays out a road map for data and analytical work to take stock of various mitigation instruments and work toward a methodology to estimate and compare the impact of these policies on emissions. This initiative is intended to promote better global coordination to reduce emissions using a broad range of price and non-price policies.

There has been an extensive academic literature on the choices of price and quantitative (e.g., permits and quotas) instruments to address environmental problems since the seminal work by Weitzman (1974). In recent years, the role of non-pricing instruments has received wider recognition as economists develop a deeper understanding of market imperfections. Finon (2019) shows that non-pricing instruments and polices, such as efficiency standards, market-oriented regulation and subsidies for clean technologies, can deal with market and regulatory failures, which are more widespread in developing countries than in developed countries. The Stern-Stiglitz report (2017) and Stiglitz (2019) also recognize the importance of the second-best nature of economies and suggest that carbon prices may need to be complemented by other well-designed policies tackling various market and government failure. Stiglitz (2019) argues that carbon taxes are regressive, and distribution is the central reason for going beyond a single carbon price. He uses an analytical model to show that a more nuanced policy where carbon prices are supplemented by regulations and other non-price interventions can increase societal welfare, because regulations and other non-price interventions may reduce the general level of carbon prices to achieve a given reduction in emissions and therefore reduce the resulting adverse distribution.

Failure to recognize the role of non-pricing instruments foregoes opportunities to explore more realistic paths toward coordinated policies. As the Task Force paper of He et al. (2022b) point out, a key problem with the IMF's proposal of an ICPF is that it implicitly assumes that carbon pricing is the only climate policy instrument adopted by each country, which underestimates the efforts made by many countries using non-price instruments to incentivize decarbonization. For example, China uses green fiscal, financial policies and sectoral regulations to reduce carbon emissions, and India has excise duty on petrol and diesel and other sectoral policies. Such efforts should be considered equivalent to price instruments and be included in the broadly defined carbon prices. He et al. (2022b) suggest that the IMF should estimate the price equivalents of non-price policy instruments and recalibrate the desirable floor prices for broadly defined carbon prices that are inclusive of observed carbon prices and the price

### Acknowledgements

### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

### Executive Summary

1 Introduction

### 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance

- Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

equivalent of non-pricing instruments. Going forward, the development of robust and widely accepted methodologies to assess the price equivalence of non-price policies will be a critically important input to advance the global discussions.

### Improving the Understanding of Climate Policy Spillovers

Understanding the spillovers of climate risks (both physical and transition) is essential in policymaking. On the one hand, the IMF plays an important role in identifying and addressing the cross-border spillover effects of climate policies, especially those on the balance of payments and growth trajectories of vulnerable countries. On the other hand, spillovers of coordinated and uncoordinated climate actions at a global level have a great impact on global growth and burden sharing.

The IMF is intensifying its work on developing analytical foundations to understand the macro-critical spillovers of coordinated and uncoordinated climate polices. A notable example of the discussion on "transition spillovers" of the EU's CBAM is in the Article IV of Bangladesh. There is also scope for bilateral surveillance, such as for fossil fuel exporters, to include analyses of the impact of spillovers from climate transition (see Chapter 3). Regarding multilateral surveillance, IMF flagship reports are giving increased attention to climate spillovers. For example, the October 2017 WEO discusses the effects of "physical" spillovers from climate-vulnerable economies on neighboring countries and further to advanced economies through the transmission channels of depressed economic activity, migration flow and higher conflict.

Several reports discuss the spillovers of "coordinated" climate polices. The 2022 External Sector Report draws on a novel dynamic general equilibrium model developed by the IMF to show the impact of a coordinated carbon price on global external balances. The 2022 WEO uses a nonlinear dynamic general equilibrium model to assess the near-term macroeconomic impact of globally coordinated carbon prices (WEO 2022). Black et al. (2022b) estimate the GDP costs of global coordinated carbon policies to be equivalent to a 0.1 percentage point reduction of annual GDP growth between 2023 and 2030.

Three valuable efforts could be further extended to address the following research gaps. First, while existing studies by the IMF focus on either physical spillovers or transition spillovers, the aggregate impact of both physical and transition spillovers are less explored. More work needs to be done in this area because many small economies are vulnerable to these spillovers. Second, the IMF's studies on "coordinated policies," based on the mainstream macroeconomic models, are prone to systemically underestimating the spillover effects and global impacts of the polices. Ambitious polices lead to structural changes in the economies over the long run, and frictions in labor markets and financial markets may amplify the impact of policies in the short and medium run. But a common problem with mainstream macroeconomic models are not equipped to capture structural changes, while nonlinear models are not rich enough to incorporate sectoral details and market frictions. Third, the IMF's studies on coordinated policies in theory but are not realistic in practice. This distorts the understanding of global burden sharing. More research should be done to explore the spillovers of real-world relevant coordinated and uncoordinated climate actions.

Acknowledgements

### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance

- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Several Task Force papers (see Chapter 2 Annex) provide useful inputs to recommendations to strengthen the IMF's work on spillovers along the directions mentioned above. First, it is critically important for the IMF to have a consistent and robust modeling framework (e.g., for nearand long-term analyses) to form the basis for developing a "coordinated policy" proposal. The 2022 External Sector Report is a first attempt in this direction. The ideal model should be rich enough to consider both transition and physical spillovers and to explore the considerations of balance of payments, fiscal sustainability and economic growth in an integrated framework.

Two Task Force papers contribute to this effort and use state-of-the-art methodologies to analyze the spillovers on vulnerable countries' balance of payment, fiscal sustainability and economic growth. Gourdel, Monasterolo and Gallagher (2022) use a tailored EIRIN Stock-Flow Consistent behavioral model to study the transition spillovers from a net-zero transition of a major emitter (China) on a major coal producer (Indonesia). Gourdel and Monasterolo (2022) use a similar methodology to study the spillovers of the global transition on a climate-vulnerable country (Barbados). In both studies, the authors find more sizable impacts of a systemic country's climate policies and global climate polices than those found in the IMF studies, such as the October 2022 WEO and Black et al. (2022b). Task Force papers provide alternative modeling strategies for and views on the impact of climate polices.

Second, to inform the future design of international coordinated policies and recognizing the adverse distributional impacts of the theoretically first-best global carbon prices, more attention should be devoted to coordinated polices that have the potential to obtain buy-in from key stakeholders. As noted, the IMF strongly promotes a policy regime of ICPFs, with differentiated price floors for countries at different development stages, as an ideal policy to scale up mitigation globally (Parry, Black and Roaf 2021; Chateau, Jaumotte and Schwerhoff 2022b), and equity concerns are accounted for through differentiated carbon prices between developed and developing economies (Parry, Black and Zhunussova 2022). However, the policy proposal has not gained widespread buy-in, especially among developing countries.

The Task Force paper by He et al. (2022b) contributes to this discussion and shows that this proposal has fundamental problems. The authors conduct a quantitative analysis to show that the ICPF regime, even with differentiated price floors, has adverse distributional impacts and places additional burdens of emissions reductions fully on developing economies. The ICPFs, even if agreed upon only among the six big emitters (the U.S., the U.K., the EU, Canada, China and India), will also have significant spillover effects on nonacting countries and will widen the gap between developed and developing countries. In other words, although ICPFs with differentiated price floors improve burden sharing compared to a global uniform carbon price, they still have significantly adverse distributional effects, explaining in part, perhaps, why the policy proposal has not gained widespread buy-in, especially among developing countries.

In addition, an IMF working paper by Keen, Parry and Roaf (2021) suggests that if border carbon adjustments are used unilaterally, they might increase interest in the possibility of formal price coordination mechanisms. But as He et al. (2022b) show, if border carbon adjustments are implemented by the G7, they will have a limited impact on China and India and therefore will not provide sufficient incentives for those two countries to participate in the ICPF arrangement. The IMF needs more careful study in this area to advance its policy proposal.

Moreover, unlike in many other areas where this type of model failure can be observed from historical data, globally coordinated climate polices at the scale to achieve net zero have not been seen in history, and therefore, no historical data or empirical evidence can inform the

### Acknowledgements

### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

### 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance

- Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

magnitude of the policy impact. This is particularly the case when the policies are coordinated globally. In light of these challenges, the IMF should devote further efforts to develop analytical frameworks to better shape our understanding of the spillovers of climate polices from an aggregate perspective.

### Devoting More Attention to Climate-Related Debt Issues

In the post-pandemic era, with the global public debt rising to historic highs, the issue of fiscal sustainability of climate-vulnerable countries has gained increasing attention. As underscored by the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (2022), increasingly unsustainable debt burdens together with rising climate challenges are forming a vicious cycle of perpetual vulnerability in developing countries. The econometric analysis conducted by Kling et al. (2018) shows that climate risks lead to a significant increase — 120 basis points on average — in borrowing costs. Beirne, Renzhi and Volz (2021) show that climate vulnerability has significant impacts on credit spreads in developing countries but not on spreads in advanced economies. Recent work by IMF staff also arrives at similar conclusions. Cevik and Jalles (2020) show that a 1 percentage point increase in climate change vulnerability is associated with an increase of 0.58 percent in long-term government bond spreads. Their findings echo Beirne, Renzhi and Volz (2021) in that the impacts on the borrowing costs are asymmetric for developing economies and advanced economies.

Adaptation investments are needed to improve resilience, but they are expensive. According to Buchner et al. (2019), the estimated adaptation costs for 46 countries are about 1.5 percent of GDP annually from 2015 to 2030, with large variations across countries. The recent work of Aligishiev, Bellon and Massetti (2022) at the IMF show that annual adaptation costs exceed 1 percent of GDP for some developing countries and above 10 percent of GDP for some island economies.

While the existing research provides strong empirical evidence on the link between climate risks and fiscal sustainability, the coverage of climate-related debt issues in multilateral surveillance is limited. Thus, the discussion of measures to address climate-related debt problems that require multilateral cooperation could be given more attention. Such cooperation will be important in four areas. First, small developing countries that are likely to suffer from disproportionate and significant losses due to more frequent and intense climate disasters typically need to borrow to address losses and damages. Those countries are less able to afford adaptation investments, which exacerbates the situation. Keeping up borrowing every time a climate disaster hits is unsustainable, and relying solely on domestic resources and debt financing will simply not be sufficient nor fair. Financing loss and damage and adequate adaptation investments will require multilateral cooperation. However, the IMF's climate strategy considers adaptation to be an issue mainly for bilateral surveillance.

Second, mitigation polices by systemic countries can negatively affect the economic growth and fiscal sustainability of vulnerable countries. The Task Force papers of Gourdel, Monasterolo and Gallagher (2022) and Gourdel and Monasterolo (2022) find that transition spillover risks from systemic countries will increase the sovereign risks of vulnerable countries and may put their debt on an unsustainable path. Understanding the interactions between climate polices and sovereign debt sustainability, as well as the role of cross-border spillovers, is important for the IMF to improve its surveillance function.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introductior

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance

- Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References
Third, the IMF has emphasized that the potential revenues from carbon taxes can be sizable and a major source of support for green investments that lead to economic growth. Assuming these revenues will materialize, especially in light of the experience on carbon taxation so far, may lead to underestimating the fiscal risks associated with climate mitigation. Studies by Task Force members provide analytical evidence that highlight such risk. Specifically, Titelman et al. (2022)'s study on Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) find that carbon taxes provide little relief for most LAC countries that face plummeting fossil fuel revenues. The paper suggests that fossil fuel exporters and other countries that rely heavily on carbon-intensive industries will find it very challenging to maintain a sustainable debt path, even if carbon pricing policies are fully implemented. In other words, the global transition has great impact on these countries' debt sustainability.

Fourth, when debt restructurings become inevitable, there should be a global solution that can be replicated widely. Managing Director Georgieva and coauthors in an IMF blog argue that debt-for-climate swaps can help free up fiscal resources without triggering a fiscal crisis, citing the research by Chamon et al. (2022). But they also conclude that the swaps only work for a single creditor with small amount of debt reduction and the fiscal space from such reduction can then finance climate investments. Cohen et al. (2020), in an IMF staff discussion paper, point to the role that state-contingent debt instruments, including "natural disaster" clauses, can play in debt restructurings in climate-vulnerable countries, by allowing for maturity extensions and interest forbearance following severe shocks. These clauses can be increasingly relevant in future restructurings because of growing risks due to climate change. Bolton et al. (2022) in the 25<sup>th</sup> Geneva Report suggest the importance of enhancing countries' creditworthiness, and tools such as climate-conditional grants are likely to be efficient. This is because climate-conditional grants can strengthen (at least not worsen) a country's fiscal position while at the same time providing incentives for climate investments.

Against this background, it is recommended that the IMF's multilateral surveillance devotes more attention to addressing climate-related debt issues, particularly in climate-vulnerable countries. First, the IMF should consider including adaptation in its multilateral surveillance. As discussed above, finance for adaptation investments needs fiscal resources, which will be jeopardized if countries suffer from recurrent natural disasters or transition spillovers from other countries. Multilateral coordination is needed to help climate-vulnerable countries with limited fiscal space to tackle loss and damage and invest toward greater resilience.

Second, surveillance would benefit from further incorporating dynamics of sovereign debt in macroeconomic models. We note, for example, the impact of the high cost of climate transitions on debt sustainability trajectories of fossil fuel exporters. The current methodologies adopted by the IMF in studying the macroeconomic impact of climate polices typically abstract from the dynamics of sovereign risks and defaults and could therefore be prone to underestimate the risks associated with debt. Third, the IMF could further explore the role of contingent forms of financing, such as state-contingent debt instrument or climate-conditional grants. Debt instruments that are designed to alleviate financial burdens when climate-related disasters occur will help countries manage debt vulnerability, particularly as the frequency of climate-related disasters increases.

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

#### 1 Introduction

## 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance

- Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

## Scaling Up Climate Finance to Support Investments and a Just Transition

The debate for a just transition in tackling climate change has focused strongly on multilateral cooperation to scale up climate financing to support the investment push in developing countries. To date, global cooperation to deliver adequate climate financing remains unresolved. The creation of the RST at the IMF and the agreement in the 27<sup>th</sup> UN Climate Conference (COP27) to establish funding arrangements for loss and damage including a fund are positive steps. But the annual \$100 billion financing that advanced countries pledged in 2009 and reaffirmed under the Paris Climate Agreement has yet to be fulfilled (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change 2022), and prospects for significantly scaling of climate financing to developing countries remain uncertain.

The IMF's analytical work on the road to net-zero emissions concludes that increasing climate finance will be needed to promote an equitable global transition. Implementing a globally coordinated carbon price floor will shift incentives toward low-carbon investments and raise revenues to pay for green investments. In addition, however, bilateral transfers to low- and middle-income countries will be needed to "ensure that the global distribution of mitigation burdens is progressive and supports the development needs of low-income countries" (Black et al. 2022, p. 4). IMF analysis also points to large adaptation costs in some climate-vulnerable countries, which are challenged by limited fiscal space and capacity,<sup>4</sup> and therefore call for support from the international community (Aligishiev, Bellon and Massetti 2022).

More broadly, an IMF staff working paper by Wiegand (2021) provides an *equity* as well as an efficiency case for climate financing. There is an *equity* case for climate compensation from advanced countries, which have used up much of the atmosphere's carbon absorptive capacity, to the smaller developing economies.<sup>5</sup> There also is an *efficiency* case to support larger developing countries with mutually agreed compensation conditioned on climate actions. Compensation for climate can take the form of grants, debt relief and concessional financing. Sharing improvements in clean energy technologies with developing countries should be an important complement to financial transfers.

Other prominent analytical work<sup>6</sup> estimates the gaps in climate finance based on empirical projections of the volume of investments needed to transform key economic sectors in developing countries. According to the recent report of the Independent High-Level Expert Panel by Songwe, Stern and Bhattacharya (2022), developing countries other than China will require about \$1 trillion per year of external climate financing by 2030.<sup>7</sup> This would finance the shift to low-carbon investments, support adaptation investments and pay for loss and damage. The panel urges global actions to implement a financing package, which includes providing more concessional finance, tripling financial flows from multilateral development banks

Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance

- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Chamon et al. (2022) further show that climate-vulnerable countries tend to face high levels of fiscal risks.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also IMF (2019), which shows the disproportionate economic cost of climate disasters on small climate-vulnerable economies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Some provide proposals to achieve fairness by changing the architecture of climate finance. Rajan (2021) proposes a global carbon initiative (GCI), in which countries that emit more than the global emissions average would pay into a global incentive fund: amounts would be based on their excess emissions multiplied by the GCI, and low emitters would receive payments. This initiative would therefore provide incentives to mitigate but also uphold fair burden sharing and the principle of differentiated responsibilities. Sachs (2021) also proposes a global formula to assign responsibility to rich countries in delivering climate finance. In this proposed approach, high- and middle-income countries pay a levy based on their emissions and proceeds are shared as grants to developing countries and/or are injected as capital in MDBs. Levies based on past emissions will be used to support loss and damage, thus recognizing historical responsibility.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See also Bhattacharya et al. (2022).

(MDBs) and resolving debt and liquidity issues facing many developing countries. Expanding concessional finance requires not only more bilateral financing but also innovative sources of financing, such as through allocations or rechanneling SDRs,<sup>8</sup> voluntary carbon markets and guarantees by international financial institutions. The recently launched G7-V20 Global Shield against climate risks aims to increase financial protection through parametric and trigger-based financing. The Bridgetown Initiative put forth by Barbados also proposed innovative instruments to increase the volume and lower the cost of capital for mitigation and adaptation (see Persaud 2022). In addition, it also catalyzed the creation of the Loss and Damage Facility, which could be funded by proceeds from taxing fossil fuel production and/or from carbon taxation in advanced countries.

Regional- and country-level analyses conducted by the Task Force show that the climate transition will give rise to significant fiscal risks, reflecting the importance of the availability of affordable long-term financing options to complement domestic resources. Titelman et al. (2022) show that the climate transition will lead to significant and mounting fiscal pressures and risks of explosive debt levels among the hydrocarbon-producing countries in Latin America. If physical risks from climate shocks are built into the IMF's debt sustainability assessment, simulations for two countries in Latin America show that public debt trajectories will rise and countries' debts will converge at higher levels (Gallagher and Maldonado 2022). A Task Force paper on Africa shows that if the current trend increase in the average temperature in the region persists, real GDP growth could decline by 2 percentage points by 2030, which will in turn worsen budget deficits and debt burdens (Asafu-Adjaye, Ndung'u and Shimeles 2022).

Multilateral cooperation on climate financing is an essential pillar of a globally just climate transition, and its success will create the fiscal space to accelerate climate-related investments in developing countries while also ensuring that other development priorities are attended to. Its failure could result in continued delays in climate mitigation as well as adaptation actions that pose risks to development prospects. The IMF has an important leadership role to play in catalyzing discussions around a new multilateral goal for climate finance that is better aligned with the estimated investment needs of developing countries. Alternative sources to increase external climate financing need to be considered since it is highly likely that coverage of national carbon pricing policies will remain limited in the foreseeable future. Developing countries will, therefore, need additional sources of scaled-up fiscal support for the investments needed to address climate change within their broader development agenda.

To enhance the quality and affordability of climate finance, the IMF should catalyze global cooperation to increase low-cost, concessional and grant climate financing from various sources. Financing should cover mitigation and adaptation requirements as well as support for countries to recover the loss and damage from climate disasters. The G20 has advanced proposals to scale up the lending capacities of MDBs by reforming their capital adequacy frameworks; consultations on feasible measures within each MDB are ongoing. This effort will complement future capital increases to further boost the MDBs' lending headroom.

The IMF is also well positioned to explore the potential for other funding sources. Proposals include using proceeds from carbon taxation and carbon border adjustment measures<sup>9</sup> in

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

#### 1 Introduction

## 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance

- Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See also the V20 statement on opportunities for the RST, through which SDRs are channeled for on-lending, to support climate-vulnerable countries (V20 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> He et al. (2022a) propose that revenues from the carbon border adjustment measures be used to support climate actions of developing countries even while not providing specific steps to make this happen.

advanced countries to support decarbonization efforts in developing countries. Another option is to use SDR reserves for climate financing beyond the RST. More could be done to enable international financial institutions beyond the IMF, such as MDBs and regional monetary institutions, to leverage idle SDRs (Plant 2022; Persaud 2022). More fundamental reforms of the SDR system to better align access to financing with liquidity needs of countries when crises occur could be considered for further discussion within the IMF's agenda.<sup>10</sup>

## Enhancing the Development Orientation of Multilateral Surveillance

The IMF has been reshaping its approach to surveillance to better integrate the impact of climate change. It has been a prominent presence in calling for international coordination on climate policies, especially among major emitting countries, and for upgrading the ambition of their climate strategies to meet global climate targets. This chapter points to a number of areas where the macroeconomic implications of the global transition on developing countries could better inform approaches to policy formulation and financing and where coordination is essential to promote equitable burden sharing. Going forward, we recommend the following steps to improve the development orientation for multilateral surveillance.

First, to inform the design of a globally coordinated ICPF, it is essential for the IMF to develop a robust framework to assess the price equivalent of non-pricing instruments, which can be systematically applied across countries. Accordingly, the IMF will need to devote more attention to developing methodologies that can be *widely accepted* among developed and developing countries. Second, there needs to be an increase in efforts to develop analytical frameworks to improve understanding of the spillovers of climate policies from an aggregate perspective. This should better inform estimates of the cost of climate transitions and therefore the scale of the measures needed to ensure equitable burden sharing. Further analyses could also be done on spillovers (both physical and transition) from climate policies that pose risks to both growth prospects and macroeconomic stability.

Third, more attention needs to be devoted to addressing debt-related climate risks. There is good evidence linking high levels of debt vulnerabilities to unraveling physical risks of climate change. The IMF could catalyze multilateral cooperation to finance loss and damage and adaptation investments and to devise replicable instruments that could improve the debt sustainability of climate-vulnerable countries. Fourth, it is necessary to embrace the full implications of a just transition and strengthen the IMF's role in fostering multilateral cooperation to scale up climate financing to provide fiscal support for public investments and crowd in affordable private finance. The IMF can play an important role in exploring new sources of financing through its global leadership role and partnerships with other international institutions. Such cooperation should ensure that the level and quality of financing are better aligned with the enormous investment needs to achieve low-carbon and resilient economies.

About The Task Force Climate, Developmen

Monetary Fund Meet The Members of Th

**Executive Summarv** 

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance

- Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See, e.g., Truman (2022) and Chmielewska and Slawinski (2021).

# **CHAPTER 3**

Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

## INTRODUCTION

In its 2021 CSR, the IMF identified climate change as a key risk for economic and financial stability. The CSR includes guidance for the development of not only the supervision activity itself but also the tools and models to use in this context for climate modeling (IMF 2021b). In the context of active experimentation and development by the IMF and other international financial institutions, it is thus key to develop a critical view of the work done so far to best guide the implementation of future tools for policymaking.

Regarding the FSAP, the review highlights the importance of extending the modeling toolkit used for climate risk analysis at the IMF (IMF 2021c). In this regard, the IMF identified the following priorities:

- to assess the financial stability risks at both a medium- (3-5 years) and a long-term (30-50 years) horizon;
- to consider both physical and transition risks, with collaboration on climate scientists for the former; and
- to cooperate with other international institutions.

As part of the CSR, the IMF examined cross-boundary spillovers, i.e., secondary effects from a policy in country A affecting the economy of country B (IMF 2021a). Further still, it provides neither detailed analysis nor surveillance guidance to deal with spillovers that would stem from the uncoordinated introduction of climate mitigation policies in a region. Nevertheless, recent research has shown that climate transition spillover risks could emerge from the unilateral introduction of climate policies (e.g., carbon pricing) in a country, such as decreasing its import of fossil fuels and high-carbon goods from a trading partner country, which would eventually affect the balance of payments and the fiscal and financial stability of the latter (Gourdel, Monasterolo and Gallagher 2022; Gourdel and Monasterolo 2022). The IMF has a crucial role to play in assessing cross-border spillover risks since they are relevant for its mandate and are not included in the supervisory climate scenarios codeveloped by the Network for Greening the Financial System (NGFS) (Bertram et al. 2021; NGFS 2021; Richters et al. 2021).

Recent research has shown that different drivers of transition spillover risk exist in EMDEs. For instance, in a fossil fuel-exporting country such as Indonesia, the spillover could materialize as reduced demand in fossil fuels from other countries. In addition, countries such as Barbados are dependent on tourism, which is supported by air travel subsidies that transition policies would reverse. In both cases, transition risk spillovers need to be incorporated into country-level macro-financial risk assessments since they can significantly impact the balance of payments and thus, public finances. Ultimately, this may also negatively affect the capacity of countries to introduce climate mitigation policies, find fiscal space and access international markets to invest in adaptation. Thus, neglecting transition spillover risks can lead to large errors in the estimation of losses and incoherent investment and policy decisions.

## OVERVIEW OF IMF CLIMATE-RELATED ANALYSES

In this section, we provide an overview of the climate-related analyses conducted at a global and country level by the IMF. We first analyze studies focusing on climate mitigation policies and transition risk and then on those concerned with physical risk. We consider transition and physical risks separately due to the lack of an integrated assessment approach at the IMF to analyze both climate physical and transition risk dimensions together, especially in terms of debt sustainability.

Most analyses produced at the IMF build on dynamic stochastic general equilibrium (DSGE)based macroeconomic models. This approach, while being largely used at central banks, has some well-known limitations in the context of EMDEs (e.g., modeling the structure of the labor market, elasticities, calibration) and in capturing the characteristics of climate risks (nonlinearity, deep uncertainty, tipping points and endogeneity; see Monasterolo 2020). Nonetheless, the IMF has not yet committed to any particular model given its use and adaptation of a variety of them so far.

## **Climate Transition Risk Modeling and Assessments**

The IMF has published on transition risk through most of its major publication outputs, such as the WEO (Barrett et al. 2020; Andaloussi et al. 2022), the Fiscal Monitor (IMF 2019a) and Finance and Development (IMF 2019c). In Barrett et al. (2020), the authors conduct simulations with a computable general equilibrium (CGE) model with global coverage, divided into ten countries/regions (McKibbin and Wilcoxen 1999, 2013; Liu et al. 2020). This work now appears as more preliminary and aims at providing a first quantification of the effect of climate change and the cost of mitigation policies. The model includes central banks but not the rest of the financial system. As these are long-term simulations, different damage functions are also used in the model.

In the IMF's WEO (October 2022), Andaloussi et al. (2022) assess costs entailed by the low-carbon transition in the short term and the importance of key policy factors behind it. They use the in-house Global Macroeconomic Model for the Energy Transition (GMMET), which is a New Keynesian DSGE multiregional model, built as an extension of the IMF's Global Integrated Monetary and Fiscal (GIMF) model (Kumhof et al. 2010; Anderson et al. 2013). However, the modeling approach of Andaloussi et al. (2022) doesn't consider the developments introduced by Andrle et al. (2015) regarding the banking sector, and it thus has a very limited representation of the role of finance. The central message from their study is that the near-term economic costs of low-carbon transitions are limited relative to the long-term negative impacts, coherently with the results of the European Central Bank's economy-wide climate stress test (Alogoskoufis et al. 2021). However, the authors assume a baseline where

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force or Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan

- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

agents have a perfect view of future carbon prices, and the situation where future carbon price increases are uncertain is considered a deviation due to the policymakers' lack of credibility.

At the country level, one of the first IMF works on transition has been that of Grippa and Mann (2020) for Norway. It focuses on transition risk induced by the increase in carbon price that considers four scenarios, a global carbon price and a new supply-demand equilibrium on top of the domestic one. The exercise takes a firm-level balance sheet approach, where bank loans are affected based on sectoral data. It assumes no pass-through locally so that the cost of the tax is borne by firms. As a difference from the above, this analysis is more aligned to the climate stress-test approaches developed so far by several central banks and financial regulators (e.g., Allen et al. 2020; Clerc et al. 2021; Vermeulen et al. 2021; Alogoskoufis et al. 2021).

In Chen et al. (2020) the authors analyze the impact of climate mitigation policies in the EU using the CGE model Envisage, documented in Van de Mensbrugghe (2019). The development of this model originates from the World Bank and the OECD. It includes an emissions and climate module, with climate-economy feedback that allows for chronic risk to be modeled as well. The authors set an emission target, and the model then gives the carbon price needed to achieve it as well as its economic impact. With a 50 percent reduction target of carbon emissions by 2030, the authors apply different policy scenarios. For instance, they find that relying on the emissions trading system would imply a carbon price of €101 by 2030. Other policies tested include the "national targets" scenario, with countries individually intervening in their carbon-intensive sectors, or a "renewable investment subsidy" scenario (regarding how the carbon tax is recycled).

## Climate Physical Risk Modeling and Climate Stress Tests at the IMF

The first paper involving staff and data input from the IMF is that of Marto, Papageorgiou and Klyuev (2018), with a model developed and applied to Vanuatu. It is a dynamic two-sector small open economy model to simulate the impact of natural disasters and associated policy trade-offs between adaptation investment and contingency planning. The goal is to determine where additional funding by donors could be best put to use. Two types of infrastructure are available for investment: standard and adaptation (suffers fewer damages and depreciates more slowly). Importantly, it features five transmission channels of damage to the economy. While exhaustive, it raises the issue of a lack of data and methods to calibrate all channels used. The model is later used in Kinoshita et al. (2020) for Samoa, a country that presents similarities in its exposure to extreme weather events. It relies in that case on the experience of cyclone Evan, used as a single synthetic natural disaster.

Two papers have also been dedicated to the Philippines (Regelink 2019; Hallegatte et al. 2022). As for other countries studied, the Philippines are especially exposed to extreme weather events. However, different from small island countries, the size of the Philippines is such that the location and/or trajectory of any event is of crucial importance. Indeed, while all locations on a small island are likely to be affected at the same time by a hurricane, the study of a bigger country requires a disaggregation that allows considering both hurricanes that would affect the hinterlands or another hitting Manila. The strength of these papers is that they rely on state-of-the-art, country-level climatological studies that can inform the modeling of extreme weather events (Gallo et al. 2019).

Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

#### Executive Summary

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

The first paper, Regelink (2019), relies on an insurance industry's catastrophe risk modeling. It analyzes past natural disasters in the Philippines, both earthquakes and typhoons, with a Monte Carlo approach to generate thousands of potential future events. Climate change influence is modeled via five regional scenarios under RCP8.5 for the evolution of physical risk, based on projections by the Philippine Atmospheric, Geophysical and Astronomical Services Administration.

The second paper, Hallegatte et al. (2022), is in line with Regelink (2019), sharing a large part of its methodology. It can be decomposed into four modules: a climate scenario (future projection of typhoon likelihood and intensity); a disaster scenario; a macro-financial scenario; and stress-test modules, which use existing tools to shock the banking system. The exercise includes a DSGE macro module with a long-lasting total factor productivity decline. Interestingly the authors compare the outcome of the first two modules to that produced by the NGFS with CLIMADA (Aznar-Siguan and Bresch 2019; Bresch and Aznar-Siguan 2021), and thus it adopts a very similar approach to Alogoskoufis et al. (2021). They find that simulated scenarios are of the same magnitude where the two have an intersection.

Last, an FSAP conducted for the Bahamas (IMF 2019b) has brought innovations in the range of risks considered by using scenarios of compounding risks. Indeed, it considers the impact of shocks such as tourist arrivals on top of that of a hurricane, with the U.S. housing market as a driving factor. The impact of a hurricane is calibrated based on the International Disaster Database EM-DAT, measuring damages to the capital stock as a percentage of nominal GDP. Its simulations rely on a New Keynesian DSGE model and show that the banking system is resilient to the credit risk entailed by the compounded climate shock.

# TOWARD A SCIENCE-BASED CLIMATE TOOLKIT FOR THE IMF'S DEBT SUSTAINABILITY ANALYSIS AND FSAPS

A robust assessment of climate-related financial risks at the country and regional levels is crucial to inform risk assessment and management tools. Physical climate and transition risks are relevant for sovereign fiscal and financial stability, particular in EMDEs, which are vulnerable to climate change and have high stocks of public debt and limited fiscal space to invest in mitigation and adaptation. Recent scientific evidence of growing climate impacts (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 2021) and the geopolitical response to the war in Ukraine, which increased reliance on fossil fuel energy sources, make tail risk scenarios and compound physical and transition risk scenarios more relevant for sovereign risk assessment and management. In this context, despite growing investment needs, prolonged high inflation makes public debt refinancing and public investments costlier.

Moreover, the IMF could play a main role in strengthening climate financial risk assessment to inform tailored climate finance solutions for client countries to invest in climate mitigation and adaptation while avoiding a new debt burden. To this aim, it is very important for the IMF to rapidly strengthen its modeling tools to better assess climate risks for sovereigns and to integrate climate risk into country surveillance and in its lending toolkit.

With regards to the debt sustainability analysis (DSA), current models used at the IMF are not tailored to capture the impact of climate change shocks on public finance. Any ensuing risk underestimation could lead to unexpected debt accumulations. Below, we highlight five aspects that need improvement:

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan

- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

- Time Horizons. The time horizon of the analyses conducted at the IMF is mostly limited to three to five years. While a shorter time horizon is coherent with stress-test exercises, the challenge in the context of climate stress tests is to embed the characteristics of climate risks: forward-looking, deep uncertainty, nonlinearity and endogeneity. These elements can only be captured with mid- to long-term scenarios, across which the most significant physical climate impacts are expected to occur, and after 2030 for transition risk ("disorderly transition"; see Richters et al. 2021). Note also that the scenarios neglect the role of finance and investor expectations about climate risks and policy. However, recent research has shown that it is important to consider the interplay of investors' expectations and policies when assessing the feasibility of the low-carbon transition scenarios and the associated risks (Battiston et al. 2021). Indeed, depending on their expectations, investors would revise (or not) their risk assessment and thus the cost of capital for high- and low-carbon firms (increasing it for high-carbon and decreasing it for low-carbon firms).
- State-of-the art scenarios. The IMF's use of scenarios is not aligned with the NGFS scenario framework which is used by over 120 central banks and financial regulators. While the representation of acute physical risk in the NGFS scenarios is still a work in progress, it is based on probabilistic risk assessment models (CLIMADA) and geolocalized data, thus allowing for a better translation of hazards into economic losses, which differs from aggregate integrated assessment models (e.g., DICE). With regards to transition risk, the NGFS provides six scenarios of orderly, disorderly and current policies, depending on the timing and stringency of the policy (i.e., carbon tax) introduction. The IMF, despite being an NGFS member, adopted a different approach with no clear reasoning as to why and with limitations that are increasingly being questioned.
- Macroeconomic models and climate risk assessments. First, the use of mean-variance models with intertemporal optimization is well known to smooth the magnitude and duration of shocks and thus their relevance in informing risk management strategies (Dunz et al. 2021). Second, the increase in the granularity of sectoral representation would allow researchers to capture the drivers and heterogeneity of national exposure to climate physical risk, which differs widely for agriculture and energy, and to transition risk, depending on the energy technology used for business (fossil fuel or renewable). Third, the lack of balance sheet representation and interaction prevents the assessment of the indirect impacts and flow-on effects of climate physical risks and transition risks to other sectors of the economy. Fourth, the models are mostly top-down, while embedding a bottom-up approach would allow for increasing confidence in the tools developed and limited compliance on the path to a low-carbon economy defined and dictated by such analytical frameworks.
- Climate risks and sovereign risk. In this connection, recent studies (e.g., Dibley et al., 2021)
  have argued that failing to account for climate change risks in sovereign debt evaluations
  and the credit ratings of countries could cause significant debt distress and contagion effects
  in the wake of major natural disasters. Failure to act could limit the possibility of low- and
  middle-income economies from accessing investments from international capital markets
  as most are vulnerable to climate risks and depend heavily on fossil fuel energy sources.
- Investment trade-offs. Of particular concern is that the existing DSA frameworks do not capture the potential trade-off that low-income countries face between scaling up spending to fight climate risks and the critical public investment required to accelerate economic transformation. The IMF/World Bank DSA needs to be complemented by a more forward-looking, country-specific analytical framework to advise decision-makers on the optimal choices

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

#### Executive Summary

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

available to leverage debt for the purposes of productive investment that enhances employment and address inequality and poverty concerns (e.g., Adam et al. 2020).

The paper by Andaloussi et al. (2022), featured in the WEO (October 2022), presents an example of how there have been improvements. First, its main message is that climate policies "have a limited impact on output and inflation and don't present a significant challenge for central banks." However, the model only allows central banks to be affected via inflation and not via financial instability. This is driven by the fact that the model doesn't include a financial sector connected with the real economy. Meanwhile, credit markets are likely to play a key role in enabling or hindering the transition (IPCC 2022). Neglecting this and finance-economy interactions may lead to irrelevant results in terms of access and cost of capital. This is, in turn, crucial to designing green financial sector initiatives to foster the transition, as recently discussed by the World Bank (Monasterolo et al. 2022).

With regards to the FSAP, the policy relevance of the model results would benefit from a better representation of the trade-offs between the cost of making the low-carbon transition by introducing climate policies (e.g., carbon tax) and the cost of inaction in terms of climate mitigation and adaptation. This, in turn, would allow for considering climate policies as both a cost and an investment, leading potentially to green multiplier effects (Batini et al. 2022). For example, on the one hand, the transition cost doesn't include the cost of job losses in the carbon-intensive sectors and the cost of building low-carbon infrastructure. On the other hand, the cost of inaction in low-income countries doesn't account for the foregone benefits of improved energy access. For example, providing access to clean cooking facilities could prevent around 300,000 children from dying annually from acute respiratory tract infections, according to the World Health Organization.

The general GDP-maximizing approach is also questionable to the extent that the current allocation of gross value added between sectors is a driver of unsustainability in the status quo. Thus, the studies presented do not identify how investment allocations could shift towards growth-enhancing areas and insufficiently address the risk of stranding assets and losses that stem directly from the current structure of GDP.

## **Recommendations to Strengthen Physical Risk Assessments**

- Model acute (including tail risk) and chronic physical risks and their economic dimensions. We continue to observe a general reliance on Nordhaus' DICE model in the IMF's analytical work, which has well-known limitations for assessing the macroeconomic impact of climate physical risks and designing appropriate climate policy responses. It features a damage function and discount rate that lead to underestimated magnitude and persistent shocks as well as the need for early and ambitious policy response for mitigation (carbon tax). A first fix for this issue would be to replace or complement DICE with IPCC scenarios (e.g., Inter-Sectoral Impact Model Intercomparison Project, known as ISIMIP). In this regard, it is important to either develop sufficient collaborations to access data on extreme weather events that is adapted as an input to macroeconomic models or streamline the use of more generally applicable tools such as CLIMADA, as also recommended by the NGFS (Bavandi et al. 2022). Chronic risks also need to be captured more effectively.
- Consider compound risk scenarios and their path dependence. As recent history shows, climate-related hazards (such as floods, hurricanes or droughts) do not happen in isolation

Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

but can compound either among themselves (e.g., the case of multiform flood risk; see Kruczkiewicz et al. 2022) or with other shocks (e.g., the COVID-19 pandemic; see Ranger, Mahul and Monasterolo 2022). Considering compound risk scenarios is crucial to avoid underestimating risks and to plan an adequate fiscal and financial policy response (Monasterolo et al. 2022). When risks compound, they amplify the magnitude and duration of economic shocks, leading to hysteresis (Dunz, Naqvi and Monasterolo 2021). While the Bahamas FSAP (IMF 2019b) is a notable exception, the IMF's work would benefit from further streamlining the practice of evaluating the projected climate-stressed position of a country in the context of its capacity for sustaining other concurrent or subsequent risks. A back-of-the-envelope calculation tells us that the probability of seeing two "one in a hundred years" events within a 40-year time frame is about the same as that of seeing one "one in five hundred years" event. Yet, only the impact of the latter is taken into consideration so far by IMF studies that have adapted actuarial tools for their physical risk assessment (e.g., Hallegatte et al. 2022). However, these tools are often developed for contemporary valuations and do not embed concepts of longer-term macroeconomic modeling. Thus, existing studies tend to miss the importance of path dependence and long-run measures of the effect of physical risk on sovereign debt. Models and scenarios should be extended to consider how successive extreme weather events can compound, i.e., how a first non-systemic event could weaken the economy to the point that a subsequent similar event would become systemic. This in turn requires models that include features such as stochastic acute physical modeling over time horizons closer to the ones where integrated assessment models operate (Gourdel, Monasterolo and Gallagher 2022). This would allow for a broader range of physical risk planning, while relying on oneoff shocks would be too narrow. This would also eventually lead to more exhaustive policy recommendations from these models.

- Consider the cascading implications of climate risks in the design of financially relevant scenarios. Climate physical risks need to be understood as a starting point of cascading climate risks; other severe consequences of climate change such as conflict are not captured yet but would be relevant.
- Strengthen geographical representation and downscaling efforts. The downscaling of climate physical risks at the relevant geographic level (e.g., country subregions and islands) should be improved to better capture the characteristics of exposure and vulnerabilities of small islands and states, which in turn would be more relevant for policy. Better geographical disaggregation of shocks would benefit from considering the asset-level dimension of shocks (at best sector- or firm-level data). Research has shown that neglecting asset-level information (i.e., the location of productive plants and their role in the business value chain) leads to a 70 percent underestimation of disaster losses for investors when asset-specific information is not taken into account disasters (Bressan et al. 2022). Science-based frameworks for physical risk data collection can help identify and rectify information gaps (such as geolocalized assets, asset-level climate finance information). In this regard, there is a need to invest in acquiring better data on climate-proofing infrastructure and supporting related capacity building efforts where external expertise is necessary.
- Improve and streamline the methods and tools. While we understand that the IMF is still
  in the process of testing different modeling options, standardizing the modeling choice for
  broader use in country-level assessments would support building technical capacity in the
  client countries.

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

- 1 Introductior
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

## **Recommendations to Strengthen Transition Risk Assessment**

- Acknowledge the limits of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions accounting and environmental, social and governance (ESG) score disclosure, and analyze transition risk exposure based on metrics that account for the energy technology profile of activities. The transition risk assessment of economic activities is based on firms' GHG emissions or their ESG scores. However, both are subject to major limitations as highlighted in the literature. On the one hand, GHG emissions are self-reported by large and publicly-listed firms in the absence of national or international supervision emissions reporting which leaves a large space for greenwashing. In turn, poor reporting limits the understanding of firms' and sovereigns' exposure to carbon-stranded assets. For instance, a coal-based utility could reduce its scope 1 emissions intensity by expanding its business in trading, without investing in the decarbonization of its plants. Another example relates to scope 3 emissions disclosure where the variance in emissions is wide across companies in the same industry - the global automaker Stellantis' scope 3 emissions were 30 times less than Volkswagen's, another automaker (Bressan et al. 2022). Finally, ESG scores for the same firm across rating agencies are poorly correlated which gives rise to "aggregate confusion" (Berg, Koelbel and Rigobon 2022). The IMF should consider complementing the analyses of transition risk based on emissions and ESG scores with energy technology profiles (CAPEX), business models (fossil fuel substitutability) and policy processes. Relevant starting points are the Climate Policy Relevant Sectors (Battiston et al. 2017, 2021).
- Align transition risk scenarios with supervisory practice. Climate transition risk scenarios
  are crucial for climate stress tests. However, current scenarios for transition risk used by
  the IMF neglect the standard best practices used by academia and financial supervisors
  for climate financial risk assessment and climate stress test in the world, i.e., the NGFS
  climate scenarios that are developed by process-based integrated assessment models and
  probabilistic risk assessment models reviewed by the IPCC.
- Consider spillover transition risk scenarios. Research has shown that climate transition risks are not confined to a country's borders (imagine the introduction of climate policies and regulations in a country that ratified the Paris Climate Agreement). Transition risks can spill over from a country that introduces a climate policy such as carbon pricing to its trading partner of carbon-intensive goods or fossil fuels, negatively affecting the latter's balance of payments, fiscal stability and sovereign debt (Gourdel, Monasterolo and Gallagher 2022). Consider, for instance, the case of China, which is a major importer of fossil fuels from Indonesia. Since China recently introduced ambitious carbon pricing policies, its import of fossil fuels from Indonesia is likely to decline. This could negatively affect Indonesia's export balance, the profitability of Indonesia's mining firms and their contribution to fiscal revenue, with attendant implications for Indonesia's balance of payments and sovereign debt. Thus, considering spillover risks is important to avoid the underestimation of climate risk for sovereigns. In its analytical work, the IMF should also embed the role of finance, the interplay between investors' expectations and policy credibility on the realization of scenarios ("climate sentiments"; see Dunz, Naqvi and Monasterolo 2021; Battiston et al. 2021).
- Consider the key role of finance and investors' expectations (Battiston et al. 2021). Although the financial system has been incorporated into some DSGE models since the global financial crisis, this has been done in the context of "financial frictions" without considering the endogenous buildup of financial fragility (Galí 2018), the endogeneity of

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

money (Palley 2002) and the role of financial complexity and interconnectedness. DSGE models within the New Keynesian tradition assume frictions on prices (e.g., sticky prices), whereas real business cycle DSGE models usually assume an immediate adjustment in relative prices that equilibrate supply and demand. In DSGE and real business cycle models, the representation of the finance sector and its complexity is poor or missing, and the role of banks is limited to an intermediary between saving and investments. Finally, the interest rate is considered the intertemporal cost of consumption, thus affecting saving decisions.

More generally, while the IMF's analytical work needs to coalesce around a dedicated modeling toolkit, the IMF needs to adopt a critical perspective and recognize how the assumptions underpinning its modeling exercises are impacting findings. More specifically, there are drawbacks to using DSGE and CGE models, as highlighted previously in the literature. Both generally assume that agents have rational expectations and perfect foresight, economic shocks are completely exogenous, and the optimal government's policy is limited to addressing market failures. These models find price equilibrium, thus preventing the analysis of mispricing and uncoordinated agents' responses that can give rise to amplification effects (i.e., reinforcing feedback) and hysteresis.

# Recommendations to Strengthen Macroeconomic Modeling of Climate Risks and Policy Response

In the context of climate risk analyses, the IMF may consider strengthening and complementing its workhorse models with macro-financial models to do the following:

- Smooth, strong assumptions about forward-looking expectations, complete markets and agents' representativeness, which would lead to fast recovery even in the face of large shocks.
- Integrate finance and the financial sector (e.g., leverage, interconnectedness), and connect them to government decisions and firm investment dynamics.
- Integrate the interplay between investors' expectations and policy credibility since the interaction can massively affect financial risk assessment and thus the cost and availability of capital for firms and sovereigns.
- Consider integrating the current macroeconomic models with macro-financial models based on dynamic balance sheet assessments to analyze:
  - shock entry points in the economy and transmission channels (direct, indirect) and drivers of amplification effects;
  - economy-finance and finance-economy feedback as well as the adjustment in expectations leading to an adjustment in risk assessment, the cost of capital, investment decisions (firms' net present value) and decarbonization;
  - the potential nonlinearity of reinforcing feedbacks and the persistency of shocks in the economy and finance; and
  - a fully-fledged climate stress test to inform DSA and FSAP.

## Acknowledgements

## Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

- **Executive Summary**
- 1 Introductior
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Mexico City, Mexico. Photo by Oscar Reygo via Unsplash.

160

Eller's

CP/

4×20

1

- I The

T

10.000

S

S/B

Prot

կ՝՝թե

7 67

## **CHAPTER 4**

The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects

## INTRODUCTION

It is widely acknowledged that many countries, especially those that are small and developing, are facing critical threats to fiscal sustainability emanating from ex-ante and ex-post fiscal costs of natural disasters and climate change. The key development challenges are building climate-resilient infrastructure without risking long-term debt sustainability and transitioning management and structural reforms that promote economic diversification for mitigating the impact of climate change. Meeting these challenges requires mobilizing funds and developing an investment-led green growth strategy, and the IMF can play crucial role in ensuring that developing countries address climate change in a fiscally sound and financially manner.

The IMF has deepened its policy guidance and engagement on climate change by focusing on broad pillars of mitigation, adaptation and transition to a low-carbon economy. However, it previously did not hold an official view of integrating climate change ab initio and has only recently started to acknowledge that climate change may be a macro-critical factor, i.e., a factor crucial to achieve macroeconomic and financial stability. In the 2021 CSR, the IMF clarified that macro-critical policies for climate change adaptation, mitigation and transition fall within the scope of the 2012 Integrated Surveillance Decision and are therefore suitable topics for both bilateral and multilateral surveillance (IMF 2021a). Further, in July 2021, the IMF published a strategy document for integrating climate change more deeply into core areas of its work. This Climate Change Strategy is closely linked to the conclusions of the 2021 CSR and concerns all layers of IMF surveillance, bilateral and multilateral, and purports to comprehensively address climate-related policy challenges in both of these layers in the next three years.

The targets include coverage of 60 climate-vulnerable countries every three years with 10 per year based on the CMAP and 10 per year without the CMAP on adaptation and resilience-building policy assessment. The IMF intends to cover the 20 largest emitters every three years, with in-depth coverage provided to six-seven countries every year. For transition management, the IMF aims to cover all countries every five-six years while providing in-depth coverage to eight-nine countries per year. The IMF guidance note, however, also states that the coverage of climate change will be assessed based on macro-criticality with a surveillance time path longer than three to five years and thus can be selective in consultation (IMF 2022a). The IMF has therefore arguably made concerted efforts deep rooting its institutional capacity for policy advice on climate change through surveillance activities and capacity development processes. These developments are laudable but not yet formalized. The IMF, relying on its policy toolkits, has advocated for a combination of adaptation and mitigation policies for a just transition. The policy advice has ranged from building natural disaster and climate-resilient adaptation policies to using carbon pricing and emission trading systems and feebates. The fiscal implications of managing the transition and implementing policies for net zero are quite significant for member countries. Dwivedi and Bhandari (2022) analyze how the energy transition will impact those governments' revenue streams both at the national and the subnational level. The paper projects that under fairly standard assumptions on growth, prices and taxes, there would be continued growth in revenue from fossil fuels until 2040. However, revenues would fall significantly as a share of the GDP and overall governments budget, which would naturally impose fiscal challenges for both central and state governments in the next two decades. They estimate revenues to fall from 3.2 percent in 2019 of GDP to 1.8 percent and 1 percent in 2030 and 2040, respectively.

Titelman et al. (2022) highlight the fiscal challenges of six major hydrocarbon producers in Latin America and the Caribbean in net-zero transitions and the implications on revenue streams and debt sustainability. The study estimates that the expenditure required to achieve social and investment objectives in a net-zero emission scenario could lead to explosive debt levels, reaching upward of 200 percent for some countries. Maldonado and Gallagher (2022) experiment with incorporating both physical climate risks and the fiscal needs for financing a green transition into the IMF's framework for DSAs of two countries, Colombia and Peru. The authors signify the need to accelerate the IMF's data analytic capacities to generate reliable estimates of the fiscal needs and impacts of climate change policy and climate change itself. Songwe, Stern and Bhattacharya (2022) calculate the massive investment required to tackle climate change. Total investment need per year by 2030 is \$2.4 trillion for emerging markets and developing economies other than China, with large proportions required for transforming the energy system.

This chapter analyzes the IMF's toolkits on addressing some of the fiscal aspects of climate change and analyzes the Article IV consultations on its coverage of adaptation, transition management, mitigation policies and other capacity-building initiatives on climate change. We first highlight the key elements of bilateral surveillance through Article IV consultations using climate change assessment tools such as the Climate Change Policy Assessment (CCPA), the CMAP and C-PIMA. We then evaluate the Article IV assessments under the broader perspective of adaptation, transition management and mitigation policies; analyze interlinkages with the IMF's fiscal policy assessment toolkit and the challenges for emerging market and developing economies; and examine the possibilities of the IMF's additional role in financing climate change. We conclude with broad recommendations.

## ARTICLE IV CONSULTATIONS AND THE IMF TOOLKITS

Article IV consultations are guided by the IMF's surveillance reviews and guidance notes. The IMF provides a suggestive pragmatic approach for the extensive coverage of mitigation policies wherein the NDC is compared to peer countries with similar income levels and economic structures (IMF 2021a). In particular, the mitigation policy advice should focus on an assessment of comprehensive carbon pricing and structural policies. The IMF sets the targets for Article IV consultation coverage on the three pillars of adaptation, transition management and mitigation (IMF 2021b).

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

The IMF has also relied on its research — flagship reports, staff policy papers/notes, working papers, etc. — to build its institutional capacity in designing toolkit(s) for integrating natural disasters and climate change in surveillance agenda. For instance, the organization's policy paper on its role for building resilience to natural disasters and climate change in small developing countries has been widely cited in Article IV consultations over the years (IMF 2016). The IMF Staff Climate Note series<sup>11</sup> covers the priority areas of IMF surveillance, i.e., mitigation policies such as carbon pricing and emissions trading systems, adaptation policies such as green public financial management (PFM) and climate financing, and transition management such as carbon reductions.

The Article IV consultations have thus covered issues on climate change and have relied on different toolkits. Below, we elaborate on the elements of these toolkits.

**CCPA**<sup>12</sup> **and CMAP.** The CCPA, initiated in 2017 as a joint collaboration with the World Bank on a pilot basis, assessed six countries in building climate change strategies. The CMAP, a successor to the CCPA, was launched in 2021 by the IMF and intends to help countries, with a special focus on small and low-income countries, build resilience with a renewed focus on macroeconomic implications of climate change policies. The IMF suggests that the Article IVs that are not preceded by a CMAP should cover standardized assessments, including input from work by partners (IMF 2021b). Two CMAP pilots have been conducted so far.

Table 4.1 highlights the commonalities of both assessment programs. The CMAP has retained most of the elements of the CCPA with changes in tools for quantitatively assessing the climate policies. A significant extension, though, in the CMAP is evaluating the distributional impact of mitigation strategies and potential gains for vulnerable sections and social safety nets. In addition, extensive focus is drawn to the introducing multilayered climate-responsive budgeting processes. Some of the recommendations of the CCPA are introduced in Article IV consultations of the respective countries.

Stedman et al. (2020) observe that the IMF contributes to CCPAs by assessing climate change risks on the macro framework and evaluating fuel and carbon taxation. Collaboration challenges and toolkit concerns are also noted in the paper. Lombardi and Rustomjee (2022) evaluate the IMF's engagement on natural disasters and climate change issues affecting small developing states. The authors observe a lack of thorough analysis of these issues in surveillance agenda, especially for countries that did not have a CCPA or a disaster resilience strategy (DRS) in place. After an internal review, CCPA was extended and modified into the CMAP to be conducted solely by IMF staff unlike CCPAs, which were conducted jointly with the World Bank.

A closer look at the CMAP and CCPA reveals certain additionalities introduced in the CMAP, such as the quantitative assessment of the distributional impact of mitigation policies, i.e., carbon taxes, disaster risk management practices and planning processes. The CMAP is relatively less reliant on DSA and DSGE model-based assessments. Though it is too early to analyze specific elements of the CMAP, the results based on the newly introduced Debt Investment Growth and Natural Resources (DIGNAD) model may warrant further scrutiny to avoid policy bias.

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

## 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects

5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Acknowledgements

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> https://www.imf.org/en/Topics/climate-change/staff-climate-notes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> https://www.imf.org/en/Topics/climate-change/resilience-building

			Climat	te Change P	olicy Asse	ssment		Climate Macroeconomic Assessment Program								
Elements	Climate Change Risks	Climate Prepared- ness	Mitiga- tion Plans	Adapta- tion Plans	Financing Strategy	Risk Manage- ment	National Processes	Recom- menda- tions	Climate Change Risks	Climate Prepared- ness	Mitiga- tion Plans	Adapta- tion Plans	Financing Strategy	Risk Manage- ment	National Processes	Recom- menda- tions
Exposure to c limate risk	Y							Y	Y							Y
Impact on macro-outlook	Y		Y	Y	Y			Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Emission reduction targets			Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Sectoral assess- ment			Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Fuel/carbon tax/ pricing policy			Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Climate investment assessment			Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Other public policies/programs			Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Financial sector			Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Fiscal and debt sustainability	Y		Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Risk assessment	Y		Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Risk layering	Y		Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Planning process	Y		Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Public investment management Assessment	Y		Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Resource requirements	Y		Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Overall policy assessment	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Toolkits	DSA/DSGE model, CPAT, PIMA DSA/DIGNAD model, CPAT, C-PIMA, SPLAT															

## TABLE 4.1 Key Elements of the Climate Change Policy Assessment and the Climate Macroeconomic Assessment Program

**Source:** Authors' assessment.

**Note:** DSA = debt sustainability analysis; DSGE = dynamic stochastic general equilibrium; CPAT = Carbon Pricing Assessment Tool; PIMA = Public Investment Management Assessment; DIGNAD = Debt Investment Growth and Natural Resources; SPLAT = Social Protection and Labor Assessment Tool.

**C-PIMA.**<sup>13</sup> The C-PIMA is natural extension of the IMF's Public Investment Management Assessment (PIMA) introduced in 2015. The IMF's review of the PIMA indicated the scope for improving the design of public investment management institutions and highlighted the weaknesses across the investment cycles, especially at the implementation stage (IMF 2018). The C-PIMA follows the similar general structure and evaluation approach and assesses the ability of a country to manage climate-related infrastructure and provides policy advocacy on public investment institutions and processes for building low-carbon and climate-resilient infrastructure. The C-PIMA complements the Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability (PEFA) climate diagnostics<sup>14</sup> and green PFM<sup>15</sup> processes. It is a questionnaire-based scorecard methodology and evaluates institutional strength on pillars of planning, coordination, project selection and appraisal, budgeting and portfolio management, and risk management. Fifteen countries have been assessed under the C-PIMA assessment so far.

The Debt Sustainability Framework for Low-Income Countries (LIC DSF) includes stress tests on natural disasters' short-term impact on growth, while the framework for market access economies adds climate change as a long-term factor for risk assessment as well.

**Carbon Pricing Assessment Tool (CPAT).**<sup>16</sup> The CPAT is a spreadsheet model tool designed to project the annual use of fossil and non-fossil fuels and  $CO_2$  emissions in major energy sectors. It also estimates the distributional burden of carbon pricing and other commonly used mitigation instruments.

Beyond these toolkits, the IMF has undertaken bilateral technical assistance missions to assess fiscal risks emanating from climate change. The IMF assessed fiscal risks from climate change for Georgia and Armenia under scenarios of mitigation, un-mitigation and volatility, respectively (IMF 2022b,c). The report categorized fiscal risks as nondiscretionary impact exogenously caused by climate change and discretionary impact endogenously driven by policies and investments. Both reports used Excel-based modules: a long-term module to incorporate the long-term impact of climate change and a disaster module to simulate the impact of natural disasters. The reports also highlight that a new module on developing fiscal stress tests for natural disasters is in progress and may be available on the IMF's fiscal risk portal in 2023. The IMF has used these toolkits in its Article IV consultation, though on an ad hoc basis, for the past few years (Table 4.2). Nevertheless, the coverage of countries has recently expanded.

### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

#### Executive Summary

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

## 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects

5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> https://infrastructuregovern.imf.org/content/PIMA/Home/PimaTool/C-PIMA.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Climate PEFA is a partnership program initiated and managed by nine international development partners that provides a set of supplementary indicators to collect information on the extent to which a country's PFM system is ready to support and foster the implementation of government climate change policies. https://www.pefa.org/resources/climate-responsive-public-financial-management-framework-pefa-climate-piloting-phase

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See Climate-sensitive management of public finances — Green PFM at https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/ staff-climate-notes/Issues/2021/08/10/Climate-Sensitive-Management-of-Public-Finances-Green-PFM-460635.
<sup>16</sup> For more details on CPAT, see https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Policy-Papers/Issues/2019/05/01/Fiscal-Policies-for-Paris-Climate-Strategies-from-Principle-to-Practice-46826 and https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/staff-climate-notes/Issues/2021/10/29/Not-Yet-on-Track-to-Net-Zero-The-Urgent-Need-for-Greater-Ambition-and-Policy-Action-to-494808.

### Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force or Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects

5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Annex

## TABLE 4.2 Application of the IMF Toolkits in Article IV Consultations

Country	Toolkit
Tonga, Nepal (2015)	RAM
Samoa (2015)	DSA
Philippines (2015)	RAM, EBA
Solomon Islands, Tonga, Tuvalu (2016)	RAM, DSA
China (2016) (selected issues)	CPAT
Samoa, Dominica (2017)	RAM, DSA
Seychelles (2017)	RAM, CCPA
Belize (2018)	RAM, DSA, CCPA
St. Kitts and Nevis (2018)	RAM, DSA
Micronesia (2019)	RAM, CCPA
Seychelles (2019)	RAM
Botswana, Ethiopia (2019)	RAM, EBA
Fiji, Republic of Madagascar (2019)	RAM, DSA
St. Lucia (2019)	RAM, CCPA, DSA
Grenada (2019)	ССРА
Micronesia (2021)	RAM, EBA, CCPA
Belize, Bangladesh, Dominica, El Salvador, Solomon Islands, Samoa, (2021)	RAM, DSA
Republic of Kazakhstan (2021)	RAM, CPAT
Czech Republic (2021)	CPAT
Poland, Trinidad and Tobago, Nigeria, Republic of Tajikistan, Republic of Nauru, Morocco, Jamaica, France, China (2021)	RAM
India, Philippines, Kazakhstan, Kazakhstan, Albania, Oman, Bolivia, Guyana, Thailand, Austria, Burundi, Lithuania, Botswana, Mauritius, Côte D'Ivoire, Portugal, Iceland, Ireland, Vietnam, Greece, Paraguay, Kingdom of Lesotho, Peru, New Zealand, Bhutan, Malaysia, Zimbabwe, Sri Lanka, Indonesia (2022)	RAM
Cambodia, St. Lucia, St. Vincent and the Grenadines, Singapore, Dominican Republic, Belize, Bahamas (2022)	RAM, DSA
Cyprus, Israel (2022)	CPAT
Grenada (2022)	DSA

Source: Article IV consultations on various issues, IMF.

**Note:** This is not an exhaustive list as the IMF has covered more countries in Article IV consultations on climate change policies over the years. RAM = Risk Assessment Matrix; DSA = debt sustainability analysis; EBA = External Balance Assessment; CPAT = Carbon Pricing Assessment Tool; CCPA = Climate Change Policy Assessment.

## ARTICLE IV CONSULTATIONS: AN ASSESSMENT

In this section, we analyze coverage of climate change in Article IV consultations since 2015 for 20 large GHG-emitting countries (IMF 2021a,b), using a simple heatmap exercise (Table 4.3). We estimate a cumulative scorecard<sup>17</sup> for the countries using a simple binary response

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See Lombardi and Rustomjee (2022) for more discussion on the methodology.

that equals one if a parameter is observed and zero otherwise for the following six parameters: i) the consultation includes natural disasters and climate change effects as risk; ii) the natural disasters and climate change effects on growth are discussed; iii) the consultation provides fiscal policy advice on natural disasters and climate change effects; iv) the natural disasters and climate change effects are captured in DSAs; v) the involvement of other donors and partners on natural disasters and climate change are referred to; and vi) the consultation includes natural disasters and climate change in policy discussions with the authorities.

	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
Argentina		0	0		2			5
Australia	0	0	0	0	4		4	4
Brazil		1	1	0	1	1	1	
Canada		0	1	0	0		2	4
China	1	1	1	2	1	3	4	5
India	0	1	1	0	0		4	5
Indonesia	0	0	4	0	2	4		4
Iran	0	0	0	0				
Japan	0	0	0	3	4			4
Korea	0	1	0		0		2	2
Mexico	1	0	0	0	1	0	2	5
Russia	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Saudi Arabia	0	0	0	1	1		2	3
South Africa	0	0	0	0	1		3	
Thailand	0	0	0	0	2		4	4
Turkey		1	1	3	0		2	
U.K.	0	0	0	0		3	4	
Ukraine	0	2						
U.S.	1	0	0	0	0	2	4	4

## **TABLE 4.3** Surveillance Heat Map

Source: Authors' assessment of Article IV consultations.

**Note:** The blank/white cells refers to the years where an Article IV consultation report is not available for a country. We also exclude the EU from the group of the 20 largest GHG emitters.

The heatmap pattern clearly indicates an absence of climate change coverage in these countries until recently. Though the IMF has identified climate change as an emerging structural issue since 2015, surveillance guidelines were clearly spelled out through surveillance reviews since 2021.

Table 4.4 presents a detailed coverage of climate policy in a subset of the countries mentioned above (excluding the EU and Latin American countries) in recent years. The absence of natural disasters/climate change in the DSA in Article IV consultations is noteworthy. For countries like Canada, Saudi Arabia, the U.K. and the U.S., natural disasters are not covered as potential risks in the Risk Assessment Matrix (RAM) of the consultations. Pricing carbon, eventually, is the key recommendation as the mitigation policy in most of these economies. Discussions

## Acknowledgements

### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

#### Executive Summary

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

## 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects

5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

Reference

on investment requirements for transition to net-zero commitments center around existing national policies without reference to fiscal costs of such transition and the extent of investment requirements.

The adaptation policy advice is mostly focused on integrating climate risks into financial and/ or fiscal rules while building resilience in the socioeconomic infrastructure for climate change. One recurring policy recommendation for adaptation is creating fiscal space (Tables 4.4 and 4.5), which is against the spirit of investment-led green growth strategy required to tackle climate crisis. As discussed in the previous sections, the financing needs for various countries and the world is massive, and creating fiscal consolidation does not help in generating this amount of financing. Similarly, for mitigation, there is too much emphasis on carbon pricing/ taxes despite evidence that in most countries these instruments will not generate sufficient revenues (Titelman et al. 2022).

**BOX 1** Survey of Article IV Consultations and Policy Advice on Climate Change for Countries in Latin America and the Caribbean

When analyzing the latest Article IV reports for Latin American and Caribbean countries, climate change is mentioned in the key issues section of the reports for nine countries in the region, with a special focus on Caribbean countries (the Bahamas, Barbados, Dominica, Grenada, Guyana, Paraguay, St. Lucia, St. Vincent and the Grenadines, and Trinidad and Tobago). The consequences of climate change are mostly addressed as an increase in the likelihood and severity of natural disasters (Table 4.5 and Chapter 4 Annex).

Regarding fiscal policy, the incorporation of the climate perspective has increased in more recent years. In reports before 2020, climate change was analyzed in boxes or small sections. However, for reports after 2020, it was mentioned in various sections and is a factor to consider in the sustainability of debt and the RAM. In fact, it is possible to find an increase in the likelihood and severity of natural disasters in the RAM in 21 countries.

A more frequent analysis is observed in the fiscal policy areas of adaptation/resilience measures, where it is common to find mentions of the necessary fiscal space to cope with the consequences of natural disasters (Antigua and Barbuda, Bahamas, Barbados, Dominica, Ecuador, Jamaica, Paraguay and St. Vincent and the Grenadines) and the creation of funds for resilience investment (Grenada and Guyana). Regarding mitigation measures, a lower frequency of analysis of the fiscal impact of mitigation policies is observed except in very specific cases, such as Bolivia (carbon price), Mexico (carbon tax) and Trinidad and Tobago (reducing the price of oil could reduce fiscal revenues).

There are several ways to compare the progress of countries and adaptation needs. For example, the Paraguay report considers the ND-GAIN Country Index to highlight the need to increase the speed of implementation and investment in adaptation policies in the country. In the Costa Rica report, the Emergency Events Database (EM-DAT) is mentioned to refer to the country's climate risk.

Nevertheless, the IMF needs to address some of the challenges of its approach and instruments to strengthen climate change in macro-surveillance framework.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan

3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

### 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects

5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

## TABLE 4.4 Article IV Climate-Related Policy Analysis and Policy Recommendations for Latin American and Caribbean Countries

Country	Year		Mitigation			Transition	Management			Adaptation/Resilience Building						
		Policy Analysis	Pol Recomm	icy endation	Policy Analysis	Ро	licy Recommendat	tion	Policy /	Analysis		Poli	icy Recommendat	ions		
					Financing	Sector	Reforms	Financing	Debt Sustain- ability Analysis	Risk Assessment Matrix		Improve N Resilience to C	Aacroeconomic ar limate Change/Na	nd Physical atural Disasters		
		GHG Emission/ Climate Impact	Carbon Pricing	Others	Instruments	Others	Energy Sector	Instruments	Natural Disasters	Natural Disasters	Measures of Physical/ Structural Resilience	Others	Fiscal Space/ Buffers	Support for Energy Mix	Inclusion of Climate Risks in Financial/ Fiscal Rules	
Australia	2019	х	x	Х	x		х	Х		x						
	2021	Х	x	Х	х		х	х		х					х	
	2022	Х	x	Х	x		х	х		x	Х					
Canada	2021	Х	х	Х										х	х	
	2022	Х	х		х							_		х	х	
China	2020	Х	х	Х	х			х		х						
	2021	Х	х	Х	х	х	х	х		х				х	х	
	2022	Х			х		х	х		х		_		х	х	
India	2021		х				х			х	х			х	х	
	2022	Х	х	Х		Х	х			Х	Х	х		х		
Indonesia	2020	х		х		Х	Х			Х	х	_				
	2022	х	х	х			Х	х		Х	х	х				
Japan	2022	Х	х		х	Х	х	х		Х	Х		х		х	
Korea	2021		х	Х	х		х					х		х		
	2022	х	х	х	х	Х	х	х		х		х		х		
Saudi Arabia	2021	Х			х	х	х	х			х	х		х		
	2022	Х				Х	х				Х	_		х		
South Africa	2019	Х				Х	х							х		
	2021	х					Х				х	Х		х		
Thailand	2019	Х		Х			х			х		_				
	2021	Х	х			Х				х	Х	х				
	2022	Х	х				х			Х	Х	х			х	
Turkey	2018						х					_		х		
	2021									х				х		
U.K.	2020		х	Х	х						х					
	2021		х	Х	х			Х			х	Х	х		Х	
U.S.	2020		х	Х		х	х				Х			Х		
	2021		х	Х		х	х				х			Х		
	2022	Х	х	Х	х	х	х				х	Х		х		

Source: Authors' assessment.

TABLE 4.5 Article IV Climate-Related Policy Analysis and Policy Recommendations for Latin American and Caribbean Countries

Country	Year	Mitig	gation		Transition N	lanagement	t Adaptation/Resilience Building										
		Policy Analysis	Policy Recommen-	Policy Analysis	Polic	y Recommenda	ation		Policy Anal	ysis			Policy R	Recommendatio	ns		
			uation	Financing	Sector	Reforms	Financing	Debt Sus- tainability Analysis	Risk Ass	sessment Matrix	Impr	ove Macroeconom	ic and Physical	Resilience to C	limate Chang	e/Natural Disa	asters
		GHG Emissions	Introduc- tion/Raise of Carbon Price/ Carbon Tax	Transition Man- agement Financing Needs	Implemen- tation of Tourism Sector Reform	Implemen- tation of Energy Sector Reform	Green Bonds	Natural Disasters Included in DSA	Natural Disasters	Climate-induced Commodity Export Shock/ Domestic Supply Shock Caused by Climate Change	Measures of Physical/ Structural Resilience to Climate Change	Adoption/ Implementa- tion of Disaster Resilience Strategy (DRS)	Creation or Strength- ening of Resilience/ Contin- gency Fund	Insurance Coverage for Natural Disasters	More Fiscal Space	Natural Disaster Clauses in Sovereign Debt	Inclusion of Climate- Related Risks in Fiscal Rules
Antigua and Barbuda	2014	х				х			х		х				х		
Argentina	2022					х				Х							
Aruba	2021				х				х		х						
Bahamas	2022		х		х			х	х		х		х	х	х	х	
Barbados	2021						х	х	х		х				Х		
Belize	2022							х	х		х	х	х				
Bolivia	2022	х	х			х	х		х								
Brazil	2021	х															
Chile	2021		х														
Colombia	2022	х	х														
Costa Rica	2021	х						х		Х							
Dominica	2021			х					х		х		х	х	Х		х
Dominican Republic	2022					х		х	х		х			х			
Ecuador	2021					х			х		х						
El Salvador	2021		х		х			х	х						х		
Grenada	2022					х		х	х			х		х			
Guatemala	2022								х		х						

Country Year Mitigation Transition Management Adaptation/Resilience Building								ing									
		Policy Analysis	Policy Recommen-	Policy Analysis	Polic	y Recommenda	ition		Policy Anal	ysis			Policy R	ecommendatio	ins		
			dation	Financing	Sector	Reforms	Financing	Debt Sus- tainability Analysis	Risk Ass	essment Matrix	Impr	ove Macroeconom	ic and Physical	Resilience to C	limate Chang	e/Natural Disa	isters
		GHG Emissions	Introduc- tion/Raise of Carbon Price/ Carbon Tax	Transition Man- agement Financing Needs	Implemen- tation of Tourism Sector Reform	Implemen- tation of Energy Sector Reform	Green Bonds	Natural Disasters Included in DSA	Natural Disasters	Climate-induced Commodity Export Shock/ Domestic Supply Shock Caused by Climate Change	Measures of Physical/ Structural Resilience to Climate Change	Adoption/ Implementa- tion of Disaster Resilience Strategy (DRS)	Creation or Strength- ening of Resilience/ Contin- gency Fund	Insurance Coverage for Natural Disasters	More Fiscal Space	Natural Disaster Clauses in Sovereign Debt	Inclusion of Climate- Related Risks in Fiscal Rules
Guyana	2022	х															
Haiti	2019					х		х	х								
Honduras	2019					х		х									
Jamaica	2021								х		х			х	x		
Mexico	2022	x	х			х											х
Nicaragua	2019							х									
Panama	2021	х							х		х	Х					
Paraguay	2022	х							х								
Peru	2022	х							х								
St. Kitts and Nevis	2018							х	х				х				
St. Lucia	2022					х		х	х		х			х			
St. Vincent and the Grenadines	2022					х		х	х		х				х		
Suriname	2019																
Trinidad and Tobago	2021	х		х		х			х		х						
Uruguay	2021	х															х

**Source:** Authors' assessment. For details about the classification, see Chapter 4 Annex.

#### Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

## 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects

5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Annex

## Common Toolkits with a Differentiated Approach

- DSA. The framework for market access economies (last reviewed in 2021) adds climate change as a long-term factor for risk assessment.<sup>18</sup> Many recent studies have argued for improvement in the depth and coverage of climate change, ranging from issues of improving national level estimates for climate resilient investment needs to measures of alternative risk scenarios.<sup>19</sup> Maldonado and Gallagher (2022) suggest alternative measures to introduce climate risk, climate transition resource requirements/investments and a combination of the two as potential refinements to the current framework. Monsod, Muyot and Gochoco-Bautista (2022a) find evidence for fiscal space in V20 countries and thus argue that the IMF Debt Sustainability Framework (DSF) threshold limits should not be a construed as limits to fiscal space per se. In a separate study, Monsod, Majadillas and Gochoco-Bautista (2022b) also estimate climate change gaps using reported cost needs for climate adaptation and mitigation policy by V20 countries. A reassessment of suitability of present frameworks in streamlining climate change needs is therefore warranted. Specifically, there is a clear need for a review of the framework for low-income countries to incorporate long-term implications of climate change on socioeconomic policies (see also Pinto 2018 for a critique of the DSA of low-income countries). A joint IMF-World Bank review of the low-income country debt sustainability framework is currently planned for 2023.
- New developments in the fiscal toolkit. In two recent reports, the IMF introduced Excelbased modules: a long-term module to incorporate the long-term impact of climate change and a disaster module to simulate the impact of natural disasters (IMF 2022b,c). The reports also highlight that a new module on developing fiscal stress tests for natural disasters is under progress and may be available on the IMF's fiscal risk portal in 2023.<sup>20</sup> This is a welcome step forward; however, the scope for applicability across countries, and integration into the DSA framework, needs to be examined.
- Article IV consultations coverage of adaptation policies. The IMF describes adaptation policies as a domestic policy challenge with inward spillovers (IMF 2021b, 2022a). The guidelines suggest that coverage on adaptation policies should include an assessment of exposure to climate risk and potential impact, identify policy challenges and financing gaps (based on information available), enhance financial resilience and assess expenditure priorities, especially for fragile and climate-vulnerable countries. The IMF, before piloting the CCPA and CMAP, relied on DSA, DSGE models (in some cases External Balance Assessments (EBA)) and PIMA as tools for a quantitative assessment of the adaptation policies along with building a Disaster Resilience Strategy road map in some countries. To the best of our knowledge, C-PIMA assessments are not available in the public domain and hence could not be evaluated in detail. Nevertheless, the C-PIMA methodology could be strengthened with specific elements for climate-vulnerable countries while the performance could be monitored through a portal/dashboard. Deliberations on C-PIMA assessments as one of the pillars for access to finance through the newly formed RST could be an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Two measures — the Climate Change Exposure Index used in IMF (2016), and the World Risk Index used in in the World Risk Report (2018) — are suggestive indicators for defining high climate risk countries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See the following for details: Global Commission on the Economy and Climate (2014), Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2017), Bhattacharya et al. (2019), Rozenberg and Fay (2019) and Network for Greening the Financial System (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> https://www.imf.org/en/Topics/fiscal-policies/Fiscal-Risks, https://www.imf.org/en/Topics/fiscal-policies/ Fiscal-Risks

important step going forward (Barbados, Costa Rica and Rwanda have undergone PIMA and C-PIMA assessments and are currently implementing recommendations as part of RSF reform conditionalities).

Article IV consultations on transition management and mitigation policies. The IMF suggests that Article IV consultations should discuss mitigation and transition management policies in conjunction and discuss the specific coverage on transition management as an on-need basis (IMF 2021a). It also proposes covering mitigation policies and their adequacy at least every three years for the 20 largest GHG emitters, with voluntary coverage for other countries based on agreement with country authorities (IMF 2021b). The recent Article IV consultations of the 20 largest GHG emitters, including Canada, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Indonesia, Korea, the Netherlands, the U.S. and the U.K., thus provide extensive coverage on issues of carbon pricing, feebates, public investment in clean technology and revenue recycling among other measures. For other climate-vulnerable and developing countries, issues on energy mix, energy subsidy reforms, economic diversification and targeted social safety nets have been part of the policy advocacy. In a Staff Climate Note, the IMF illustrates options for a global just transition through larger emission reductions by higher-income countries and enhancing climate finance (IMF 2022d). The note also introduces a new IMF-ENV model which estimates GDP effects from global decarbonization and uses the existing CPAT model highlights the benefits of carbon pricing and its impact on welfare costs for carbon-intensive and fuel-exporting countries."

The fiscal implications, however, of managing the transition and implementing policies for net zero are quite significant for member countries. In a nutshell, before developing institutional capacity for extensive assessment on climate changes policies, Article IV consultations policy advice was skewed on adaptation policies for small and developing countries prone to natural disasters, with a shifting focus on mitigation policies as well in recent years. The IMF has contributed significantly on developing tools and policy instruments for advising countries on adaptation and mitigation policies on climate change. Nonetheless, there is a significant gap to be filled on transition management policies. The IMF can thus focus on the extensive coverage of assessing the impact of transition policies at national and subnational levels, implications for carbon-intensive industries and fossil fuel-exporting countries, and its role in climate finance for future research agenda.

## Other Policy Considerations and Recommendations

- Coverage of mitigation and transition management policies. The current surveillance framework analyses both policies in conjunction with voluntary and need basis clauses. We recommend a universal coverage of both policies across member countries in the long term subject to the institutional capacity within the IMF. Similar views are expressed by the European Central Bank (2022) as well. The IMF should also extend its focus on covering fiscal challenges in the transition to net zero (as highlighted in Dwivedi and Bhandari 2022 and Titelman 2022). Either a separate tool other than the current CPAT, IMF-ENV, and DIGNAD models or integrating transition challenges with country specificities in the existing models could be explored.
- Consistency in designing and implementing toolkit(s). Different toolkit(s) have been designed and piloted on selected countries. The IMF, for instance, compares climate change costs under various estimation methods (IMF 2022e). Farmer et al. (2015) also draw comparisons on DSGE, agent-based and integrated assessment models for climate

### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

- **Executive Summary**
- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

## 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects

5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

change policy analyses. Many of the new models are either used on an ad hoc basis through bilateral technical assistance or on selected countries. There is an urgent need for streamlining these models for strengthening policy advocacy in Article IV consultations.

## CONCLUSION

This chapter attempted to summarize the extent of the IMF engagement and fiscal toolkits on addressing some of the fiscal aspects of climate change. The IMF has actively developed a set of toolkits to complement its bilateral surveillance through Article IV consultations. The toolkits, however, are used on ad hoc basis, warranting an urgent need for streamlining, and thereby strengthening, policy advocacy in Article IV consultations. Based on research by the Task Force, we recommend the following to strengthen the impact of climate change on fiscal policy:

- The fiscal impacts of climate change should be addressed both in terms of revenues and expenditures and be incorporated into DSAs.
- The implementation of carbon neutrality policies will lead to the reduction of fiscal revenues of hydrocarbon-producing/consuming countries. Carbon tax revenue will not compensate it, so finding new avenues for revenue will be crucial (Titelman et al. 2021; Dwivedi and Bhandari 2022).
- Investment required to build infrastructure and change in energy matrix will vary from country to country. The IMF has a role to play to ensure it is done in fiscally sound manner.
- The commitments described in LAC countries' NDCs generally do not quantify the financing needs for their implementation. The surveillance program should work toward getting precise estimates of these costs.

Finally, the IMF should continue leveraging its position through concerted efforts in building on existing institutional capacity, as well as stimulating its capacity-building measures, to build climate expertise for authorities at the country level.

## Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

## 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects

5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

## **CHAPTER 5**

Assessing IMF Lending Programs for Climate and Development

## INTRODUCTION

At the core of the macroeconomic response to climate change is the need for a stepwise mobilization of resources for accelerating just and low-carbon energy transitions, responding to climate shocks and addressing loss and damage, building adaptation and resilience, and triggering structural transformation away from carbon-intensive activity, especially as such economic structures pertain to balance of payments. Given the IMF mandate and its recent determination that climate change is macro-critical, the IMF needs to be at the center of these responses to safeguard that this mobilization of resources and corresponding investments is done in a fiscally sound and financially stable manner.

The IMF deserves a great deal of credit for its major new issuance of SDRs and for subsequently creating an RST that rechannels some SDRs for climate resilience and sustainability. In addition, the IMF recently issued guidance notes to help staff incorporate climate policy into IMF lending programs and expanded the Catastrophe Containment and Relief Trust (CCRT) so that some climate-vulnerable countries could receive relief from their external debts owed to the IMF. These are all very important first steps to build on given that the more climate vulnerable a country becomes, the more likely it is to seek IMF lending support.

Despite these advances, this chapter demonstrates that the IMF lending toolkit, in general, and the RSF, in particular:

- lack the scale to mitigate climate shocks and mobilize the resources necessary for low-carbon, climate-resilient and socially inclusive growth paths across the developing world;
- are adopting a "green fiscal consolidation" approach to incorporating climate considerations in its lending programs, which is inconsistent with a development-centered approach to climate; and
- are falling far short in integrating climate considerations into debt negotiations.

## THE IMF LENDING TOOLKIT AFTER THE IMF STRATEGY

The IMF has made significant and unprecedented changes in its lending toolkit to respond to the macro-critical aspects of climate change. In a few short years, it has created new resources for climate change in the establishment of the RST and has begun to implement guidelines

for incorporating climate measures into the IMF's traditional suite of lending programs. This section of the chapter provides an overview of these additions to the IMF lending toolkit.

IMF lending programs receive little attention in the IMF Climate Change Strategy relative to the surveillance activities of the Fund, devoting just one paragraph to "IMF-Supported Programs." The paragraph stresses that IMF financing may be provided when climate-related measures are seen as critical to help solving a member country's balance of payments problems. The IMF notes that the Rapid Financing Instrument (RFI) and the Rapid Credit Facility (RCF) are both equipped to provide support for countries struck by natural disasters, suggesting that extreme climate shocks could be covered by these programs. In addition, the IMF Climate Change Strategy notes that the IMF had begun to merge climate considerations into fiscal consolidation efforts in the form of requirements to reduce energy subsidies and through increasing taxes on carbon-intensive activities. The Climate Strategy also foreshadows the creation of the RST as a source of additional financing of climate-related measures (IMF 2021a).

## **Resilience and Sustainability Facility**

Regardless of the lack of attention to the lending toolkit in the IMF Climate Change Strategy, significant additions have been made to the IMF's lending operations to help it better respond to climate change. The centerpiece of these reforms has been the creation of the RST, a source of funds for a new facility, the RSF. In August of 2021, the IMF board approved \$650 billion (roughly SDR 453 billion) to enhance the liquidity positions of countries in the wake of the COVID-19 crisis (IMF 2021b). In April of 2022, financed by rechanneled SDRs, the IMF Board approved the RST to "help countries build resilience to external shocks and ensure sustainable growth, contributing to their long-term balance of payments stability" (IMF 2022a; see also Cashman et al. 2022, Plant 2021).

For the IMF board, the specific purpose of the RSF is to support policy reform and provide financing to prevent and mitigate risks that may arise from climate change (as well as

## TABLE 5.1 RST Pledges and Contributions (billions)

	SDRs	USD
Australia	0.9	1.2
Canada	1.4	1.8
China	6.0	8.0
France	3.1	4.1
Germany	5.0	6.7
Japan	0.8	1.1
Korea	0.9	1.2
Spain	1.4	1.9
Total Finalized Contributions	19.5	26.0
Total Pledges	30.4	40.4

Source: IMF 2023.

**Note: (1)** FX rates as of December 15, 2022. **(2)** Contributions to the deposit and/or reserve accounts. **(3)** The IMF expects contributions from additional five countries early 2023. **(4)** RST = Resilience and Sustainability Trust; RSF = Resilience and Sustainability Facility; SDR = Special Drawing Rights.

#### Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects

5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

pandemics and other global challenges) in a manner that enhances prospective balance of payments stability. The IMF secured an initial set of pledges of \$40 billion (roughly SDR 30 billion) for this trust, which will be a source of financing for the RSF. As Table 5.1 indicates, not all those pledges had materialized by early 2023. China, Germany and France have made the largest contributions to date.

Although originally proposed to have a (low) income-based eligibility requirement similar to the PRGT, the final Board-approved RST allows PRGT members and small states with a population of under 1.5 million and a per capita gross national income below 25 times the 2021 International Development Association (IDA) threshold and for middle-income countries with per capita incomes below ten times the IDA threshold. Importantly, to access the RSF, member states must have an IMF program in place with "upper tranche" characteristics, though Rwanda managed to receive an RSF package with a less onerous "policy coordination instrument." Members can access up to 150 percent of their IMF quota, or SDR 1 billion (IMF 2022e). Unlike other IMF-supported programs, RSF loans have 20-year maturities with a 10.5-year grace period with a tiered rate structure, with poorer countries receiving the most favorable terms (IMF 2022a).

Given that developing countries currently face multiple crises, more than 20 countries had already sought negotiations for RSF programs by the beginning of 2023. Table 5.2 exhibits some of the main features of three approved RSF packages in Barbados, Costa Rica and Rwanda. These three programs sum to \$1.2 billion, just over 2 percent of GDP on average for the participating countries.

BARBADOS: \$189 million	COSTA RICA: \$725 million	RWANDA: \$319 million
Upgrade law to improve the climate resilience of roads through improved drainage.	Develop and publish guidelines for climate budget tagging.	Produce guidelines on climate budget tagging.
Enhance water availability via water reuse.	Expand quantitative climate fiscal risk analysis in the Medium-Term Fiscal Framework to include climate transition risks.	Implement climate change budget tagging as a prototype on development expenditure.
Fund the National Environmental and Conservation Trust for marine protection projects.	Develop guidelines to incorporate social cost of carbon in project appraisal processes.	Expand the climate change budget tagging framework to cover all expenditure.
Approve regulations to support 'green procurement' and fiscal risk assessments of climate change risks in the budget.	Publish guidelines on project selection based on climate change criteria.	Publish climate budget tagging results in the climate budget statements and quarterly reports.
Approve a National Comprehen- sive Disaster Risk Management Policy.	Develop and publish guidelines for including climate change analysis in Regulatory Plans.	RM1: Submit a quantitative climate risk analysis in the Fiscal Risk Statement to the Fiscal Risk Committee.
Amend laws to improve stormwa- ter management plans.	Approve regulations to simplify power generation from renewable sources.	Expand the quantitative climate risk analysis to include public-private partnerships and state-owned enterprises that are vulnerable to climate-related risks.

## TABLE 5.2 Core Features of Selected RSF Reform Measures

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

#### **Executive Summary**

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fisca Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

concerns into the PFM process.	incentives for low-pollution private vehicles.	policy to integrate climate agenda.
Lower import taxes for electric vehicles.	Review existing tax incentives to support decarbonization efforts.	Publish the guidelines for project appraisal and selection criteria, including climate considerations.
Issue regulation to incentivize investments into battery storage technologies.	Create a repository with data on climate hazards; industrial and geographical vulnerability to climate events; banks' lending exposure to vulnerable industries and regions.	Publish report on major projects in the pipeline with incorporation of adaptation and mitigation criteria.
Approve policy framework to reduce energy use of all govern- ment agencies.	Publish indicators of the "green- ness" of its reserve holdings.	Issue a guideline for climate-re- lated risk managements for financial institutions.
Adopting legislation to enhance competition in the electricity market and introduce local participation in renewable energy investment.	Approve regulation on climate change risks in the credit portfolio.	Issue a guideline to financial institutions regarding recom- mendations of the International Sustainability Standards Board.
Adopt strategy to assess climate change risks to the financial sector and join the Network for Greening the Financial System.	Incorporate climate effects on the banking sector in its top-down stress testing.	Adopt the new National Disaster Risk Reduction and Management Policy.
Including climate change risks in a bank stress testing exercise.		Develop financing mechanism at the local level to enhance the ability of local governments to mobilize resources to finance the planning and implementation of disaster risk reduction and management strategy at the local level.

COSTA RICA: \$725 million

Submit legislation to strengthen

RWANDA: \$319 million

Update the national investment

Source: Authors adaption of IMF (2022b,c,d).

**BARBADOS: \$189 million** 

Strengthen integration of climate

RSF programs are developed jointly between the member government and IMF staff and are then contractually enshrined in IMF programming. As can be inferred from Table 5.2, funding is conditioned on achieving different policy goals in the program in tranches. Financing and policies in each of these cases is geared toward addressing imminent adaptation needs, integrating climate risk into fiscal planning and financial institution operations, strengthening public investment and supporting decarbonization.

## **Traditional IMF-Supported Programs**

In addition to creating a new source of financing to address climate change at the IMF, the Fund also began to bring climate considerations more consciously into its traditional lending sources, the numerous facilities stemming from the General Resource Account (GRA) and the PRGT. As mentioned in the IMF Climate Change Strategy, the RFI and the RCF can be used to gain rapid access to financing during a climate shock. Moreover, the IMF issued Staff Guidance Notes to help incorporate climate policy into IMF-supported lending programs.

## Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

EXPANSION OF ACCESS LIMITS TO THE RFI AND RCF The RFI and the RCF were designed by the IMF for countries that urgently needed rapid balance of payments financing but did not need full-scale standby arrangements. Financing is usually for three to five years and has very few conditionalities attached. The RCF is largely for countries that are PRGT eligible, and the RFI for other member states and the financing terms are the same as for the PRGT and the general account, respectively. These programs were established with what is now called the "regular window," which was for exogenous shocks. In 2017, the IMF created the "Large Natural Disaster Window" (LND) for urgent balance of payments shortfalls when economic damages from the disaster are deemed to be 20 percent or more of the member's GDP.

In response to the COVID-19 and subsequent shocks, the IMF board has approved extending the access limits of these two windows and has added a new window. Starting in April 2020, the IMF approved temporary increases in the access limits of the regular window from 100 to 150 percent of quota. In June of 2021 the Board voted to increase the access limits of the LND to 183 percent of quota. Finally, the Executive Board approved a new "Food Shock Window" to help member states with balance of payments shocks due to increased food and fertilizer prices, with an access limit of 175 percent of quota for members (IMF 2021b). Given that climate change can be responsible for external shocks due to "transition spillovers" such as carbon border adjustment mechanisms (see He, Fan, and Jun 2022), natural disasters due to climate-related extreme weather events, and food price increases, the expansion of these facilities are welcome additions and expansions to the IMF lending toolkit.

## INCORPORATION OF CLIMATE RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONDITIONS IN IMF LENDING PRO-

**GRAMS** Shortly following the economic aftershocks of the COVID-19 pandemic, the IMF Fiscal Affairs Department issued a series of guidance notes to help staff align the rapidly increasing number of requests for IMF lending with various recovery goals. One such guidance note was titled "Greening the Recovery" that documented various measures that staff could include (for conditional programs) and recommend supporting green recoveries. Analogous to the IMF's discussion of climate change and lending in the IMF Climate Change Strategy, the guidance note outlines how staff can work with host countries to design fiscal consolidation measures consistent with climate policy. By 2023, these types of measures were found in the vast majority of IMF programs, both conditional and nonconditional in nature.

Among the possible measures, the IMF considers that the governments could finance green activities rather than "brown" activities, such as climate-smart infrastructure and technologies, support adaptation, or avoidance of carbon-intensive investments. In addition, governments could raise carbon taxes and eliminate fossil fuel subsidies, in the context of low oil prices and fiscal reallocation needs (IMF 2020a). Table 5.3 provides illustrative examples of various country programs that incorporated these kinds of measures.

Maldonado and Gallagher (2020) developed an index to measure the extent to which these guidelines were incorporated across IMF programs since their inception. On climate and the environment, they find that these types of "green fiscal adjustment measures" began to appear in the majority of program documents after 2021, though more so under conditional programs rather than nonconditional programs.

DEBT SUSTAINABILITY For some member states seeking support from IMF programs, it may be deemed necessary for the member state to enter negotiations with its creditors to have financial assurance that the IMF program will be workable. Here, the IMF has made some

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fisca Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

## TABLE 5.3 Selected Climate Policies in Traditional IMF-Supported Programs

Country	Program Type	Recommendation and/or Conditionality
El Salvador	RFI	Increase excise duties on petrol and diesel.
Costa Rica	RFI	Increase excise duties on petrol and diesel, set environmental taxes.
Georgia	EFF	Implement law on energy efficiency and energy performance to further support energy savings and competition in the energy market.
Bahamas	RFI	Balance fiscal adjustments to maintain investment in natural disaster preparedness, and introduce hurricane insurance.
Egypt	SBA	Impose a green fee on the consumption of gasoline and diesel products.
Mauritania	ECF	Increase fiscal buffers for natural disaster related contingencies.
Ecuador	EFF	Shift from fuel subsidies to social assistance.
Afghanistan	ECF	Create fiscal space for climate change mitigation policies (e.g. investment in drought-resistant crops, irrigation, storage, etc.).
Barbados	EFF	Improve the disaster resilience of construction under the 'roofs to reefs' program.
Tonga	RCF	Invest in climate-resilient infrastructure.
Costa Rica	EFF	Staff conditions authorities to develop a roadmap to enhance infrastructure resilience to climate change, including cost assessment and financing options.
Madagascar	ECF	Reallocate fiscal spending to finance recovery work and appeal to donors for post-disaster financing.
Chad	ECF	Seek donor support for mitigation and adaptation measures.
Moldova	ECF & EFF	Diversify the economy from climate vulnerable activity and improve competitiveness via structural reforms.
Nepal	ECF	Implement an action plan to improve public investment management that strengthens climate resilience and recommends building fiscal and reserve buffers for climate shocks.

Source: Compiled by authors.

**Note:** RFI = Rapid Finance Instrument; EFF = Extended Fund Facility; SBA = Stand-by Arrangement; ECF = Extended Credit Facility; RCF = Rapid Credit Facility.

progress as well. It has boosted resources for its CCRT, introduced State-Contingent Debt Instruments in the restructuring of debt in some climate-vulnerable countries, and pledged to introduce a debt-for-climate instrument and to better align DSAs with climate considerations.

THE CCRT The CCRT provides grants to the poorest and most vulnerable countries struck by catastrophic natural or public health shocks. It is open to a subset of PRGT countries — those with a per capital income below the IDA threshold and for small states with a population of less than 1.5 million and a per capita income below twice the IDA threshold (roughly \$2,410). The CCRT was triggered in response to the Ebola pandemic with finances left over from the Multilateral Debt Relief Initiative, and in March 2020, the IMF sought new donations to the CCRT to help countries respond to the COVID-19 pandemic. From April 2020 to December 2021, the IMF raised an upwards of \$964 million (SDR 690 million) toward this effort. Member states were allowed to apply for CCRT funds to service their IMF debts through April 13 of 2022 (IMF 2021c). While these applications were not explicitly discussed in the guidance

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force or Climate, Development and The International Monetar<u>y Fund</u>

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan

Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects

5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References



## FIGURE 5.1 Climate Vulnerability and Catastrophe Containment and Relief Trust Disbursements, 2020-2022

Source: Authors' calculations.

note on the IMF Climate Change Strategy, member states can apply for CCRT funds to help buttress from climate shocks. Figure 5.1 exhibits how CCRT relief recipients are among the more climate vulnerable in the world economy.

Between 2020 and 2022, 34 countries were eligible, and 31 took advantage of the CCRT; the others did not have standing or outstanding IMF programs. Table 5.4 exhibits the 31 countries that were beneficiaries of the CCRT during the COVID-19 CCRT period. Financing was delivered in five different tranches. Members quickly applied for the CCRT, but the IMF was only able to provide financing in tranches as they were made available through donations from other member states.

STATE-CONTINGENT DEBT INSTRUMENTS In the IMF Climate Change Strategy, the IMF notes how state-contingent debt instruments may play a larger role in how climate-vulnerable countries restructure their debts. Moreover, since the IMF Climate Change Strategy has been in place, the IMF has pledged to link debt distress and climate change through other instruments.

Before the IMF Climate Change Strategy, IMF members included natural disaster clauses in new bonds that resulted from restructurings with creditors, first in Grenada and then in Barbados. During Grenada's 2015 debt restructuring, hurricane clauses were included in the contracts that allow debt service to be automatically reprofiled in the event of a hurricane and other specific types of natural disasters. Grenada would not have to pay out debt service for one year to private bondholders, Taiwan and the Paris Club (IMF 2022d). Barbados included a broader natural disaster clause in its 2018-2019 debt restructuring for both hurricanes and other natural disasters and suspends payments for two years if the damages are significant (IMF 2020b). The IMF was initially very resistant to including these clauses in the two restructurings but has noted and embraced them in the IMF Climate Change Strategy (Lustgarten 2022).

## **TABLE 5.4** Recipients of CCRT Debt Relief, 2020-2022

		1st Tranche	2nd Tranche	3rd Tranche	4th Tranche	5th Tranche	Total
	Country	SDR Amount Million					
1	Afghanistan	2.40	2.40	2.40	-	-	7.20
3	Burkina Faso	8.74	10.30	9.65	10.61	0.26	39.54
4	Burundi	5.48	4.82	4.16	-	3.50	17.96
5	Central African Republic	2.96	2.92	2.92	1.53	2.65	12.98
6	Chad	-	2.00	4.06	4.06	-	10.12
7	Comoros	0.97	0.81	0.65	0.64	0.02	3.09
8	Democratic Republic of Congo	14.85	9.90	4.95	-	-	29.70
9	Djibouti	1.69	1.69	1.40	0.62	0.62	6.03
10	Ethiopia	8.56	4.50	0.47	0.24	0.24	14.01
11	Gambia	2.10	2.10	1.87	1.09	0.78	7.93
12	Guinea	16.37	16.37	18.21	1.84	16.37	69.16
13	Guinea Bissau	1.08	1.36	1.12	0.60	0.28	4.44
14	Haiti	4.10	3.98	3.98	0.87	2.29	15.21
15	Kyrgyz				8.88	0.31	9.19
16	Lesotho				3.21	0.63	3.84
17	Liberia	11.63	11.19	11.48	3.10	7.94	45.34
18	Madagascar	3.06	3.06	6.11	6.11	3.14	21.47
19	Malawi	7.20	7.20	7.81	6.72	3.91	32.84
20	Mali	7.30	7.50	7.70	5.70	1.80	30.00
21	Mozambique	10.89	9.47	9.47	9.47	-	39.29
22	Nepal	2.85	3.57	3.57	-	3.57	13.55
23	Niger	5.64	5.64	9.54	5.03	5.75	31.60
24	Rwanda	8.01	12.02	14.02	8.01	8.01	50.06
25	São Tomé and Príncipe	0.11	0.17	0.17	0.14	0.10	0.70
26	Sierra Leone	13.36	12.22	15.11	6.00	11.55	58.25
27	Solomon Islands	0.06	0.07	0.10	0.06	0.04	0.34
28	Tajikistan	7.83	5.22	3.91	1.30	1.30	19.57
29	Tanzania	10.28	8.29	-	-	-	18.57
30	Togo	3.74	2.31	0.88	-	_	6.93
31	Yemen	14.44	10.96	17.05	-	4.88	47.33
	TOTAL	183.11	168.40	168.07	87.94	82.05	689.58

**Source:** Compiled by authors using IMF (2021c).

**Note:** SDR = Special Drawing Right.
DEBT-FOR-CLIMATE SWAPS VERSUS CLIMATE-LINKED DEBT RESTRUCTURING In April 2021, Managing Director Georgieva pledged that the IMF would develop an instrument that would link debt relief and climate action. Georgieva said, "When we are faced with this dual crisis — the debt pressures on countries and the climate crisis, to which many low-income countries are highly, highly vulnerable — it makes sense to seek this unity of purpose... In other words, green debt swaps have the potential to contribute to climate finance. They have the potential to facilitate accelerated action in developing countries" (Shalal 2021). The proposed instrument by the IMF was slated for unveiling at the 26<sup>th</sup> UN Climate Change Conference (COP26) in November of 2021 but has been delayed.

In July 2021, Georgieva and her senior staff convened a number of outside experts in academia and in think tanks, including presentations by Task Force members, to discuss various options for linking debt relief and climate change as the IMF develops its instrument. As a result of that workshop, the IMF released a working paper on debt-for-climate swaps where the IMF weighed the various types of debt-for-climate linkages that have been proposed by these various actors (Chamon et al. 2022). The two means to link debt and climate that the fund considers are so called debt-for-climate swaps and explicitly linking debt restructuring to climate goals.

Debt-for-climate swaps, like their antecedents in debt-for-nature swaps, are typically an arrangement whereby a sovereign government and a single creditor engage in debt relief, often involving third-party financing, conditioned on the sovereign making climate-friendly investments or policy reforms. A recent example is the 2021 debt swap between Belize and commercial creditors. In general, the IMF expresses concern that these kinds of debt-for-climate swaps only involve one creditor class and may not restore a country to debt sustainability overall. Rather, the IMF paper points out that concessional loans and grants for specific projects may be more efficient ways to finance climate investments but acknowledges that such opportunities continue to be scarce in many countries (Chamon et al. 2022). That said, the IMF surmises that these swaps can be useful if the amount of the necessary climate investment is smaller than the amount of the debt relief and if the investments are contracted to be senior to other debt service payments that a sovereign must make.

The other option the IMF evaluated in the paper is to link comprehensive debt restructuring with climate and development action. The paper sees this option as more favorable on efficiency grounds and in its ability to bring a country back to debt sustainability and mobilize more resources for action. This broader option involves a country renegotiating its debt with all of its creditors so that the country can restore debt sustainability and then use some of the new fiscal space, new grants and loans to support climate-friendly investments. It can also involve directly linking debt restructuring with climate action. The paper prefers the first option — first restructuring debt and then using new fiscal space and a return to markets for climate action. However, the IMF recognizes that in cases where climate investments reduce sovereign risk, the two could be combined. The example that the IMF paper uses to illustrate this point is when Caribbean states invest in climate adaptation, such investments reduce sovereign risk by reducing the impact of climate change on their economies (Chamon et al. 2022).

Designed in the right way, the IMF paper concludes that linking debt restructuring and climate investment in these alternative ways is superior to debt swaps because this avenue involves all creditors, brings the country back to debt sustainability and generates more finances than debt for climate swaps. It also notes that in contrast to debt swaps that resulted in \$2.6 billion

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

- Executive Summary
- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fisca Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

in debt relief, the debt restructurings in the 1990s led to \$65 billion (which in today's dollars would be roughly \$125 billion). The debt restructurings in the 1990s were successful in bringing the most reluctant creditors to the table by guaranteeing the newly discounted bonds after the restructuring. Private sector creditors were more apt to come to the table if they knew that they would be guaranteed to receive the payments from the new bonds. Such a Brady bond-like scheme is at the heart of one of the proposals considered at Georgieva's colloquium and was endorsed by the 54 finance ministers of the V20 (DRGR 2021).

When a country needs to enter into debt restructuring, a DSA is performed to examine pathways that can return the member state to debt sustainability and set the parameters for the composition and scale of debt restructuring that is needed between the member state and its creditors. As discussed earlier in this report, the IMF has agreed to integrate climate change into DSAs and has explicitly laid out those contours in the 2021 CSR and the IMF Climate Change Strategy. As discussed in Chapter 4, the IMF has been experimenting with incorporating climate concerns in DSAs as part of the surveillance function.

## TASK FORCE ANALYSIS OF THE IMF TOOLKIT AND CLIMATE CHANGE

The IMF is the most appropriate multilateral institution to serve as the frontline response to climate shocks, especially where those shocks impact balance of payments, fiscal stability and growth trajectories. The last section discussed how the IMF has made unprecedented strides to incorporate climate change into the IMF lending toolkit; this section shows that the IMF's efforts remain inconsistent with the Paris Agreement. The lending apparatus of the IMF is not at the necessary scale of activity, the eligibility of IMF lending programs does not adequately reflect climate vulnerability, and the design of most of IMF lending is not conducive to building low-carbon, climate-resilient growth paths.

# Lack of Scale for Climate Shocks and the Longer-Term Structural Balance of Payments Problem

The IMF Climate Change Strategy does not acknowledge the nature of how climate change and climate change policy will create an increased need for IMF resources. Climate change itself, and transition spillovers, create a vicious cycle for many IMF members. When these risks accumulate, or come in the form of a shock (such as a hurricane in a small island developing state that wipes out major balance of payment-generating components of the capital stock), a country falls victim to capital flight, falling exchange rates and rising cost of capital for rescue and rehabilitation at exactly the time when resources need to be mobilized and external debt needs to be serviced (Kling et al. 2021; United Nations Conference on Trade and Development 2022). This often leads to the need for emergency balance of payments support from the IMF.

For example, in two Task Force working papers, Asafu-Adjaye et al. (2022a,b) find that a 1.8 C rise in temperatures leads to a 2 percentage point decline in GDP growth in Africa, which in turn directly increases budget deficits and could increase debt burdens by 2.4 times. Other Task Force work shows that climate change is itself a source of macro-instability along with climate change policies through transition spillover risks. Titelman et al. (2022)'s Task Force paper on the fiscal impacts of net-zero climate policies pursued in Latin America and the Caribbean would amount to severe public revenue losses and explode public debt by 2050. Gourdel and Monasterolo (2022) model how Barbados faces a significant reduction in growth

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

potential due to transition spillovers in the form of less tourism as prices for airfare increase and the country suffers from further climate shocks.

Increases in a member state's climate vulnerability level increases the likelihood that it will request IMF resources. Figure 5.2 presents the plotted results of a probit analysis conducted for this assessment. Analyzing data from 2010 to 2022, we examine the likelihood of needing an IMF program as a country becomes more climate vulnerable. For this analysis, the dependent variable is whether a country requests a program (0,1), and the key independent variable is a country's annual climate vulnerability score. We control for income level and the size of the current account surplus deficit as a percentage of GDP. As one would expect, increases in income and increases in current account surpluses are negatively correlated with the likelihood of requesting an IMF program and are statistically significant. Independent of those drivers, however, we find that increases in climate vulnerability are positively associated with the likelihood of requesting an IMF program and are statistically significant. The IMF will thus need to develop ways to take climate vulnerability into account in its exercises to estimate the "adequacy of fund resources" moving forward.

## Resilience and Sustainability Facility: Too Few Resources, Too Much Stigma

The most unprecedented and welcomed new part of the IMF lending toolkit was the establishment of the RST and the subsequent RSF. The Task Force published two policy briefs on the RST during the period it was still being debated (Task Force 2021b, 2022) and identified a number of limitations in earlier proposals, some of which were addressed in the final decision. Still, some significant limitations remain, especially pertaining to eligibility requirements, terms and conditionalities, and scale.



FIGURE 5.2 Climate Vulnerability and Demand for IMF Resources

## Source: Maldonado and Gallagher (2023).

Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fisca Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Access to the RSF has eligibility requirements that will hinder its use and success. The most concerning eligibility requirement is the need for a pre-existing IMF program. Figures 5.3 and 5.4 illustrate whether countries facing high transition risks or climate vulnerability have IMF programs. Because of the multiple crises facing developing countries, such a requirement is problematic for several reasons. First, because of the record and resulting stigma of traditional IMF-supported programs, many countries have vowed to never draw on those facilities and would thus implicitly not have access to the RSF. Second, many countries may not have a balance of payments problem in the short term, but precisely because they may have a structural balance of payments problem over the next decades is why they would need an RSF without a concurrent program.

Since those countries have no need for balance of payments support in the short term, why should they enter into short-term agreements to access longer-run financing? At the time of this writing, countries such as Nigeria and Indonesia are exhibiting few balance of payments difficulties precisely because they are exporting significant amounts of fossil fuels to their trading partners at a time of increased demand for fossil fuels resulting from Russia's war in Ukraine. However, over time, the structure of their balance of payments will be unsustainable due to fossil fuels becoming stranded assets. Indeed, one Task Force technical paper finds that transition spillovers in the form of coal phaseouts in China could have severe impacts on balance of payments and fiscal stability in Indonesia in the longer term (Gourdel, Monasterolo and Gallagher 2022). Similarly, in some (but certainly not all) climate-vulnerable countries, the incidence of climate shocks not been exceptionally large, but as climactic systems break down over time, countries will be more vulnerable to shocks in the future. The RSF was specifically designed to help countries address long-term threats to balance of payments stability - even if they are not threats in the short term. The European Central Bank has demonstrated that the GRA and the PRGT are not intended to address long-term balance of payments issues, so the RCF fills a key gap (European Central Bank 2022). Finally, having to build resilience and address climate when already during an economic crisis is far from optimal. By definition, financial and human resources are more limited, which makes focusing on and financing longer-term resilience more costly and uncertain.

The terms and conditions of RSF programs are also not optimal. The IMF should offer concessional rates because tackling climate change should not overburden developing countries with more debt. Many countries in need of such financing are currently faced with large debt burdens and high debt servicing costs during the most crucial decade of resource mobilization and investment needs. Like the PRGT, the RSF should have highly concessional financing.

Country ownership needs to be the organizing principle for RSF support. Countries have already submitted rounds of NDCs under the Paris Climate Agreement, and they are the clearest articulations of how countries intend to tackle climate change. V20 members have developed more detailed "climate prosperity plans." However, a critical unanswered element is identifying how to mobilize the investment required for each country to achieve these climate objectives. As such, these country-owned proposals should form the basis of RSF support. The IMF can play a role in helping countries elaborate their NDCs in a manner that is compatible with their climate and development aspirations. As discussed further below, the IMF will need to work in coordination with multilateral development bank, like the World Bank and regional development banks, to facilitate resource mobilization and investment in climate resilience. Thus far, in the few RCF programs that the Task Force have been able to analyze, there are good signs of country ownership, though if certain milestones are not met, then additional tranches of RCF financing are not forthcoming as in traditional IMF-supported programs.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

#### FIGURE 5.3 Transition Risks and IMF Programs







#### FIGURE 5.4 Climate Vulnerability and IMF Programs

Source: Ramos, L. (2023); Data source: IMF and World Bank (2023).

9

Finally, the Task Force has stressed the need for an appropriate scale of the RST. As noted earlier in the chapter, the IMF has underestimated the need for the RST at upwards of \$50 billion. This is largely due to the economic modeling approach deployed by the IMF (see Chapter 3 and Task Force 2022). The report of the Independent High-Level Expert Group on Climate Finance (2022) estimates that developing countries will need \$1 trillion per year until 2030. As shown earlier in Table 5.1, the RSF has only received \$40 billion in pledges, and only \$26 billion has materialized. Relatedly, the scale of resources available to countries from the RCF is relatively small, at 150 percent of quota. In many cases countries will need to make very large investments that will last for 40-75 years or more but are held to just a certain percentage of one year of GDP. Finally, it is not clear if the RSF can be used to mobilize other types of financing. The Task Force has recommended using RSF financing to collateralize green bond issuances for countries with fiscal space and to be used as collateral to guarantee new bonds resulting from a restructuring for countries that need debt relief.

## Traditional IMF-Supported Programs: Conditioning Green Fiscal Consolidation

Perhaps the most concerning aspect of the IMF's lending policies has been the adoption of a green fiscal consolidation approach to integrating climate into IMF lending through IMF-supported programs from the GRA and PRGT. While the IMF deserves credit for rapidly incorporating climate into its lending programs, it is clear that it is subordinating climate change to the perceived need for fiscal consolidation. There is strong evidence that consolidation-led IMF programs are inconsistent with economic growth and will thus not help countries begin a low-carbon, climate-resilient and socially inclusive growth path moving forward.

IMF programs have a patchy record in meeting their objectives. Some of the literature has shown that the programs can help address temporary balance of payments problems but often at the expense of social outcomes and economic growth. Traditionally, the IMF's flagship lending programs have tended to condition that countries engage in contractionary monetary and fiscal policies, which has often resulted in a decrease in public investments in alignment with climate change and development and has often resulted in worsening social and environmental outcomes (Kentikelenis and Stubbs 2023). There is also a consensus in the scholarly literature on the limited effectiveness of these conditionalities that is supported by some of the IMF's own research.

Two of the more definitive studies in the academic literature are by Przeworski and Vreeland (2000) and Dreher (2006). Przeworski and Vreeland find that taking part in an IMF program lowers growth rates for the duration of time the country is in a program. When a country leaves an IMF program, it grows faster than if it had remained but not faster than it would have without participating. In another comprehensive econometric analysis, Dreher (2006) concludes that "as has been shown in several studies, with respect to this objective (growth), IMF programs are a failure. This paper provides further evidence." Some of the IMF's own research is consistent with the scholarly literature (IMF 2007, 2019). As Figure 5.5 shows, fiscal consolidation remains the centerpiece of IMF programming, with only 2008 and 2020 as exceptions during the global financial crisis and COVID-19 responses (Ray et al. 2022).

In addition, a large body of research shows that IMF programs are also associated with poor social outcomes such as health indicators, poverty and inequality (Stubbs et al. 2022). There is some evidence that green fiscal consolidation also accentuates social conflict. In two cases where the IMF required a reduction in fossil fuel subsidies. While such policies may be optimal

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References



## FIGURE 5.5 IMF Fiscal Adjustment: Medians and 25th, 75th Percentiles, 2001-2021

Source: Ray et al. (2022). Note: QPC = Quantitative performance criteria

in the intermediate term, the IMF and host countries often did not couple the elimination of fossil fuel with financial support and alternative means of energy access for those most affected from the subsidies (Joos 2018; Monahan 2019; Shellenberger 2022). Recent fossil fuel subsidy reductions in Haiti and Ecuador squeezed the poor to such a point of desperation that massive riots occurred in the capital cities of each country. In Ecuador, rioting was so heightened that the capital city had to be temporarily moved to another location (Monahan 2019).

Deep readings of IMF programs in Argentina, Pakistan, Kenya and Madagascar reveal that green fiscal consolidation is inconsistent in the programs, sending mixed messages to authorities. For example, in Argentina the IMF endorsed some subsidy cuts to help the country transition from depending on fossil fuels while also endorsing private sector investment incentives in shale oil and gas reserves. In Pakistan, researchers found that the IMF required the country to increase taxes in imported electric vehicles, wind turbines and other renewable energy technologies. While the program did include energy subsidy and pricing reforms, these were informed by fiscal rather than climate concerns and contributed to social unrest (Stubbs and Kentikelenis 2022; Kentikelenis and Stubbs 2023).

The goal of IMF surveillance and lending must be to help member states make the proper investments toward low-carbon, carbon-resilient and socially inclusive growth paths. While IMF programs are misaligned with such a mission, some of the IMF's own research suggests that a combination of climate-smart fiscal policy, significant public investment in green industry and infrastructure and social support for a just transition could show another way. In modeling exercises published in the October 2020 *WEO*, the IMF estimates that if nations phased out fossil fuel subsidies, ramped up renewable energy subsidies and invested in sustainable infrastructure and social adjustment for those workers and entrepreneurs in incumbent fossil industries, the global economy would grow by close to 1 percent and create an upwards of 12 million new jobs through 2027 (IMF 2020c). Another paper published in the academic literature by IMF economists also finds that green stimulus measures such as renewable energy and

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fisca Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

sustainable infrastructure have two to seven times the multiplier effect than brown stimulus measures in coal, gas, oil and beyond (Batini et al. 2022). In addition, recent modeling work by the Brookings Institution shows that when recovery packages have a 'big push' where the government implements the kinds of investments suggested in Songwe et al. (2022) they lead to higher growth, income and creditworthiness (Karas and Rivard 2022).

## DEBT RESTRUCTURING AND CLIMATE CHANGE: SOME EXCEPTIONS, NO RULE

The IMF has piloted important experiments through its improvements in the CCRT, the design of natural disaster clauses in debt relief efforts and through changes in DSA policy. There is much room for improvement, however, as these efforts are not at scale and debt relief efforts are exceptions rather than the rule. In this time of growing debt distress, the lack of IMF action on linking debt negotiations and climate change will not only trigger more default but also jeopardize the ability of the world to stabilize the climate system.

## The CCRT

The CCRT is an exceptional instrument that can help climate-vulnerable countries obtain debt relief during a period when they need to be focusing on rescue and recovery. The enhancement of the CCRT from 2020 to 2022 showed it can be an effective and rapid tool. However, it has two limitations: eligibility and lack of scale.

Many of the most climate-vulnerable countries are not eligible for the CCRT. The first column of Table 5.5 shows the 34 countries eligible to receive debt relief for IMF debt in the first column and the countries with similarly high climate vulnerability scores in the second column. With few exceptions, the ineligible countries are relatively small low-income countries and low- and middle-income countries that are highly indebted and highly climate vulnerable but are excluded from the CCRT. The CCRT also needs to be scaled up to match the needs. At short of \$1 billion, the CCRT lacks the firepower to help those countries most in need of debt relief.

## Debt Restructuring and DSAs

The IMF has made some positive steps but has only just begun to act on how to incorporate climate concerns into debt restructuring. Developing nations must work to mobilize upwards of \$1 trillion per year in order to meet development and climate goals or face economic and social costs that will far outweigh such investments (Songwe et al. 2022). In the current environment, many of these countries do not have the fiscal space nor the ability to externally borrow in a stable manner to meet these needs. A concerted effort of new financing, concessional finance and debt relief is urgent for the global economy, and the IMF needs to take the lead on linking debt and climate change. Given that the underlying IMF Climate Change Strategy has largely overlooked the need for massive resource mobilization and the IMF's role in such activity, it is difficult for the IMF to articulate a full-fledged approach to debt distress and climate change. On debt, it has started to incorporate climate into surveillance DSAs, has not mainstreamed natural disaster clauses and has been significantly delayed in introducing climate change to debt restructuring (Kraemer and Volz 2022).

Maldonado and Gallagher (2022) recently published a Task Force paper showing that the IMF toolkit is well equipped to address both the dynamics between external debt sustainability and

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

TABLE 5.5 Mar	iy Climate V	/ulnerable (	Countries Not	Eligible for	Catastrophe	Containment	and Relief Trus	st
---------------	--------------	--------------	---------------	--------------	-------------	-------------	-----------------	----

CCRT Eligib	le	Not CCR	T Eligible
Country	Vulnerability Index	Country	Vulnerability Index
Niger	0.67	Sudan	0.62
Somalia	0.67	Micronesia	0.58
Guinea-Bissau	0.66	Tonga	0.58
Chad	0.66	Mauritania	0.57
Liberia	0.60	Zimbabwe	0.55
Mali	0.60	Vanuatu	0.55
Central African Republic	0.59	Bangladesh	0.54
Eritrea	0.59	Papua New Guinea	0.54
Democratic Republic of Congo	0.59	Senegal	0.53
Rwanda	0.59	Myanmar	0.53
Uganda	0.58	Pakistan	0.53
Afghanistan	0.58	Laos	0.53
Benin	0.57	Kenya	0.53
Solomon Islands	0.57	Maldives	0.52
Ethiopia	0.56	Congo	0.52
Sierra Leone	0.56	Zambia	0.52
Madagascar	0.56	Bhutan	0.52
Yemen	0.56	Swaziland	0.52
Burundi	0.56	Cote d'Ivoire	0.51
Malawi	0.55	Cambodia	0.51
Burkina Faso	0.55	India	0.51
Gambia	0.55	Angola	0.51
Guinea	0.53	Nigeria	0.50
Haiti	0.53	Samoa	0.49
Comoros	0.53	Viet Nam	0.48
São Tomé and Príncipe	0.53	Cameroon	0.48
Togo	0.52	Sri Lanka	0.48
Nepal	0.52	Antigua and Barbuda	0.48
Tanzania	0.52	Namibia	0.47
Mozambique	0.52	Ghana	0.47
Timor-Leste	0.50	Seychelles	0.47
Lesotho	0.48	Botswana	0.47
Djibouti	0.48	Syrian Arab Republic	0.47
Tajikistan	0.41	Philippines	0.46
Kyrgyz Republic	0.35	Honduras	0.46
South Sudan	N/A	Bolivia	0.46

Acknowledgements

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilatera Surveillance: Fisca Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

Annex

 ${\bf Source:}$  Authors' calculations based on IMF (2021c) and ND-GAIN.

**Note:** Kyrgyz Republic and Lesotho gained eligibility in October 2021 and Afghanistan lost eligibility due to the government's lack of international recognition in 2021.

Abbreviations

<sup>1</sup> Introduction

Reference

climate change. Using the IMF's modeling framework, the authors introduce climate shocks to Colombia and Peru, along with the interest rate shock that occurs and the subsequent increased fiscal outlays needed to mitigate the shock. Furthermore, the authors introduce the resource mobilization needed to transition to low-carbon and resilient economies. The data needs for such analyses are intensive but not insurmountable. Some of the early DSAs after the CSR have begun to introduce climate shocks but do not incorporate resource mobilization needs.

For the more climate-vulnerable nations, new loans and restructured bonds should have clauses to suspend payments during climate shocks. While the IMF Climate Change Strategy notes how the IMF had endorsed natural disaster clauses, those restructurings were before the recent wave of debt distress brought on by the multiple crises facing developing countries. In the numerous restructurings that the IMF has been involved in since the COVID-19 crisis began, the IMF has not been involved in incorporating disaster clauses into new bonds, nor has it seriously incorporated climate change into the DSAs that form the basis of restructuring negotiations and subsequent IMF financial programs. As nations try to mobilize resources for development and climate change amid the increasingly uncertain world of natural disaster, clauses with Grenada and Barbados have been hailed as important innovations but have remained the exception rather than the rule. Indeed, in the cases of Ecuador, Lebanon, Sri Lanka and Zambia, each of these countries has had a higher climate vulnerability score than Grenada or Barbados but has not had disaster clauses introduced in their restructurings as of this writing.

There is an urgent need for the IMF to articulate a strategy and instrumentation for addressing debt distress and climate change. Its announcement of creating such an instrument in 2020 was very welcome, and the 2022 IMF working paper (Chamon et al. 2022) makes strides in what the contours should look like. Yet, the number of countries in debt distress - even without the proper consideration of the incidence of climate shocks and resource mobilization needs — is at an alarmingly high rate. The IMF paper shows that the Fund is going in the right direction in that it is better to link climate change to full-fledged restructuring rather than through bilateral debt for climate swaps. That way, countries can return to debt sustainability and chart a path to climate-resilient growth. The IMF suggests that in so doing it is more appropriate to restructure a nation's debt first and then address climate needs with new fiscal space. The one exception is linking restructuring with adaptation investments given that adaptation financing reduces sovereign risk. In a policy brief on the RST, the Task Force noted literature that finds that investments in low-carbon transitions also reduce sovereign risk by creating growth and reducing transition risks (Task Force 2022). Task Force members also documented the diverse number of creditors that climate-vulnerable nations in debt distress now face (Ramos et al. 2022). Brady bond-like arrangements that guarantee new bonds after restructurings to enhance creditor participation that also explicitly link the new bonds with climate action have been acknowledged by the IMF to help with creditor participation, bringing the country to debt sustainability, and with addressing climate change (Chamon et al. 2022; Volz et al. 2021).

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

## CONCLUSION

The last eight years were the hottest years on record. Developing countries face the economic and social impacts of these increasing temperatures at a time when many are at an alarming level of debt distress, and still others lack the fiscal space to respond to shocks and mobilize the proper resources to invest in a just transition. It is imperative that the IMF build on the more positive elements of its reforms at scale and with the utmost urgency. Below, the Task Force advances several reforms needed to align the IMF lending toolkit with a development-led trajectory for addressing the macro-critical aspects of climate change:

## **Traditional IMF-Supported Programs**

- Assess climate-related needs for both responding to shocks and mobilizing resources for transitions — in exercises to determine the "adequacy of fund resources," and use such analyses to increase the scale of IMF programming through quota-based increases and new issuances of SDRs.
- Reform program design to make IMF programs consistent with Article 2.1(c) of the Paris Climate Agreement, which entails abandoning green fiscal consolidation and the associated conditionalities for an investment-led recovery path.

## **Resilience and Sustainability Facility**

- Scale the RSF to meet the balance of payments related to the financing needs of climate-vulnerable countries.
- Expand the use of the RSF to be used as collateral for new green bonds or for restructured bonds connected to green and inclusive recoveries.
- Broaden the eligibility requirements to include all climate-vulnerable countries regardless
  of income level and make RSF financing concessional through the establishment of a
  PRGT-like subsidy fund.
- Eliminate the requirement that an RSF recipient must have an existing IMF-supported program, at least for those countries that do not need short term help but have longer-term structural balance of payments problems due to climate change and climate policy.
- Enshrine country ownership in RSF programs, especially through supporting and ring fencing NDCs and climate prosperity plans.

## **Debt Distress and Climate Change**

- Scale the CCRT and expand eligibility to a broader set of climate-vulnerable countries.
- Reform DSAs to incorporate climate shocks and resource mobilization needs, and then use these DSAs as a basis for debt negotiations.
- Incorporate disaster clauses into all IMF lending instruments to climate-vulnerable countries, especially in renegotiated bonds, with pari passu clauses.
- Use funding from the RSF to serve as collateral and credit enhancement for newly issued green bonds when countries have fiscal space and in Brady bond-like arrangements as collateral for newly restructured bond issuances with climate characteristics.

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

## LOOKING FORWARD

This is a critical moment for unprecedented global collaboration to usher in green transitions that are as just as they are swift. The IMF has made substantial strides to begin streamlining climate change into its operations, but more work is ahead to ensure this approach is development-centered.

The Task Force looks forward to continuing this conversation with IMF member governments, management and staff, and the multitude of stakeholders working to align the financial system with climate and development goals.

To stay up to date and learn more at gdpcenter.org/TaskForce.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force or Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillanc

- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

## References

## **CHAPTER 1**

Armstrong McKay, D.I., Staal, A., Abrams, J.F., Winkelmann, R., Sakschewski, B., Loriani, S., Fetzer, I., Cornell, S.E., Rockström, J., Lenton, T.M. (2022) Exceeding 1.5°C global warming could trigger multiple climate tipping points. *Science* 377: eabn7950. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abn7950.

Baarsch, F., Awal, I., Schaeffer, M. (2022) Climate vulnerable economies: loss report. Economic losses attributable to climate change in V20 economies over the last two decades (2000-2019). V20. https://www.v-20.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Climate-Vulnerable-Economies-Loss-Report\_June-14\_compressed-1.pdf.

Bank for International Settlements. (2021) Climate-related risk drivers and their transmission channels. https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d517.pdf.

Battiston, S., Mandel, A., Monasterolo, I., Schütze, F., Visentin, G. (2017) A climate stresstest of the financial system. *Nature Climate Change* 7: 283–288. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3255.

Black, S., Chateau, J., Jaumotte, F., Parry, I., Schwerhoff, G., Thube, S., Zhunussova, K. (2022) Getting on track to net zero: accelerating a global just transition in this decade. IMF Staff Climate Note no. 2022/010. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/staff-climate-notes/ Issues/2022/10/31/Getting-on-Track-to-Net-Zero-Accelerating-a-Global-Just-Transition-in-This-Decade-525242.

Chamon, M., Klok, E., Thakoor, V.V., Zettelmeyer, J. (2022) Debt-for-climate swaps: analysis, design, and implementation. IMF working paper no. 2022/162. https://www.imf.org/en/ Publications/WP/Issues/2022/08/11/Debt-for-Climate-Swaps-Analysis-Design-and-Implementation-522184.

Egli, F., Steffen, B., Schmidt, T.S. (2018) A dynamic analysis of financing conditions for renewable energy technologies. *Nature Energy* 3: 1084–1092. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-018-0277-y.

G20. (2021) G20 Rome leaders' declaration. https://www.banque-france.fr/sites/default/files/media/2022/01/10/communique-g20-rome-declaration-octobre-2021.pdf.

He, X., Zhai, F., Ma, J. (2022) Global impact of carbon border adjustment mechanism: a quantitative assessment. Working paper. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

International Monetary Fund. (2019) Building resilience to countries vulnerable to large natural disasters. IMF Policy Paper no. 2019/020. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Policy-Papers/Issues/2019/06/24/Building-Resilience-in-Developing-Countries-Vulnerable-to-Large-Natural-Disasters-47020.

International Monetary Fund. (2021a) 2021 comprehensive surveillancereview: background paper on the surveillance priority preempting and mitigating spillovers. IMF Policy Paper no. 2021/030. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Policy-Papers/Issues/2021/05/18/2021-Comprehensive-Surveillance-Review-Background-Paper-on-The-Surveillance-Priority-460297.

International Monetary Fund. (2021b) 2021 comprehensive surveillance review: overview. IMF Policy Paper no. 2021/027. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Policy-Papers/ Issues/2021/05/18/2021-Comprehensive-Surveillance-Review-Overview-Paper-460270.

International Monetary Fund. (2021c) IMF governors approve a historic US\$650 billion SDR allocation of Special Drawing Rights. https://www.imf.org/en/News/Articles/2021/07/30/pr21235-imf-governors-approve-a-historic-us-650-billion-sdr-allocation-of-special-drawing-rights.

International Monetary Fund. (2021d) Reaching net zero emissions. IMF report to the G20. https://www.imf.org/external/np/g20/pdf/2021/062221.pdf.

International Monetary Fund. (2021e) IMF strategy to help members address climate change related policy challenges: priorities, modes of delivery, and budget implications. IMF Policy Paper no. 2021/057. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Policy-Papers/Issues/2021/07/30/IMF-Strategy-to-Help-Members-Address-Climate-Change-Related-Policy-Challenges-Priorities-463093.

International Monetary Fund. (2022a) Crisis upon crisis: IMF annual report 2022. https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/ar/2022/downloads/imf-annual-report-2022-english.pdf.

International Monetary Fund. (2022b) Proposal to establish a Resilience and Sustainability Trust. IMF Policy Paper no. 2022/13. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Policy-Papers/ Issues/2022/04/15/Proposal-To-Establish-A-Resilience-and-Sustainability-Trust-516692.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2022a) *Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* Cambridge University Press. 10.1017/9781009157926.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2022b) The evidence is clear: the time for action is now. We can halve emissions by 2030. https://www.ipcc.ch/2022/04/04/ipcc-ar6-wgiii-pressrelease/.

Jensen, L. (2022) Avoiding "too little too late" on international debt relief. UNDP Development Futures Series working paper. https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/2022-11/ UNDP-DFS-Avoiding-Too-Little-Too-Late-on-International-Debt-Relief-V4.pdf.

Karas, H., Rivard, C. (2022) Debt, creditworthiness and climate: a new development dilemma. Brookings Institution: Washington.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan

- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Kinoshita, Y., Aligishiev, Z., Alonso, C., Chen, C., Funke, K., Hosny, A., Kiravaeva, K. et al. (2022) Samoa: technical assistance report — Climate Macroeconomic Assessment Program. IMF Country Report no. 22/83. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/CR/Issues/2022/03/21/ Samoa-Technical-Assistance-Report-Climate-Macroeconomic-Assessment-Program-515505.

Maldonado, F., Gallagher, K.P. (2022) Climate change and IMF debt sustainability analysis. Working paper. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center. https://www.bu.edu/gdp/files/2022/02/ TF\_WP\_005\_FIN.pdf.

Prasad, A., Loukoianova, E., Feng, A., Oman, W. (2022) Mobilizing private climate financing in emerging market developing economies. IMF Staff Climate Note no. 2022/007. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/staff-climate-notes/Issues/2022/07/26/Mobilizing-Private-Climate-Financing-in-Emerging-Market-and-Developing-Economies-520585.

Schmidt, T. S., Steffen, B., Egli, F., Pahle, M., Tietjen, O., and Edenhofer, O. (2019) Adverse effects of rising interest rates on sustainable energy transitions. *Nature Sustainability* 2: 879–885. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0375-2.

Stern, N., Stiglitz, J.E., Taylor, C. (2022) The Economics of immense risk, urgent action and radical change: towards new approaches to the economics of climate change. NBER working paper no. 28472. http://www.nber.org/papers/w28472.

UNECA. (2023) The IMF & The Future of the Global Financial Architecture. UN Economic Commission for Africa.

World Bank Group. (2022) Climate Change and Development: An Agenda for Action. https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/climatechange/publication/climate-and-development-an-agenda-for-action.

World Bank Group. (2023) The Big Push for Transformation through Climate and Development - Recommendations of the High-Level Advisory Group on Sustainable Inclusive Recovery and Growth. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.

## CHAPTER 2

Ahluwalia, M.S., Patel, U. (2022) Climate change policies for developing countries. Centre for Social and Economic Progress working paper no. 23.

Aligishiev, Z., Bellon, M., Massetti, M. (2022) Macro-fiscal implications of adaptation to climate change. IMF Staff Climate Note no. 2022/002.

Asafu-Adjaye, J., Ndung'u, N., Shimeles, A. (2022) Climate change risks and consequences on growth and debt sustainability in Africa. Working paper. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

Ball, I.R., Possingham, H.P., Watts, M.E. (2009) "Marxan and relatives: software for spatial conservation prioritization" in *Spatial Conservation Prioritization: Quantitative Methods and Computational Tools*, A. Moilanen, K.A. Wilson, H.P. Possingham (Eds.). Oxford University Press.

Bhattacharya, A., Dooley, M., Kharas, H., Taylor, C., Stern, N. (2022) Financing a big investment push in emerging markets and developing economies for sustainable, resilient and inclusive

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

#### References

recovery and growth. Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment, London School of Economics and Political Science, and Brookings Institution.

Bhattacharya, A., Ivanyna, M., Oman, W., Stern, N. (2021) Climate action to unlock the inclusive growth story of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. IMF working paper no. 21/147.

Beirne, J., Renzhi, N., Volz, U. (2021) Feeling the heat: climate risks and the cost of sovereign borrowing. *International Review of Economics and Finance* 76: 920–936.

Black, S., Minnett, D., Parry, I., Roaf, J., Zhunussova, K. (2022a) A framework for comparing climate mitigation effort across countries. IMF working paper no. 22/254.

Black, S., Chateau, J., Jaumotte, F., Parry, I., Schwerhoff, G., Thube, S., Zhunussova, K. (2022b) Getting on track to net zero: accelerating a global just transition in this decade. IMF Staff Climate Note 2022/010.

Black, S., Parry, I., Roaf, J., Zhunussova, K. (2021) Not yet on track to net zero: the urgent need for greater ambition and policy action to achieve Paris temperature goals. IMF Staff Climate Note no. 2021/005.

Bolton, P., Buchheit, L., Gulati, M., Panizza, U., di Mauro, B.W., Zettelmeyer, J. (2022) Geneva 25: climate and debt. CEPR Press.

Buchner, B., Clark, A., Falconer, A., Macquarie, R., Meattle, C., Tolentino, R., Wetherbee, C. (2019) Global landscape of climate finance. Climate Policy Initiative.

Cevik, S., Jalles, J.T. (2020) This changes everything: climate shocks and sovereign bonds. IMF working paper no. 2020/079.

Chamon, M., Klok, E., Thakoor, V., Zettelmeyer, J. (2022) Debt-for-climate swaps: analysis, design, and implementation. IMF working paper no. 2022/162.

Chateau, J., Jaumotte, F., Schwerhoff, G. (2022a) Economic and environmental benefits from international cooperation on climate policies. IMF departmental paper no. 2022/007.

Chateau, J., Jaumotte, F., Schwerhoff, G. (2022b) Climate policy options: a comparison of economic performance. IMF working paper no. 2022/242.

Chen, J., Chepeliev, M., Garcia-Macia, D., Iakova, D., Roaf, J., Shabunina, A., Van der Mensbrugghe, D., Wingender, P. (2020) EU climate mitigation policy. IMF Policy Paper no. 20/13.

Chmielewska, A., Sławiński, A. (2021) Climate crisis, central banks and the IMF reform. Economics and Business Review 21: 7-27. https://doi.org/10.18559/ebr.2021.4.2.

Cohen, C.S. Abbas, A., Anthony, M., Best, T., Breuer, P., Miao, H., Myrvoda, A., Togo, E. (2020) The role of state-contingent debt instruments in sovereign debt restructurings. IMF staff discussion note no. SDN/20/06.

Ferreira, C., Rozumek, D.L., Singh, R., Suntheim, F. (2021) Strengthening the climate information architecture. IMF staff climate note no. 2021/003. International Monetary Fund.

Finon, D. (2019) Carbon policy in developing countries: giving priority to non-price instruments. *Energy Policy* 132: 38–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2019.04.046.

Gallagher, K., Maldonado, F. (2022) Climate change and IMF debt sustainability analysis. Working paper. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland

3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Gourdel, R., Monasterolo, I. (2022) Climate physical risks, transition spillovers and fiscal stability. Working paper. Task Force on Climate Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

Gourdel, R., Monasterolo, I., Gallagher, K. (2022) Climate transition spillovers and sovereign risk: evidence from Indonesia. Working paper. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

He, X., Fan, Z., Jun, M. (2022a) The global impact of a carbon border adjustment mechanism: a quantitative assessment. Working paper. Task Force for Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

He, X., Fan, Z., Jun, M. (2022b) An analysis of the IMF's international carbon price floor proposal. Working paper. Task Force for Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

International Monetary Fund. (2019) Building resilience in developing countries vulnerable to large natural disasters. IMF Policy Paper no. 2019/020.

International Monetary Fund. (2021a) 2021 comprehensive surveillance review—background paper on integrating climate change into Article IV consultations. Policy paper no. 2021/032.

International Monetary Fund. (2021b) G20 background note: reaching net zero emissions. https://www.imf.org/external/np/g20/pdf/2021/062221.pdf.

International Monetary Fund. (2021c) IMF strategy to help members address climate change related policy challenges—priorities, modes of delivery, and budget implications. IMF Policy Paper no. 2021/057.

International Monetary Fund. (2021d) "Global prospects and policies" in *World Economic Out*look: Managing Divergent Recoveries.

International Monetary Fund. (2022a) Managing director Kristalina Georgieva's opening remarks at the World Government Summit. Speech.

International Monetary Fund. (2022b) "Near-term macroeconomic impact of decarbonization policies" in *World Economic Outlook: Countering the Cost-of-Living Crisis*.

International Monetary Fund. (2022c) "Scaling up private climate finance in emerging market and developing economies: challenges and opportunities" in *Global Financial Stability Report* (*GFSR*)—*Navigating the High-Inflation Environment*.

International Monetary Fund. (2022d) "A greener labor market: employment, policies, and economic transformation" in *World Economic Outlook: War Sets Back the Global Recovery.* 

International Monetary Fund. (2022e) "Coordinating taxation across borders" in Fiscal Monitor.

International Monetary Fund. (2022f). "Climate policies and external adjustment" in *External Sector Report*.

International Monetary Fund. (2022g). IMF Fiscal Monitor Country Classification. Fiscal Assumption, Country Fiscal Coverage and Economy Groups. Last updated October 2022

International Monetary Fund, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2022) Delivering climate-change mitigation under diverse national policy approaches: an independent OECD/IMF report to support the German 2022 G7 presidency. https://read.

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

#### **Executive Summary**

#### 1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

## References

oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/delivering-climate-change-mitigation-under-diverse-national-policy-approaches\_20179e63-en#page1.

Keen, M., Parry, I., Roaf, J. (2021) Border carbon adjustments: rationale, design and impact. IMF working paper no. WP/21/239.

Kling, G., Lo, Y.C., Murinde, V., Volz, U. (2018) Climate vulnerability and the cost of debt. Centre for Global Finance working paper.

Mideksa, T.K., Weitzman, M.L. (2019) Prices versus quantities across jurisdictions. *Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists* 6: 883–891.

Orozco, D., Plant, M., Palmer, R. (2021) The IMF's surveillance role and climate change. Center for Global Development (blog post).

Parry, I., Black, S., Roaf, J. (2021) Proposal for an international carbon price floor among large emitters. IMF Staff Climate Note no. 2021/001.

Parry, I., Black, S., Zhunussova, K. (2022) Carbon taxes or emissions trading systems? Instrument choice and design. IMF Staff Climate Note no. 2022/006.

Persaud, A. (2022) Breaking the deadlock on climate: the Bridgetown Initiative. Groupe d'etudes geopolitiques.

Plant, M. (2022) It's time to put global reserves to better use. Center for Global Development (blog post).

Prasad, A., Loukoianova, E., Feng, A.X., Oman, W. (2022) Mobilizing private climate financing in emerging market and developing economies. IMF Staff Climate Note no. 2022/007.

Rajan, R.G. (2021) A global incentive to reduce emissions. Project Syndicate.

Sachs, J. (2021) Fixing climate finance. Project Syndicate.

Sakai, A., Fu, C., Roch, R., Wiriadinata, U. (2022) Sovereign climate debt instruments: an overview of the green and catastrophe bond markets. IMF Staff Climate Note no. 2022/004.

Songwe, V., Stern, N., Bhattacharya, A. (2022) Finance for climate action: scaling up investment for climate and development. Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment and London School of Economics and Political Science.

Stiglitz, J.E. (2019) Addressing climate change through price and non-price interventions. NBER working paper no. 25939.

Stiglitz, J.E., Stern, N. (2017) Report on the high-level commission on carbon prices. World Bank.

Titelman, D., Perez-Benitex, N., Hanni, M., Perez Verdia Canales, C., Saade Hazin, M. (2022) Fiscal impact estimates of a net-zero emissions transition for major hydrocarbon producers in Latin America and the Caribbean. Working paper. Task Force for Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

Truman, E.M. (2022) The IMF should enhance the role of SDRs to strengthen the international monetary system. Peterson Institute for International Economics working paper no. 22-20.

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. (2022) Staying afloat: a policy agenda for climate and debt challenges. COP27 High-Level Event Series background note.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force or Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan

3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Standing Committee on Finance. (2022) Fifth biennial assessment and overview of climate finance flows. https://unfccc.int/ documents/619173.

V20. (2021) V20 statement on opportunities for the Resilience and Sustainability Trust to deliver accelerated support for climate-vulnerable nations. https://www.v-20.org/our-voice/statements/group/v20-statement-on-opportunities-for-the-resilience-and-sustainabili-ty-trust-to-deliver-accelerated-support-for-climate-vulnerable-nations.

V20. (2022) Climate vulnerable economies loss report. https://www.v-20.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Climate-Vulnerable-Economies-Loss-Report\_June-14\_compressed-1.pdf.

Weitzman, M.L. (1974) Prices vs. quantities. Review of Economic Studies 41: 477-491.

Wiegand, J. (2021) Global climate change mitigation, fossil-fuel driven development, and the role of financial and technology transfers: a simple framework. IMF working paper no. 2021/280.

World Bank Group. (2022a) Climate and development: an agenda for action. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/38220/CCDR-SynthesisReport.pdf?sequence=7&isAllowed=y.

World Bank Group. (2022b). World Bank Carbon Pricing Dashboard. ETS and Carbon Taxes. Last updated April 01, 2022.

## CHAPTER 3

Allen, T., Dees, S., Chouard, V., Clerc, L., de Gaye, A., Devulder, A., Diot, S., et al. (2020) Climate-related scenarios for financial stability assessment: an application to France. Banque de France working paper no. 774.

Alogoskoufis, S., Dunz, N., Emambakhsh, T., Hennig, T., Michiel Kaijser, M., Kouratzoglou, C., Muñoz, M.A., Parisi, L., Salleo, C. (2021) ECB economy-wide climate stress-test: methodology and results. Occasional Paper Series no. 281. European Central Bank. https://doi. org/10.2866/460490.

Andaloussi, M.B., Carton, B., Evans, C., Jaumotte, F., Muir, D., Natal, J.-M., Panton, A.J., Voigts, S. (2022) "Near-term macroeconomic impact of decarbonization policies," in *October 2022 World Economic Outlook: Countering the Cost-of-Living Crisis*. International Monetary Fund.

Anderson, D., Hunt, B., Kortelainen, M., Kumhof, M., Laxton, D., Muir, D., Mursula, S., Snudden, S. (2013) Getting to know GIMF: the simulation properties of the Global Integrated Monetary and Fiscal Model. IMF working paper no. WP/13/55.

Andrle, M., Kumhof, M., Laxton, D., Muir, D. (2015) Banks in the Global Integrated Monetary and Fiscal Model. IMF working paper no. WP/15/150.

Aznar-Siguan, G., Bresch, D.N. (2019) CLIMADA V1: a global weather and climate risk assessment platform. *Geoscientific Model Development* 12: 3085–3097. https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-12-3085-2019.

Barrett, P., Bogmans, C., Carton, B., Eugster, J., Jaumotte, F., Mohommad, A., Pugacheva, E., Tavares, M.M., Voigts, S. (2020) "Mitigating climate change: growth- and distribution-friendly strategies," in *World Economic Outlook: A Long and Difficult Ascent*. International Monetary Fund.

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

- 1 Introductior
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

#### References

Batini, N., Di Serio, M., Fragetta, M., Melina, G., and Waldron, A. (2022) Building back better: how big are green spending multipliers?" *Ecological Economics* 193: 107305. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.(2021)107305.

Battiston, S., Mandel, A., Monasterolo, I., Schütze, F., Visentin, G. (2017) A climate stress-test of the financial system. *Nature Climate Change* 7: 283–288. https://doi.org/10.1038/NCLI-MATE3255.

Battiston, S., Monasterolo, I., Riahi, K., van Ruijven, B.J. (2021) Accounting for finance is key for climate mitigation pathways. *Science* 372: 918–920. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abf3877.

Bavandi, A., Berrais, D., Dolk, M., Mahul, O. (2022) Physical climate risk assessment: practical lessons for the development of climate scenarios with extreme weather events from emerging markets and developing economies. Technical document. Network for Greening the Financial System.

Berg, F., Koelbel, J.F., Rigobon, R. (2022) Aggregate confusion: the divergence of ESG ratings. *Review of Finance* 26: 1315–1344. https://doi.org/10.1093/rof/rfac033.

Bertram, C., Hilaire, J., Kriegler, E., Beck, T., Bresch, D.N., Clarke, L., Cui, R., et al. (2021) NGFS Climate Scenario Database: technical documentation. Network for Greening the Financial System.

Bresch, D.N., Aznar-Siguan, G. (2021) CLIMADA V1.4.1: towards a globally consistent adaptation options appraisal tool. *Geoscientific Model Development* 14: 351–363. https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-14-351-2021.

Bressan, G., Duranovic, A., Monasterolo, I., Battiston, S. (2022) Asset-level climate physical risk assessment and cascading financial losses. SSRN working paper. https://ssrn.com/ abstract=4062275.

Buffie, E.F., Zanna, L.-F., Adam, C., Balma, L., Tessema, D., Kpodar, K. (2020). Debt, investment, and growth in developing countries with segmented labor markets. IMF working paper no. WP/20/102.

Chen, J., Chepeliev, M., Garcia-Macia, D., Iakova, D., Roaf, J., Shabunina, A., van der Mensbrugghe, D., Wingender, P. (2020) EU climate mitigation policy. IMF Departmental paper no. 20/13.

Clerc, L., Bontemps-Chanel, A.-L., Diot, S., Overton, G., Soares de Albergaria, S., Vernet, L., Louardi, M. (2021) A first assessment of financial risks stemming from climate change: the main results of the 2020 Climate Pilot Exercise. ACPR Analyses Et Synthèses no. 122-2021.

Dibley, A., Wetzer, T., Hepburn, C. (2021) National COVID debts: climate change imperils countries' ability to repay. *Nature* 592: 184–187.

Dunz, N., Essenfelder, A.H., Mazzocchetti, A., Monasterolo, I., Raberto, M. (2021) Compounding COVID-19 and climate risks: the interplay of banks' lending and government's policy in the shock recovery. *Journal of Banking and Finance* 106306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin. (2021)106306.

Dunz, N., Naqvi, A., Monasterolo, I. (2021) Climate sentiments, transition risk, and financial stability in a stock-flow consistent model. *Journal of Financial Stability* 54. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jfs.(2021)100872.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland

3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

#### References

Galí, J. (2018) The state of new Keynesian economics: a partial assessment. *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 32: 87-112. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.32.3.87.

Gallo, F., Daron, J., Macadam, I., Cinco, T., Villafuerte, M., Buonomo, E., Tucker, S., Hein-Griggs, D., Jones, R.G. (2019) High-resolution regional climate model projections of future tropical cyclone activity in the Philippines. *International Journal of Climatology* 39: 1181–1194. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.5870.

Gourdel, R., Monasterolo, I. (2022) Climate physical risk, transition spillovers and fiscal stability: an application to Barbados. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

Gourdel, R., Monasterolo, I., Gallagher, K.P. (2022) Climate transition spillovers and sovereign risk: evidence from Indonesia. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

Grippa, P., Mann, S. (2020) Climate-related stress testing: transition risks in Norway. IMF working paper no. WP/20/232.

Hallegatte, S., Lipinsky, F., Morales, P., Oura, H., Ranger, N., Jan Regelink, M.G., Jan Reinders, H. (2022) Bank stress testing of physical risks under climate change macro scenarios: typhoon risks to the Philippines. IMF working paper no. WP/22/163.

International Monetary Fund. (2019a) Fiscal Monitor: how to mitigate climate change. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/FM/Issues/2019/09/12/fiscal-monitor-october-2019.

International Monetary Fund. (2019b) The Bahamas Financial Sector Assessment Program: technical note on financial stability and stress testing. IMF Country Report no. 19/202.

International Monetary Fund. (2019c) The economics of climate. Finance and Development 56.

International Monetary Fund. (2021a) 2021 comprehensive surveillance review: background paper on the surveillance priority pre-empting and mitigating spillovers. IMF Policy Paper no. 2021/030.

International Monetary Fund. (2021b) 2021 comprehensive surveillance review: overview paper. IMF Policy Paper no. 2021/027.

International Monetary Fund. (2021c) 2021 comprehensive surveillance review: towards a more stable and sustainable financial system. IMF Policy Paper no. 2021/040.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2021) Climate change 2021: the physical science basis. https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2022) Climate change 2022: mitigation of climate change. https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/.

Kinoshita, Y., Aligishiev, Z., Alonso, Chen, C., Funke, K., Hosny, A., et al. (2020) Samoa Climate Macroeconomic Assessment Program (CMAP). IMF Country Report no. 22/83.

Kruczkiewicz, A., Cian, F., Monasterolo, I., Di Baldassarre, G., Caldas, A., Royz, M., Glasscoe, M., Ranger, N., van Aalst, M. (2022) Multiform flood risk in a rapidly changing world: what we do not do, what we should and why it matters. *Environmental Research Letters* 17: 081001. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac7ed9.

Kumhof, M., Laxton, L., Muir, D., Mursula, S. (2010) The Global Integrated Monetary and Fiscal Model (GIMF): theoretical structure. IMF working paper no. WP/10/34. Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introductior

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance

3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects

5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Liu, W., McKibbin, W.J., Morris, A.C., Wilcoxen, P.J. (2020) Global economic and environmental outcomes of the Paris Agreement. *Energy Economics* 90: 104838. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. eneco.(2020)104838.

Marto, R., Papageorgiou, C., Klyuev, V. (2018) Building resilience to natural disasters: an application to small developing states. *Journal of Development Economics* 135: 574–586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.(2018)08.008.

McKibbin, W.J., Wilcoxen, P.J. (1999) The theoretical and empirical structure of the G-Cubed model. *Economic Modelling* 16: 123–148.

McKibbin, W.J., Wilcoxen, P.J. (2013) "A global approach to energy and the environment: the G-Cubed model," in *Handbook of Computable General Equilibrium Modeling*, P.B. Dixon, D.W. Jorgenson (Eds.). Elsevier.

Monasterolo, I. (2020) Embedding finance in the macroeconomics of climate change: research challenges and opportunities ahead. *CESifo Forum* 21: 25–32.

Monasterolo, I., Mandel, A., Battiston, S., Mazzocchetti, A., Oppermann, K., Coony, J., Stretton, S., Stewart, F., Dunz, N. (2022) The role of green financial sector initiatives in the low-carbon transition: a theory of change. World Bank policy research working paper no. 10181.

Network for Greening the Financial System. (2021) NGFS climate scenarios for central banks and supervisors. https://www.ngfs.net/sites/default/files/medias/documents/ngfs\_climate\_scenarios\_for\_central\_banks\_and\_supervisors\_.pdf.pdf

Palley, T.I. (2002) Endogenous money: what it is and why it matters. *Metroeconomica* 53: 152–180.

Ranger, N., Mahul, O., Monasterolo, I. (2022) Assessing financial risks from physical climate shocks: a framework for scenario generation. International Bank for Reconstruction, World Bank.

Regelink, M.G.J. (2019) Philippines Financial Sector Assessment Programme: climate change and environmental risks and opportunities. Technical note. World Bank Group.

Richters, O., Bertram, C., Kriegler, E., Anz, J., Beck, T., Bresch, D.N., Charles, M., et al. (2021) NGFS Climate Scenario Database: technical documentation V3.1. Network for Greening the Financial System.

Van der Mensbrugghe, D. (2019) The Environmental Impact and Sustainability Applied General Equilibrium (ENVISAGE): version 10.01.

Vermeulen, R., Schets, E., Lohuis, M., Kölbl, B., Jansen, D.-J., Heeringa, W. (2021) The heat is on: a framework for measuring financial stress under disruptive energy transition scenarios. *Ecological Economics* 190: 107205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.(2021)107205.

## **CHAPTER 4**

Bhattacharya, A., Gallagher, K.P., Cabré, M.M., Jeong, M., Ma, X. (2019) Aligning G20 infrastructure investment with climate goals and the 2030 agenda. Foundations Platform F20. https://foundations-20.org/publication/aligning-g20-infrastructure-investment-with-climate-goals-the-2030-agenda/.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland

- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Dwivedi, A., Bhandari, L. (2022) India's energy and fiscal transition. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center. https://rb.gy/nettfj.

European Central Bank. (2022) The role of the IMF in addressing climate change risks. IRC Task Force on IMF and global financial governance issues. Occasional Paper Series no. 309. https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/pdf/scpops/ecb.op309-4a449b41bc.en.pdf.

Farmer, J.D., Hepburn, C., Mealy, P., Teytelboym, A. (2015) A third wave in the economics of climate change. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 62: 329–357. https://www2.econ. iastate.edu/tesfatsi/ThirdWaveEconomicsClimateChange.JDFarmer2015.pdf.

Global Commission on the Economy and Climate. (2014) New Climate

Economy technical note: infrastructure investment needs of a low-carbon scenario. New Climate Economy Project. http://newclimateeconomy.report/2014/wp-content/uploads/ sites/2/2015/01/Infrastructure-investment-needs-of-a-low-carbon-scenario.pdf.

International Monetary Fund. (2016) Small states' resilience to natural disasters and climate change: role for the IMF. IMF Policy Paper. https://rb.gy/6kgwyw.

International Monetary Fund. (2018) Public investment management assessment: review and update. IMF Policy Paper. https://rb.gy/wsggws.

International Monetary Fund. (2021a) 2021 comprehensive surveillance review: background paper on integrating climate change into Article IV consultations. IMF Policy Paper no. 2021/032. https://rb.gy/kvcmli.

International Monetary Fund. (2021b) IMF strategy to help members address climate change related policy challenges: priorities, modes of delivery, and budget implications. IMF Policy Paper no. 2021/057. https://rb.gy/Owuxio.

International Monetary Fund. (2022a) Guidance note for surveillance under Article IV consultations. IMF Policy Paper no. 2022/029. https://rb.gy/9ovx7f.

International Monetary Fund. (2022b) Georgia: technical assistance report: updating the balance sheet and quantifying fiscal risks from climate change. IMF Country Report no. 2022/150. https://rb.gy/lj6qlo.

International Monetary Fund. (2022c) Armenia: technical assistance report: quantifying fiscal risks from climate change. IMF Country Report no. 2022/329. https://rb.gy/tpzpp2.

International Monetary Fund. (2022d) Getting on track to net zero: accelerating a global just transition in this decade. IMF Staff Climate Note no. 2002/010. https://rb.gy/7j6h8w.

International Monetary Fund. (2022e) Macro-fiscal implications of adaptation to climate change. IMF Staff Climate Note no. 2022/002. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/ staff-climate-notes/Issues/2022/03/16/Macro-Fiscal-Implications-of-Adaptation-to-Climate-Change-512769.

Lombardi, D., Rustomjee, C. (2022) The IMF's engagement on natural disasters and climate change issues affecting small developing states. IEO background paper BP/22-01/05. https://rb.gy/rto5mu.

Maldonado, F., Gallagher, K.P. (2022) Climate change and IMF debt sustainability analysis. Working paper. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

## References

Anne×

University Global Development Policy Center. https://www.bu.edu/gdp/files/2022/02/TF\_ WP\_005\_FIN.pdf.

Monsod, T.M.C., Majadillas, M.A., Gochoco-Bautista, M.S. (2022a) A closer look at fiscal space in climate-vulnerable developing countries. Working paper. Task Force on Boston University Global Development Policy Center. https://www.bu.edu/gdp/files/2022/07/TF-WP-007-FIN.pdf.

Monsod, T.M.C., Muyot J.M., Gochoco-Bautista, M.S. (2022b) Indices of sustainability of fiscal policy among the V20. Working paper. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center. https://www. bu.edu/gdp/files/2022/09/TF-WP-009-FFC-FIN.pdf.

Network for Greening the Financial System. (2021) Scenario portal. https://www.ngfs.net/ ngfs-scenarios-portal/explore.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2017) Investing in climate, investing in growth. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/economics/investing-in-climate-invest-ing-in-growth\_9789264273528-en.

Pinto, B. (2018) The distressing Debt Sustainability Framework of the IMF and World Bank. Brookings (blog). https://www.brookings.edu/blog/future-development/2018/07/03/thedistressing-debt-sustainability-framework-of-the-imf-and-world-bank/.

Ramos, L., Gallagher, K.P., Kring, W.N., Carlin, F.M. (2022) The IMF and climate change: tracking the IMF's engagement and leadership. GEGI working paper no. 056, Boston University Global Development Policy Center. https://rb.gy/farozp.

Rozenberg, J., Fay, M. (2019). Beyond the gap: how countries can afford the infrastructure they need while protecting the planet. The World Bank. https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/pub-licprivatepartnerships/publication/beyond-the-gap---how-countries-can-afford-the-infrastructure-they-need-while-protecting-the-planet.

Songwe, V., Stern, N., Bhattacharya. (2022) Finance for climate action: scaling up investment for climate and development. https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/wp-content/ uploads/2022/11/IHLEG-Finance-for-Climate-Action-1.pdf

Stedman, L., Abrams, A., Kell, M. (2020) IMF collaboration with the World Bank on macro-structural issues: experience with the pilot programs. IEO background paper BP/20-01/01. https://rb.gy/rto5mu.

Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. (2021) Toward development-centered climate change policy at the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center. https://www.bu.edu/gdp/files/2021/10/TF\_Strategy-Report\_FIN.pdf.

Titleman, D., Benítez, N.P., Hanni, M., Verdía Canales, C.P., Hazin, M.S. (2022) Fiscal impact estimates of a net-zero emissions transition for major hydrocarbon producers in Latin America and the Caribbean. Working paper. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center. https://www.bu.edu/gdp/files/2022/04/TF-WP-004-FIN.pdf.

World Economic Forum. (2018). World Risk Report 2018. https://www.weforum.org/reports/ the-global-risks-report-2018/

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force or Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

## **CHAPTER 5**

Asafu-Adjaye, J., Ndung'u, N., Shimeles, A. (2022a) Macroeconomic consequences of climate change in Africa and policy implications. Working paper. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

Asafu-Adjaye, J., Ndung'u, N., Shimeles, A. (2022b) Climate change risks and consequences on growth and debt sustainability in Africa. Working paper. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

Batini, N., Di Serio, M., Fragetta, M., Melina, G., A. Waldron. (2022) Building back better: how big are green spending multipliers? *Ecological Economics* 193.

Cashman, K., Aruaz, A., Merling, L. (2022) Special Drawing Rights: the right tool to respond to the pandemic and other challenges. *Challenge* 65: 176-198.

Chamon, M., Klok, E., Thakoor, V.V., Zettelmeyer, J. (2022) Debt-for-climate swaps: analysis, design, and implementation. IMF working paper no. 2022/162.

Dreher, A. (2006) IMF and economic growth: the effects of programs, loans, and compliance with conditionality. *World Development* 34: 769–788.

European Central Bank. (2022) The role of the IMF in addressing climate change risks. Occasional Paper Series no. 309.

Gourdel, R., Monasterolo, I. (2022) Climate physical risk, transition spillovers and fiscal stability: the case of Barbados. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

Gourdel, R., Monasterolo, I., Gallagher, K.P. (2022) Climate transition spillovers and sovereign risk: evidence from Indonesia. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

Guzmán, S., Dobrovich, G., Balm, A., Meattle, C. (2022) Climate finance needs of African countries. Climate Policy Initiative.

He, X., Fan, Z., Jun, M. (2022) The global impact of a carbon border adjustment mechanism: a quantitative assessment. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

Independent High-Level Expert Group on Climate Finance. (2022) Finance for climate action: scaling up investment for climate and development. Report.

International Monetary Fund. (2007) Structural conditionality in IMF-supported programs. Evaluation report.

International Monetary Fund. (2019) 2018 review of program design and conditionality. Policy Paper no. 19/012.

International Monetary Fund. (2020a) Greening the recovery. Special series on fiscal policies to respond to COVID-19. https://www.imf.org/~/media/Files/Publications/covid19-special-notes/en-special-series-on-covid-19-greening-the-recovery.ashx?la=en.

International Monetary Fund. (2020b) Barbados' 2018–19 sovereign debt restructuring—a sea change? Working paper no. 2020/034.

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

## References

International Monetary Fund. (2020c) *World Economic Outlook, October: A Long and Difficult Ascent.* 

International Monetary Fund. (2021b) Proposal for a general allocation of Special Drawing Rights. Policy paper no. 2021/049.

International Monetary Fund. (2021a) IMF strategy to help members address climate-related policy challenges: priorities, modes of delivery, and policy implications. Policy paper no. 2021/057.

International Monetary Fund. (2021b) Review of temporary modifications to the fund's access limits in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Policy paper no. 2021/077.

International Monetary Fund. (2021c) Catastrophe Containment and Relief Trust—fifth tranche of debt service relief in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Policy paper no. 2021/074.

International Monetary Fund. (2022a) Proposal to establish a Resilience and Sustainability Trust. Policy paper no. 2022/013.

International Monetary Fund. (2022b) Barbados: request for an arrangement under the Extended Fund Facility and request for an arrangement under the Resilience and Sustainability Facility. Country report no. 2022/377.

International Monetary Fund. (2022c) Costa Rica: third review under the extended arrangement under the Extended Fund Facility, request for an arrangement under the Resilience and Sustainability Facility. Country report no. 2022/345.

International Monetary Fund. (2022d) Grenada: disaster resilience strategy. Country report no. 2022/080.

International Monetary Fund. (2022e) Rwanda: request for a new 36-month policy coordination instrument and request for an arrangement under the Resilience and Sustainability Facility. Country report no. 2022/381.

Joos, V. (2018) Haiti's deadly riots fueled by anger over decades of austerity and foreign interference. The Conversation. https://theconversation.com/haitis-deadly-riots-fueled-by-anger-over-decades-of-austerity-and-foreign-interference-100209.

Kentikelenis, A., Stubbs, T. (2023) A *Thousand Cuts: Social Protection in the Age of Austerity*. Oxford University Press.

Kentikelenis, A., Stubbs, T., King, L. (2016) IMF conditionality and development policy space, 1985–2014. *Review of International Political Economy* 23: 543–582.

Kentikelenis, A., Stubbs, T., Reinsberg, B. (2022) The IMF and the road to a green and inclusive recovery after COVID-19. Special report. Cambridge Centre for Business Research.

Kling, G., Volz, U., Murinde, V. Ayas, S. (2021) The impact of climate vulnerability on firms' cost of capital and access to finance. *World Development* 137.

Kraemer, M., Volz., U. (2022) Integrating nature into debt sustainability analysis. Report. Finance for Biodiversity Initiative.

Lustgarten, A. (2022) The Barbados rebellion: an island nation's fight for climate change. *New York Times*, July 27.

Gallagher, K.P., Maldonado, F. (2020). The role of IMF in the fight against COVID-19: The IMF COVID Response Index. COVID Economics 42.

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland

3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges

- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Maldonado, F., Gallagher, K.P. (2022) Climate change and debt sustainability analysis. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

Maldonado, F., Gallagher, K.P. (2023) Climate vulnerability and balance of payments problems in developing countries. Under review.

Monahan, K. (2019) Ecuador's fuel protests show the risks of removing fossil fuel subsidies too fast. The Conversation. https://theconversation.com/ecuadors-fuel-protests-show-the-risks-of-removing-fossil-fuel-subsidies-too-fast-125690.

ND-GAIN. (2023). Country index. Notre Dame Global Adaptation Initiative. https://gain. nd.edu/our-work/country-index/

Ngoma, H., Lupiya, P., Kabisa, M. et al. (2021) Impacts of climate change on agriculture and household welfare in Zambia: an economy-wide analysis. *Climatic Change* 167: 1-20.

Plant, M. (2021) The challenge of reallocating SDRs: a primer. Center for Global Development.

Przeworski, A., Vreeland, J.R. (2000) The effect of IMF programs on economic growth. *Journal of Development Economics* 62: 385–421.

Ramos, L., Bhandary, R.R., Gallagher, K.P., Ray, R. (2022) V20 debt review: an account of debt in the vulnerable group of twenty. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

Ray, R., Gallagher, K.P., Kring, W. (2022) "Keep the receipts:" the political economy of IMF austerity during and after the crisis years of 2009 and 2020. *Journal of Globalization and Development* 13: 31-59.

Shalal, A. (2021) IMF, World Bank to unveil 'green debt swaps' option by November, Georgieva says. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/article/us-imf-world-bank-climate-swaps/imfworld-bank-to-un-veil-green-debt-swaps-option-by-november-georgieva-says-idUSKBN-2BV2NU.

Shellenberger, M. (2022) Haiti riots triggered by IMF advice to cut fuel subsidies. *Forbes*, September 22.

Songwe, V., Stern, N., Bhattacharya, A. (2022) Finance for climate action: scaling up investment for climate and development. Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment and London School of Economics and Political Science.

Stubbs, T., Kentikelenis, A., Ray, R., Gallagher, K.P. (2022) Poverty, inequality, and the International Monetary Fund: how austerity hurts the poor and widens inequality. *Journal of Globalization and Development* 13: 61-89.

Stubbs, T., Kentikelenis, A. (2022) Mixed messages: IMF loans and the green transition in Argentina and Pakistan. Recourse. https://re-course.org/publications/mixed-messages-imf-loans-and-the-green-transition-in-argentina-and-pakistan/.

Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. (2021a) Toward development-centered climate change policy at the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center. https://www.bu.edu/gdp/2021/09/23/toward-development-centered-climate-policy-at-the-international-monetary-fund/.

Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. (2022) Re-channeling Special Drawing Rights for a climate resilient and just transition: prospects for a Resilience and Sustainability Trust. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

- Executive Summary
- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

## References

Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. (2022) Designing a Resilience and Sustainability Trust: a development-centered approach. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

Titelman, D., Benitez, N.P., Hanni, M., Canales, C., Hazin, M.S. (2022) Fiscal impact estimates of a net-zero emissions transition for major hydrocarbon producers in Latin America and the Caribbean. Task Force on Climate, Development and the International Monetary Fund. Boston University Global Development Policy Center.

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. (2002) Tackling debt and climate challenges in tandem: a policy agenda. Policy brief 104.

Volz, U., Akhtar, S., Gallagher, K.P., Griffith-Jones, S., Kraemer, M. (2021) Debt relief for a green and inclusive recovery: securing private-sector participation and creating policy space for sustainable development. Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung, SOAS University of London and Boston University.

#### Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force or Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillanc
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

## References

## ANNEX

## **CHAPTER 2 ANNEX**

The Task Force contributes to the discussions about climate spillovers, specifically focusing on transition spillovers from a systemic country (e.g., China, EU) and spillovers of global climate actions (e.g., coordinated policies) on vulnerable countries (e.g., fossil fuel exporters, less diversified economies like Barbados). The papers, while using different types of modeling techniques, find that transition spillovers have significant adverse impacts on global burden sharing and vulnerable countries' balance of payments, growth and fiscal sustainability.

Gourdel, Monasterolo and Gallagher (2022) use a tailored EIRIN Stock-Flow Consistent behavioral model to analyze the impacts of China's decarbonization on the macroeconomic and fiscal stability of Indonesia. The paper finds that transition spillover risk has a significant negative impact on the economic growth, balance of payments (3 percentage points lower in terms of a share of GDP) and fiscal sustainability (the government deficit to GDP ratio would be 2 percentage points higher) of Indonesia, leading to heightened sovereign risks in the long run.



FIGURE A1 The EIRIN Model Framework: Capital and Current Account Flows of the EIRIN Economy

Source: Gourdel, Monasterolo and Gallagher (2022).

**Note:** For each sector and agent, a representation in terms of assets and liabilities is provided. The dotted lines represent the capital account flows, while the solid lines represent the current account flows.

## FIGURE A2 Growth Rate of the Real GDP in the NGFS Scenarios



Source: Gourdel, Monasterolo and Gallagher (2022).

**Note:** The x-axis displays years of simulation. The y-axis displays the year-on-year growth rate of real GDP. NGFS = Network for Greening the Financial System.

Gourdel and Monasterolo (2022) use a tailored EIRIN Stock-Flow Consistent behavioral model to study the aggregate global transition spillovers on Barbados, which is highly dependent on international tourism. They find that Barbados' GDP would be 38 percent less than that under business as usual (BAU) due to the transition spillover risk, and the public debt to GDP ratio would increase to 150 percent of GDP.

Titelman et al. (2022) examine the fiscal impacts of a net-zero transition on major fossil fuel producers in Latin America — Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador, Mexico and Trinidad and Tobago. The authors find that fossil fuel-producing countries will face mounting pressures to increase public revenues to make up for lost hydrocarbon related revenues, finance their net-zero emission transition and respond to growing social and investment needs. To maintain a sustainable debt path in a net-zero emission transition, and to achieve sustainable and inclusive development, it will be crucial to strengthen the capacity of hydrocarbon producers to mobilize domestic and low-cost external resources.

**FIGURE A3** Real GDP, as Percentage Deviation from Baseline Scenario of Current Policies Without Spillover



Source: Gourdel and Monasterolo 2022.

**Note:** The *x* axis for both panels displays selected years of the simulation, and the *y* axis displays the percentage deviation in real GDP level relative to the reference scenario, which is NGFS current policies with no spillover risk.

#### Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

1 Introduction

- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillan
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References





Source: Gourdel and Monasterolo 2022.

Note: Each scenario with spillover is compared to its no-spillover version.





Source: ECLAC 2022.

He et al. (2022a) CGE model to study the spillover effects of the EU's CBAM. The authors find that countries that rely on carbon-intensive exports to the EU will be disproportionately impacted by the CBAM. At its broadest implementation, the CBAM could result in an annual welfare gain in developed countries of \$141 billion, while developing countries could see an annual welfare loss of \$106 billion, compared to a baseline scenario. To ensure a just transition, the authors suggest that the IMF should play the key role in identifying and addressing the

#### FIGURE A6 Impact of CBAM on Total Exports to EU (% Change from Baseline)



## Source: He et al. (2022a).

**Note:** Figures in the chart indicate the % changes in total exports to the EU from exporting regions. Australia and New Zealand (anz), Japan (jpn), United States of America (usa), South Korea (kor), China (chn), India (ind), Brazil (bra), Russia (rus), Ukraine (ukr), Turkey (tur), Egypt (egy), Mozambique(moz).

#### FIGURE A7 Impact of CBAM on GDP (% Change from Baseline, 2030)



## Source: He et al. (2022a).

**Note:** Figures in the chart indicate the % changes in the real GDP for exporting regions. Australia and New Zealand (anz), Japan (jpn), United States of America (usa), South Korea (kor), China (chn), India (ind), Brazil (bra), Russia (rus), Ukraine (ukr), Turkey (tur), Egypt (egy), Mozambique (moz).

cross-border spillover effects of climate policies, especially those on balance of payments and growth trajectories of vulnerable countries, and should explore the possibility of launching an Equitable Decarbonization Fund from the proceeds of the CBAM to support decarbonization projects in low-income countries and the development of green technologies.

He et al. (2022b) use a dynamic global CGE model and find that when compared to NDCs, the differentiated price floors are nonbinding and thus irrelevant for developed countries but are equivalent to substantial increases in developing countries' NDCs.

#### Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

Executive Summary

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveilland
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

#### FIGURE A8 Economic Impact of ICPFs



Source: He et al. (2022b).

**Note:** Economies shown in the Figure are the US (usa), EU (eur), Canada (can), the UK (ukg), China (chn), India (ind), Japan (jpn), Korea(kor), Saudi Arabia (sau), Russia(rus), Brazil (bra), Mexico (mex), Turkey (tur), Egypt (egy), Indonesia (idn). NDC = nationally determined contribution; ICPF = international carbon price floor; BAU = business as usual.

In other words, the ICPF would place additional responsibilities of emission reductions, as well as additional economic costs, on developing economies. These results suggest that the ICPF will unlikely be accepted by many developing countries. The IMF should estimate the price equivalents of non-price policy instruments for decarbonization, recalibrate the desirable floors for broadly defined carbon, and consider options to redistribute the economic benefits between advanced economies and developing countries through climate mitigation funds and making low-carbon technologies more available for developing countries.

## **CHAPTER 4 ANNEX**

## Mitigation

- Policy Analysis
  - GHG emissions: descriptions of GHG emissions and the policies to reduce emissions.
- Policy Recommendations
  - Introduction/raise of carbon price/carbon tax: implementation and increase recommendations.

## **Transition Management**

- Policy Analysis
  - Transition management financing needs: financial needs to implement mitigation and adaptation measures. In the case of Dominica, the DSR estimates that the total cost of resilience is five times the country's GDP.
  - The authorities of Trinidad and Tobago estimate that the total costs to meet its Paris Climate Agreement reduction target by 2030 is about \$2 billion (9 percent of GDP).

#### Acknowledgements

#### Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillance
- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

- Policy Recommendations
  - Implementation of tourism sector reforms: considers recommendations that include climate resilience measures.
  - Implementation of energy sector reforms: considers recommendations that include mitigation measures (cleaner energy matrix), without distinguishing the main reason for this recommendation. For example, Antigua and Barbuda are recommended to invest in renewable energy due to high oil prices. Argentina is recommended to increase the efficiency and sustainability of its energy sector to reduce reliance on expensive energy imports.
  - Green bonds: finances climate change mitigation and adaptation needs. It is only
    included as a recommendation, i.e., does not include countries that already have implemented these tools (Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica).

## Adaptation/Resilience Building

- Policy Analysis
  - Natural disasters included in DSA natural disasters are included in baseline scenarios and/or stress tests.
  - Natural disasters included in the Risk Assessment Matrix: an increase in the frequency and/or severity of natural disasters are considered a factor in the Risk Assessment Matrix.
  - Climate-induced commodity export shock included in the Risk Assessment Matrix: impact of climate change in agricultural production and exports.
- Policy Recommendations
  - Measures of physical/structural resilience to climate change: build resilience to minimize public expenditures in recovery efforts from a natural disaster.
  - Adoption/implementation of the DRS: accesses bilateral and multilateral financing.
  - Creation/strengthening of resilience/contingency fund: finances climate-related initiatives and consequences.
  - Insurance coverage for natural disasters: finance damages after a natural disaster.
  - More fiscal space reducing debt: considered only when is required to finance expenditures related to climate change/natural disasters.
  - Natural disaster clauses in sovereign debt: inclusion of clauses to delay payments in case of natural disaster.
  - Inclusion of climate-related risks in fiscal rules: inclusion of natural disasters in escape clauses

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

About The Task Force on Climate, Development and The International Monetary Fund

Meet The Members of The Task Force

**Executive Summary** 

1 Introduction

2 Climate and Development in Multilateral Surveillanc

- 3 Climate Change Risks and IMF Article IV Consultations: Conceptual, Analytical and Operational Challenges
- 4 The IMF's Bilateral Surveillance: Fiscal Aspects
- 5 Assessing IMF Lending Programs For Climate and Development

References

Penang, Malaysia. Photo by Fahrul Azmi via Unsplash

4

No.

0 + H

in the second

1

2
Santiago, Chile. Photo by Christopher Quezada via Unsplash.



TCD TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE, DEVELOPMENT AND THE INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND